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Forward Looking Advisory

Certain statements contained in this Annual Report constitute forward-looking statements. All statements other than statements of historical fact are forward-looking 
statements. These statements involve known and unknown risks and uncertainties that may cause actual results or events to differ materially from those anticipated. 
No assurance can be given that these expectations will prove to be correct and such forward-looking statements included in this Annual Report should not be unduly 
relied upon. These statements speak only as of the date of this Annual Report. Information and statement in this Annual Report relating to “reserve” and “resources” 
are deemed to be forward-looking information and statements, as they are based on certain estimates and assumptions. Please see the “Forward Looking Information” 
advisory in the Management’s Discussion and Analysis (MD&A) at page 43 of this Annual Report and the “Forward Looking Statements” advisory in the Company’s 
Annual Information Form (AIF) dated March 27, 2012, which is available at www.sedar.com. The risks and uncertainties referred to above are described in more detail 
in the Company’s MD&A and AIF. The Company does not undertake any obligation to publicly update or revise any forward-looking statements except as required by 
applicable securities laws



3.6 
Million

(NET) ACRES OF OIL SANDS 
AND LIGHT OIL LAND

at December 31, 2011

9.8 
Billion

BARRELS OF  
CONTINGENT RESOURCES

(best estimate) at December 31, 2011

$5.0 
Billion

MARKET CAPITALIZATION
at December 31, 2011

Athabasca Oil Sands Corp. offers a rich portfolio of oil projects in Alberta’s share of the immense 
Western Canadian Sedimentary Basin. It has significant bitumen resources in the oil sands and 
considerable light oil and liquids-rich natural gas holdings. In five years, the Company has amassed 
a land base of approximately 3.6 million acres (net) and delineated 9.8 billion barrels (gross) 
of contingent resources (best estimate) that it holds at December 31, 2011. Translating these 
opportunities into shareholder value requires dedicated execution and the Company ended 2011 
having made solid progress in advancing its strategy.

Athabasca’s goal is to convert its resources into 220,000 barrels of oil equivalent per day of 
production by 2020, approximately half from the Oil Sands Division and half from the Light Oil 
Division. It expects to achieve this while building and maintaining safe, environmentally sustainable 
operations. It is proud of its talented employees, its corporate culture of entrepreneurship and 
technical excellence as well as its land base of exciting exploration and appraisal opportunities.

BALANCED FOR GROWTH
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2011 MILESTONES

Athabasca moved from opportunity to creating value in  
its Oil Sands Division. After only a two year review 
period, the MacKay River commercial oil sands project 
approval was received. Following this approval, the 
Company exercised its put option to sell its remaining 
40% of the project for $680 million (gross). The 
Company applied for 12,000 bbl/d steam assisted 
gravity drainage (SAGD) projects in both Hangingstone 
and Dover West Sands. In the Dover West Carbonates, 
the Company started a thermal assisted gravity drainage 
(TAGD) proof of concept test and filed for a 6,000 bbl/d  
Pilot/Demonstration Project.

In the Light Oil Division, Athabasca focused on solidifying 
its land position and a 20 well exploration program to 
identify development areas. By year-end, it had acquired 
almost 2.0 million acres (net) of highly prospective lands 
in northwestern Alberta. The Company had early success 
in the Montney and Nordegg formations by finding 
light oil and liquids-rich natural gas pools with 34 to  
41 degrees API oil.

The development of the Company’s assets is still in its 
early stage, both the oil sands and light oil acreage hold 
significant resources whose development will transform 
Athabasca into a major Canadian producer.

Athabasca 
successfully 
completed its 
2010-2011 winter 

drilling program of 89 delineation 
and 38 water wells . This supported 
an increase in net resource volumes 
of approximately 11% . The 
Company filed a regulatory 
application for a 12,000 bbl/d 
SAGD project at Hangingstone . 

Athabasca 
successfully drilled 
and completed its 
first wells in the 

Kaybob area targeting the Nordegg 
and Montney formations . The wells 
were drilled with horizontal drilling 
and multi-stage fracture technology .

Athabasca 
acquired a 100% 
working interest in 
24,640 acres at 

Halfway Creek to consolidate its 
adjacent position at Hangingstone 
and optimize development plans  
for its first wholly-owned  
SAGD project .

Regulatory 
approval for the 
MacKay River 
commercial oil 

sands project was received . Before 
year-end, the Company exercised 
its put option to sell its 40% share 
for $680 million (gross) . Athabasca 
applied for a 6,000 bbl/d TAGD 
Pilot/Demonstration Project . With 
additional purchases, the Company 
brings Light Oil land holdings to 
approximately 2 .0 million acres .

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4
During 2011, Athabasca made considerable progress advancing its Oil Sands projects and establishing its  
Light Oil Division:

$680 
Million

MACKAY RIVER  
PUT EXERCISED

11% 
Increase

IN  
CONTINGENT RESOURCES

(best estimate)

$1.4 
Billion

WORKING CAPITAL
at December 31, 2011
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2012 LOOK AHEAD

The Company 
expects to complete 
its 63 kilometre, 
12-inch pipeline from 

Kaybob to Simonette . Athabasca’s 
first Duvernay horizontal well is 
scheduled to be completed . The 
MacKay River put closes on  
March 15 . 

Athabasca 
anticipates 
announcing the 
results of its winter 

drilling season . The Company also 
looks forward to completing the 
front-end engineering and design 
(FEED) for the Hangingstone 
12,000 bbl/d SAGD Project 1 . 

Athabasca expects 
to commission its 
first pipeline, oil 
batteries and 

compressor stations in its Kaybob 
and Simonette project areas . 
Regulatory approval is expected for 
Hangingstone Project 1 . The 
Company anticipates submitting a 
commercial development plan for 
additional projects at Hangingstone .  
The Company is on target to 
complete a 64 kilometre permanent 
access road to Dover West . 

Athabasca 
anticipates 
receiving regulatory 
approval for the 

Dover project which allows either 
the Company or Cretaceous 
(PetroChina) to exercise the  
$1 .32 billion put or call option . It 
anticipates Light Oil exit production 
rate will be 8,000 to 10,000 boe/d . 
Athabasca hopes to file a regulatory 
application for a 12,000 bbl/d 
SAGD project at Birch .

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

100% OIL SANDS ASSET DEVELOPMENT SCHEDULE

2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020

Hangingstone

Project 1 
12,000 bbls/d

Project 2 
25,000 - 40,000 bbls/d

Dover West Sands

Project 1 
12,000 bbls/d

Project 2 
25,000 - 40,000 bbls/d

Dover West Leduc  
Carbonates

TAGD Field Test 
2 wells

Pilot/Demonstration 
6,000 bbls/d

Regulatory application 
phase

Development phase 
(Base Case)

Production phase
First steam/heating  
(earliest date)

Athabasca has a 2012 capital budget of $819 million for 100% owned assets ($403 million each for Oil Sands and 
Light Oil). It anticipates the following activities during the year:

Athabasca has a rich portfolio of short, medium and long-term projects that the Company intends to translate 
into high-quality production and increased shareholder value. 2012 plans include major project milestones for the 
Hangingstone, Dover West and Birch oil sands projects to lead to first bitumen production in 2014. Light Oil activity 
for 2012 will focus on building infrastructure and development drilling to reach 8,000-10,000 barrels of oil equivalent 
per day of production by the end of the year.

The Company has set a target of 220,000 barrels of oil equivalent per day of production by 2020, approximately half 
from the Oil Sands Division and half from the Light Oil Division.
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Diversified  
Portfolio of Projects 

Athabasca is proud of its rich portfolio 
of world-class oil projects. The Company 

expects to have material light oil production 
coming on-stream in 2012 as soon as needed 

infrastructure is built, while a number of 
multi-million dollar oil sands projects are 

progressing through regulatory approval and 
detailed engineering and design.

         4  ATHABASCA OIL SANDS CORP . AR 2011
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FROM THE PRESIDENT

Entering 2012, Athabasca looks back at 2011 where financial 
 uncertainty again became a worldwide concern. Entire countries  
 were close to defaulting on their debt payments but were saved 

by major rescue packages.  Equity markets reacted negatively in spite of 
record corporate profits and elevated commodity prices. Given a period 
with such uncertainty, oil prices remained remarkably high while the price 
of natural gas tumbled to near record lows. Athabasca remains bullish 
on oil prices, a belief which underpins our growth strategy in the two 
areas where we expect to see considerable future expansion of liquids 
production: oil sands and liquids-rich tight rocks suitable for multi-stage 
fracture completion.

Another major event in 2011 was an unprecedented phenomenon 
where West Texas Intermediate (WTI) traded at a deep discount to 
Brent crude oil, reaching a maximum difference of $27 per barrel in 
August . Normally, WTI trades at a small premium to Brent . This recent 
reversal is caused by lack of diversified markets for Canadian crude 
and it is crucial for Canada to open up export routes to the Pacific 
Rim if it wants to fulfill the ambitions of becoming a world energy 
superpower . The US refusal of the Keystone pipeline seems to have 
opened the eyes of many Canadians and a renewed hope for access to 
the west coast has been born .

Athabasca celebrated its fifth birthday in 2011 . It was a year of growth 
that saw a significant increase in our light oil land position and a jump 
in our recoverable resources which stood at approximately 10 billion 
barrels of contingent resources (best estimate) at the end of the year . 
We have established a growth strategy encompassing the synergies 
of long lived oil sands assets with high return light oil and liquids-rich 
gas development that adds shareholder value . We have accomplished 
this thanks to our enviable financial position and the dedication and 
hard work of a talented team of professionals in a manner which is 
sustainable and respectful of our stakeholders .

2011 gave answers to the two main factors needed to formulate 
our long-term strategy: the outcome of the MacKay River put/call 
option and the results from the initial drilling of our light oil acreage . 
The MacKay River put option was exercised providing clarity of the 
financing path forward and Athabsaca has shown that our light 

oil acreage is of very high quality . Our long term goal is to reach 
production of between 200,000 and 260,000 boe/d by 2020, half 
from the Oil Sands Division and half from the Light Oil Division .

In the Oil Sands Division, where all projects are advancing as 
scheduled, Athabasca achieved the ambitious development and 
exploration milestones that we set for ourselves . At Hangingstone, 
the 12,000 bbl/d SAGD Project 1 is well underway, and 2011 saw 
completion of the design basis memorandum and the launching of the 
front-end engineering and design (FEED) . The bulk of the long-lead 
items have been ordered and the engineering and construction teams 
are fully staffed and ready to go into the field as soon as the regulatory 
approval has been secured . This project will provide Athabasca’s first 
bitumen production and we have done everything we can to make 
sure it will be successful .

The Company also had signficant activity in the Dover West area 
during 2011 where we intend to develop two different reservoirs, a 
classical sand reservoir in the McMurray and Wabiskaw formations 
and a carbonate reservoir in the Leduc Formation . A regulatory 
application for a 12,000 bbl/d SAGD project in the Dover West Sands 
was filed last fall . In the Dover West Carbonates, thermal test facilities 
were successfully completed and started-up . The test was designed 
to be a proof of concept for conduction heating of the reservoir using 
electric cables as a heat source . A regulatory application was filed for 
a 6,000 bbl/d TAGD Pilot/Demonstration Project .
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Our employees are the key to our achievements, which is why we typically 
hire our employees from the best in the industry. We expect a lot, but 
they deliver, and are a central reason for our success.

In December, 2011, Dover Operating Corp . received full regulatory approval for the MacKay River commercial oil 
sands project . The application was submitted at the end of 2009 by Athabasca and achieved approval within  
24 months . Athabasca exercised its MacKay River put option to sell its remaining 40% interest in MacKay River 
for $680 million (gross) . The transaction closed on March 15, 2012 . A similar put/call option arrangement, valued 
at $1 .3 billion, exists for the Dover project where regulatory approval is expected towards the end of 2012 .

In the Light Oil Division, Athabasca spudded 20 wells in 2011 . Six Montney and five Nordegg wells were completed 
by year-end . The Company also drilled and cored three vertical Duvernay wells in 2011 and continued one of 
them to a horizontal well . Given the early success of the program, in December 2011, the Company approved 
development plans for Kaybob and Simonette areas which include constructing a 63 kilometre gas pipeline and 
two 10,000 bbl/d oil batteries . Athabasca now holds approximately 2 .0 million net acres of petroleum & natural 
gas (P&NG) rights in northwestern Alberta . Approximately 200,000 acres are prospective for the Duvernay 
Formation and the Company will continue to assess the formation on its holdings in 2012 . 

In 2012, Athabasca offers a rich portfolio with a diverse mix of light oil and oil sands . In the Oil Sands Division, 
the Company expects to receive regulatory approval for the Dover commercial oil sands project which we own 
together with PetroChina . This is a 250,000 bbl/d project at peak production . At Hangingstone, we expect to 
receive regulatory approval and internal sanction for the 12,000 bbl/d SAGD project . Construction will commence 
upon project sanction . A 64 kilometre all season road into Dover West should be completed in the third  
quarter of 2012 allowing sustained development in the area . Athabasca also anticipates filing a regulatory 
application for a 12,000 bbl/d SAGD project at Birch this year . In the Light Oil Division, controlling infrastructure is 
key to our success, and the commissioning of the gas pipeline and the oil and gas processing facilities is targeted 
for the third quarter of 2012 . 

2012 is a pivotal year for the Company as Athabasca has moved into the development phase of its projects . The 
infrastructure and development projects we have launched lay the foundation for sustainable production growth 
for many years to come . The Company targets a 2012 exit rate of 8,000 to 10,000 boe per day from its Light Oil 
Division and first oil from its Oil Sands Division in 2014 . 

It is with much pleasure that we continue to attract the very best talents from the industry . The combination of 
great assets, a strong financial position and an entrepreneurial corporate culture enable us to find the work force 
we need to execute our projects and create shareholder value . Alberta is well placed to be a secure supplier to the 
world’s energy demand and Athabasca, an Alberta company, is well positioned to grow and contribute its part .

Sveinung Svarte 
President & CEO 
March 27, 2012
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Athabasca has 9 .8 billion barrels of contingent resources (best estimate) and  
462 million barrels of oil equivalent of proved plus probable reserves effective 
December 31, 2011 based on reports prepared by GLJ Petroleum Consultants (“GLJ”) 
and DeGolyer and MacNaughton Canada Limited (“D&M”), our independent 
reserves and resources evaluators . After giving effect to the March 15, 2012 
close of the MacKay River put, the Company has 9 .2 billion barrels of contingent  
resources (best estimate) and 348 million barrels of oil equivalent of proved plus 
probable reserves .

The 9 .8 billion barrels of contingent resources (best estimate) represents an 11% increase 
over December 31, 2010, the result of a successful 2010-2011 winter drilling program 
which saw the addition of 731 million barrels of contingent resources (best estimate) 
in the Birch area .

Athabsaca’s reserves and resources underlie the Company’s 3 .6 million (net) acres of 
land holdings, approximately 2 .0 million in the Light Oil Division and 1 .6 million in the 
Oil Sands Division .

For complete information on the Company’s reserves and resources, refer to 
Athabasca’s Annual Information Form dated March 27, 2012 available on SEDAR at 
www .sedar .com .

RESERVES AND RESOURCES
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1,882 30%
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19%
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Crude Oil
Athabasca has large 

parcels of land in areas with 
substantial prospective 

resources. The Company’s 
rich portfolio provides the 

synergies of long lived  
oil sands projects with  

high margin light oil  
and liquids-rich gas.
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SUMMARY OF OPERATIONS

Athabasca solidified the foundations for successful future growth and expansion  
 during 2011. The Oil Sands and Light Oil Divisions achieved important development  
 milestones working with the support teams – Health, Safety, Security and 

Environment; Regulatory and Stakeholder Affairs; Geosciences and Development; Projects; 
Supply Chain and the corporate groups.

OIL SANDS
All of Athabasca’s wholly-owned oil sands projects are on track and within budget . In Hangingstone, the Company 
applied for a 12,000 bbl/d SAGD project in March, completed a summer water drilling program and further 
consolidated its land position in the area with the Halfway Creek acquisition in September . In the Dover West 
Sands, the Company applied for a 12,000 bbl/d SAGD project in December .

The Company continues to assess the development of the Dover West Carbonates . At the start of 2011, the 
Company initiated two field tests to assess recovery methods . The first test was a slant well steam injection test 
which demonstrated that steam remains a viable option to heat the bitumen . The second field test was to assess 
TAGD and consisted of surface facilities, two horizontal wells installed with electric heaters and four observation 
wells . Heater performance has exceeded expectations and production commenced in late October ahead of 
schedule . The complete results of the TAGD field test are expected later in 2012 . Athabasca filed a regulatory 
application for a two-phase 6,000 bbl/d TAGD Pilot/Demonstration Project in October .

LIGHT OIL 
Athabasca’s conventional leases present expected near-term returns on investment . The Company has acquired 
almost 2 .0 million net acres of prospective light oil and liquids-rich natural gas in northwestern Alberta . It has 
spudded a total of 20 wells targeting mostly the Montney and Nordegg formations during the year and was able to 
establish several thousand potential locations for licensing and drilling in the years to come . Significant production 
will commence when the Company’s 63-kilometre, 12 inch pipeline, from the Kaybob field to Keyera’s Simonette 
gas processing facility, is built and operational .

The Company’s Light Oil land holdings include approximately 200,000 acres of prospective Duvernay rights that 
are a minimum of 20 metres thick . To assess this play, the Company has drilled and cored three vertical wells, one 
of which was continued into a horizontal well which was completed in early 2012 .

The Company’s drilling and technical support teams anticipate streamlining the horizontal drilling and hydraulic 
fracturing procedures and expect to implement a “well manufacturing” mindset and process within the Company . 
This means reducing the number of days to drill a well, increasing the horizontal well length to produce more 
barrels of oil and adding additional reserves to the portfolio . 
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2012 GUIDANCE
The board of directors approved a capital budget of $819 million for 2012 to invest in 
Athabasca’s wholly-owned assets . Of that, approximately $403 million was for the 
Oil Sands Division . This is to purchase long-lead equipment, drill more delineation 
and water wells, shoot seismic and continue with front-end engineering and design . 

In 2012, the Company expects to receive regulatory approval for the Dover commercial 
oil sands development (250,000 bbl/d at peak production) and the Hangingstone 
SAGD project . Athabasca also anticipates filing a regulatory application for a  
12,000 bbl/d SAGD project at Birch . These could be significant near-term catalysts 
for Athabasca’s growth plan .

Athabasca budgeted approximately $403 million for its Light Oil Division to construct 
the Kaybob to Simonette pipeline, two oil batteries and compressor units as well 
as drill approximately 40 to 50 exploratory, delineation and development wells in 
Kaybob, greater Simonette and other areas . It anticipates exiting the year with 8,000 
to 10,000 boe/d production .

Athabasca has proven itself as an assertive Company, able to buy large parcels of 
land in areas with substantial prospective resources, which is eager to operate and 
control the gathering infrastructure in development areas and which is committed to 
using new technology to reduce water consumption and the Company’s footprint . 
These attributes and opportunities position Athabasca to continue as a successful 
and sustainable company . 

Beyond 2012, the Company anticipates it will have 50% of its production from the 
Oil Sands Division and 50% from the Light Oil Division . By 2020, it expects to be 
producing approximately 220,000 boe/d and have over 1,000 employees building a 
very promising future for its shareholders and stakeholders . 

SAFETY & SUSTAINABILITY

Health, Safety, Security & Environment

Athabasca is committed to high standards in health, safety and environmental 
protection and stewardship . In 2011, the Company formed a dedicated Health, Safety, 
Security & Environment (HSSE) team to support this principle and develop goals and 
tools to translate this principle into practice across the organization . 

The HSSE group worked with the executive team, senior leaders and employees to 
further develop and refine the Company’s policies, procedures, emergency response 
planning and training programs . The team developed and implemented an online 
safety orientation programme for all employees and contractors working at the 
Company’s sites . Athabasca also established a reporting process to track safety and 
environmental performance for senior leadership .

For Athabasca, safety is paramount as reflected in the Company’s slogan Safety, It’s 
My Choice. The Company’s commitment to safety is based on its corporate values 
and personal employee values . Athabasca believes every incident is preventable . As 
a result of this commitment to safety, Athabasca is pleased to report no lost-time 
accidents in over one million hours of activity in 2011 .

Everyone at Athabasca has safety in their hearts. The 
Company strives to build on that belief, to ensure every 
employee or contractor that works for Athabasca goes 
home safely every day.
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$21

$110
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Sustainability

Athabasca’s community engagement efforts are 
built on the principles of respect, understanding, 
trust and mutual benefit . The Company engages its 
stakeholders in an open and transparent dialogue with 
timely information regarding its activities . Athabasca’s 
intent is to understand its stakeholders’ concerns and  
reflect consideration of those concerns in its business 
activities through the incorporation of appropriate 
mitigation measures . Athabasca seeks to become 
a proactive member of the communities in which it 
operates and respects the cultural differences within 
these various communities . 

The Regulatory and Stakeholder Affairs group continued 
to build strong and positive relationships with 
Aboriginal communities in the Fort McMurray and the 
Deep Basin/ Peace River Arch areas . First Nations were 
involved early in the MacKay River commercial oil sands 
project regulatory approval process so that measures to 
address their concerns could be incorporated into the 
project design . This saved valuable time when, in 2011, 
the Company and Cretaceous (PetroChina) received 
their first regulatory approval for the 150,000 bbl/d 
MacKay River SAGD project within 24 months of filing 
the applications .

While planning developments, the reservoir and 
technical teams look at ways to reduce the Company’s 
environmental footprint by decreasing land disturbance, 
maximizing water recycling and minimizing emissions . 
This group also looks at ways to maximize production 
and systematically reclaim lands that are no longer 
required for ongoing operations after the crude oil or 
bitumen has been extracted .

Athabasca is committed to returning all developed land 
to equivalent land capability by the post-reclamation 
stage and incorporating the input of its Aboriginal 
neighbours into our reclamation plans .

ATHABASCA OIL SANDS CORP . AR 2011  11



Oil Sands
Six in-situ bitumen projects 
in the Athabasca region of 

Alberta contain  
9.8 billion barrels of 

contingent resources  
(best estimate) at  
December 31, 2011
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Athabasca’s Oil Sands Division includes over 1.6 million net acres of leases in the 
Athabasca area of northern Alberta. At December 31, 2011, the division included six 
project areas with over 9.8 billion barrels of contingent resources (best estimate). 

Development targets include the Wabiskaw and McMurray sand formations as well as the 
Leduc and Grosmont carbonate formations. The Company expects to produce its recoverable 
bitumen using in-situ recovery methods such as Steam Assisted Gravity Drainage (SAGD) 
or Thermally Assisted Gravity Drainage (TAGD).

ATHABASCA OIL SANDS CORP . AR 2011  13

MacKay River (40%)
•   Remaining interest sold for  

$680 million (gross), closed on  
March 15, 2012

Dover (40%)
•   Athabasca has a $1.3 billion put option  

to sell remaining interest on receipt  
of regulatory approval (expected in  
Q4 2012)

•   Production potential of  
250,000 bbl/d (gross)

•   Contingent resources of  
3.1 billion bbl (gross) (best estimate)

•   Phase 1 application for 
 50,000 bbl/d (gross) SAGD 

Dover West (100%)
•  Production potential of 410,000 bbl/d
•   Sands – Contingent resources  

of 2.0 billion bbl (best estimate)
 •  First production 2015 
 •  Project 1 is 12,000 bbl/d SAGD 
•   Carbonate – Contingent resources  

of 2.9 billion bbl (best estimate)
 •  TAGD Field Test ongoing
 •   TAGD Pilot is 6,000 bbl/d, 2014 

start-up

Birch (100%)
•   Production potential of 155,000 bbl/d
•   Contingent resources of 1.9 billion bbls  

(best estimate)

Hangingstone (100%)
•  Production potential of 80,000 bbl/d
•   Contingent resources of 911 million bbl  

(best estimate)
•  Probable 118 million bbl
•  First production 2014
•  Project 1 is 12,000 bbl/d SAGD

Grosmont (50%)
•   Long-term asset with considerable 

upside
•   788,000 (gross) acres mostly 

unexplored



Hangingstone Project (100%)
On March 31, 2011, Athabasca submitted an application to the Energy Resources 
Conservation Board (ERCB) and Alberta Environment and Water (AEW) for a  
12,000 bbl/d SAGD project on its leases at Hangingstone, 20 kilometres southwest 
of Fort McMurray . 

The first barrel of bitumen from this project is scheduled to be produced in 2014 . To 
meet this timeline, several essential milestones will need to be met: regulatory approval, 
long lead procurement, well pad drilling and construction and commissioning of the 
central processing facility . The team, comprised of about 30 employees, has responded 
to the first set of supplementary information requests (SIRs) . Upon receipt of regulatory 
approvals (expected in the latter half of 2012), the Company will start construction .

During the third quarter of 2011, Athabasca acquired 24,640 acres of neighbouring 
oil sands leases at Halfway Creek for $53 .6 million and now wholly-owns a total 
of approximately 136,000 acres . The central processing facility is being designed to 
process bitumen from the initial development area as well as the balance of the lease, 
in line with the Company’s staged development strategy .

In 2011, the team worked on the front-end engineering and design and commenced 
the procurement of major, long-lead equipment (boilers, evaporators and pumps) . 
During the 2011-2012 winter drilling program, the Company anticipates drilling  
65 core wells, 16 water source and disposal wells and expects to acquire approximately 
160 kilometres of 2D plus 50 square kilometres of 3D seismic .

Athabasca’s Hangingstone acreage has 911 million barrels of contingent resources 
(best estimate) plus 118 million barrels of probable reserves . A large portion of 
the asset remains unexplored . For Project 1, a total of 20 SAGD well pairs, plus an 
additional contingent five well pairs, are initially proposed to be drilled from five 
well pads . The McMurray Formation underlying the asset is a high quality channel  
sand with 20 to 25 metres of net pay . The Company’s design steam-oil ratio for 
Project 1 is 3 .5 .

By 2014, the team is anticipated to be comprised of over 100 employees, including 
field operators, maintenance and administration personnel as well as support staff . 
Athabasca expects subsequent development projects will range from 25,000 to 
40,000 bbl/d and believes the asset could support a commercial project of greater 
than 80,000 bbl/d at peak production .

Fort
McMurray

HANGINGSTONE

Established bitumen pay zones 
and location of Project 1 in Hangingstone

10km

63

Project 1 proposed facility
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Dover West Projects (100%)
The Dover West asset is located approximately 100 kilometres northwest of Fort 
McMurray and consists of a large, contiguous land base of 209,000 acres . It is a 
geologically unique area containing three primary bitumen formations, the McMurray 
and Wabiskaw oil sands above the Leduc carbonate reef . It contains the highest 
resource density of any of Athabasca’s assets .

In 2011, Athabasca applied for and received regulatory approval to build a 64 
kilometre road into this property . The first 50 kilometres are a joint venture between 
Athabasca and another operator in the area while the remainder is wholly-owned by 
the Company . The road is scheduled to be completed in the third quarter of 2012 .

SAGD IN SANDS
On December 2, 2011, Athabasca filed a regulatory application for a 12,000 bbl/d 
SAGD project with the ERCB and AEW . The first barrel of bitumen is targeted to be 
produced in 2015 . 

While progressing through the regulatory review process, the Dover West Sands team 
continues to work on the water exploration program and the front end engineering 
and design activities on the central processing facilities . 

In 2012 and 2013, the team expects to continue the detailed engineering, procure 
the long-lead equipment and receive regulatory approval . Then the site preparation 
will start, construction on the central processing facilities should commence and the 
Company will begin drilling SAGD well pairs . First steam is anticipated in 2015 .

The Company’s oil sands in the area include both the McMurray and Wabiskaw 
formations which contain approximately 2 .0 billion barrels of contingent resources 
(best estimate) that could support total area peak production rates of 160,000 
bbl/d . The initial development area has the two formations stacked and Athabasca 
anticipates strategically drilling its SAGD well pairs to ensure there is significant heat 
transfer between the two oil sands formations .

Athabasca intends to commercially produce this asset using a staged development 
strategy . It anticipates submitting a second regulatory application for another SAGD 
project, of 25,000 to 40,000 bbl/d, in late 2013 or early 2014 . First production 
of Project 2 could be in 2018 or earlier . The Company has started the necessary 
environmental impact assessment studies . Subsequent projects, also ranging from 
25,000 to 40,000 bbl/d, may be applied for and built .

C L E A R W A T E R  S H A L E  

McMURRAY

WABISKAW 

Demonstration of heat transfer from stacked 
McMurray and Wabiskaw formations

SAGD injector SAGD producer Lateral drainage
(LD) well

Steam temperature

SAGD injector

SAGD producer

SAGD injector SAGD producerLD well

Reservoir temperature

LD well
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LEDUC CARBONATES
The Leduc carbonate reef has a net pay of up to 100 metres containing approximately 
17 billion barrels of bitumen-in-place and 2 .9 billion barrels of contingent resources 
(best estimate) . It is composed of ancient corals filled with bitumen, including a large 
number of bitumen-filled karsts (caves) . The bitumen bearing portion of the reef was 
discovered through shooting and interpreting 2D and 3D seismic . 

During 2011, Athabasca conducted two field tests in the formation . For the Steam 
Injection Test, the Company drilled a deviated well and injected steam to evaluate the 
potential for bitumen recovery using steam in this highly fractured, vuggy reservoir . 
This successfully completed test proved steam remains a viable option to heat the 
bitumen . SAGD is the recovery method used by the independent reserve engineers in 
assigning contingent resources to the Dover West Carbonates .

The Company also tested an innovative recovery process called Thermal Assisted 
Gravity Drainage (TAGD), which uses conductive heating to warm the reservoir 
and mobilize the bitumen . For the TAGD Field Test, the Company installed electric 
heaters in two 250 metre long horizontal wells . Four observation wells were also 
drilled to monitor the reservoir response . After heating the formation for five months, 
the Company began bitumen production from the lower well . Results of this “proof of 
concept” trial are expected later in 2012 . To date, there have been several encouraging 
results from this test .

Athabasca believes TAGD may be better suited than SAGD for the recovery of 
bitumen from the Dover West Carbonates . The potential benefits of TAGD compared 
to SAGD include no high volume water source requirements, simplified processing 
facilities, lower initial capital costs and better energy efficiencies as similar recoveries 
may be achieved at lower temperatures (approximately 140° Celsius using TAGD 
compared to approximately 260° Celsius using SAGD) .

In October 2011, Athabasca filed a regulatory application with the ERCB and AEW for 
a 6,000 bbl/d TAGD Pilot and Demonstration Project to further evaluate the TAGD 
process . The pilot is expected to measure the recovery efficiency and energy balance 
from up to 42 tightly-spaced heater and producer wells . The Pilot and Demonstration 
Project is planned to evaluate up to six commercial demonstration TAGD well patterns . 
Regulatory approval could be received in early 2013 with pilot start-up in late 2014 .

The Company’s timing of its first commercial development project in this formation 
is contingent on the performance of the TAGD Pilot and Demonstration Project . The 
first commercial project could be in operation as early as 2018 . At peak production 
rates, the Leduc carbonate reef may support over 250,000 bbl/d . 
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Birch (100%)
The Birch asset, located 95 kilometres northwest of Fort McMurray, is  
the Company’s largest, unexplored area covering approximately 
470,000 acres . 

Last year, the Company drilled 22 coreholes to delineate the northern 
and western areas of its acreage and the initial results look promising . 
The target oil sands formation has a net pay ranging from 20 to  
28 metres . During the winter of 2011-2012, Athabasca proposes to 
drill an estimated 25 coreholes, several water wells and acquire both 
3D and 2D seismic to better evaluate its potential . This program is 
designed to support a regulatory application of 12,000 bbl/d to the 
ERCB and AEW to be submitted by the end of 2012 . 

Since only 10% of the land has been explored, the Company believes 
the remaining area may have significant commercial development 
potential . Athabasca could choose to preserve this asset for  
future development or use it in connection with other business 
development opportunities .

Grosmont (50%)
The Grosmont asset is part of Athabasca’s long-term portfolio 
opportunities . It is one of Alberta’s largest contiguous blocks of oil 
sands leases encompassing 788,000 acres . The Company has a net 
acreage lease holding of 394,000 acres at a 50% working interest . 
Athabasca’s third-party evaluators have assigned 739 million barrels 
of contingent resources (gross, best estimate) to this asset .

The Grosmont Formation has not yet been commercially developed 
by the industry, although several companies have dedicated personnel 
and resources to unlock its potential . Athabasca and its joint venture 
participant, ZAM Ventures Alberta Inc ., currently participate in the the 
Alberta Research Council’s carbonate research program and continue 
to monitor industry activity .

Dover (40%)
The application for the 250,000 bbl/d (gross) Dover commercial oil 
sands project was filed on December 21, 2010 and Athabasca expects 
to receive regulatory approval from the ERCB and AEW during the 
latter half of 2012 . Unless Cretaceous (PetroChina) exercises its call 
option before this regulatory approval, this regulatory approval will 
trigger another 30-day window whereby Athabasca may decide to 
exercise its put option or Cretaceous (PetroChina) could resolve to use 
its call option . If either party exercises its option, Athabasca will sell 
its remaining working interest to Cretaceous (PetroChina) for gross 
proceeds of $1 .3 billion . If neither company uses its option, the two 
participants are expected to begin building the project .

The Dover application asked for regulatory approval to develop this 
project in four phases, with the first phase having a production capacity 
of 50,000 bbl/d (gross) . Beyond advancing the regulatory process in 
2012, the team also anticipates completing the field development 
plan and initiating engineering and design work of the first phase . The 
team is currently reviewing the timing of the first phase to allow for 
the incorporation of the design, construction and other operational 
knowledge from the MacKay River development into this project . First 
production from phase 1 could be as early as 2016 .

MacKay River (40%)
On December 23, 2011, Athabasca and it’s partner Cretaceous 
(PetroChina) received their first regulatory approval for the 150,000 bbl/d  
SAGD MacKay River commercial oil sands project . Immediately 
following approval, the Company exercised its put option to sell its 
40% interest for gross proceeds of $680 million . The put option 
closed on March 15, 2012 . On closing, Athabasca repaid its loans and 
received net proceeds of approximately $200 million .
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Light Oil
Approximately 2.0 million 

acres of petroleum and 
natural gas rights targeting 

light oil and liquids-rich 
natural gas in the Montney, 

Nordegg and Duvernay 
formations of Alberta

         18  ATHABASCA OIL SANDS CORP . AR 2011



ATHABASCA OIL SANDS CORP . AR 2011  19

D
EV

O
N

IA
N

   
   

   
   

   
  T

R
IA

SS
IC

   
   

   
   

  J
U

RA
SS

IC
   

   
   

C
RE

TA
C

EO
U

S

WILRICH

BLUESKY
GETHINGCADOMIN

FERNIE

DOIG

NORDEGG
HALFWAY

IRETON

BEL
LO

Y DEB
OLT

LEDUC

REEF
BEAVERHILL LAKE

MONTNEY

DUVERNAY

CHARLIE LAKE

Athabasca’s conventional light oil strategy is to purchase the petroleum 
and natural gas (P&NG) rights to large parcels of land, drill exploratory 
wells to evaluate what the acreage holds, build infrastructure to 
support the discoveries and generate high value for the Company and 
its investors . 

Light oil helps balance the Company’s oil sands portfolio with short-
term, smaller-scale and less capital intensive projects . It offers 
Athabasca a natural hedge to any price volatility of condensate and 
natural gas and it enables the Company to control the size and pace of 
each development, based on global commodity prices .

Target formations in the Light Oil Division include the Montney, 
Duvernay, Nordegg and Charlie Lake . The Light Oil Division applies 

horizontal drilling and multi-stage fracture technology to these 
formations to produce light oil and liquids-rich natural gas . Beyond 
solidifying its land position in 2011, Athabasca also commenced a  
20 well exploratory drilling program initially focusing on the Kaybob 
and Simonette areas . Initial results are promising which led the 
Company to approve the initial development of the areas in December 
2011 and to continue exploration in other areas .

Athabasca’s target exit production rate at the end of 2012 is 8,000  
to 10,000 boe/d . It plans to continue acquiring key acreage and  
seismic to enhance its ongoing exploration, appraisal and development 
drilling program .

Athabasca’s Light Oil Division includes approximately 2.0 million net acres of leases 
in northwestern Alberta. Initial development areas include Kaybob, Simonette and 
Grande Prairie with formation targets including the Montney, Nordegg and Duvernay. 

Athabasca produces light oil and liquids-rich natural gas using horizontal drilling and  
multi-stage hydraulic fracturing technology. The Company targets an 8,000-10,000 boe/d 
2012 exit rate from the division.

Grande Prairie

SIMONETTE
KAYBOB
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KAYBOB 
Kaybob is the Company’s first Light Oil development area which had 
exciting exploration results in 2011 and early 2012 . During 2011, the 
Company spud six wells in the Kaybob area . Four of the wells were 
completed, two each in the Montney and Nordegg formations . Both 
formations yielded initial results of high API oil, greater than internal 
type curve estimates, which encouraged the Company to start 
development of its over 145,000 net acres in the area .

Planned development includes the construction of wholly-owned 
infrastructure to enable Athabasca to control its production 
growth profile over the coming years . The infrastructure includes a  
63 kilometer 12-inch pipeline that will deliver gas to the Keyera 
Simonette Gas Plant, a 10,000 bbl/d oil battery and a 24 mmcf/d 
compression station . By the third quarter of 2012, the infrastructure 
is expected to be operational and the Company will begin to see 
significant production and cash flow .

Approximately 140 sections (~90,000 acres) of the Company’s 
Kaybob land holdings are highly prospective for the Montney 
Formation, which suggests over 500 drilling locations at four wells per 
section . Athabasca will continue to delineate the successful Nordegg 
results in 2012 with further appraisal drilling . 

SIMONETTE
The Company holds over 113,000 net acres in the greater Simonette 
area which includes Simonette, Waskahigan, Placid and Saxon . 
Supported by over 400 square kilometres of 3D seismic, the 
Company spud 12 wells in the area during 2011 . Seven of the wells 
were completed by the end of the year, including four Montney and 
three Nordegg . The Montney results are very promising and with these 
results the Company proceeded to approve Simonette as its second 
Light Oil development area .

Approximately 140 sections (~90,000 acres) of the Company’s 
greater Simonette land holdings are highly prospective for the 
Montney Formation, which suggests over 500 drilling locations at 
four wells per section . The 63 kilometre pipeline from Kaybob will 
run through Athabasca’s Simonette asset and the Company plans on 
constructing a 10,000 bbl/d oil battery and 12 mmcf/d compression 
station in the area . The wholly owned infrastructure is anticipated to 
be fully operational in the third quarter of 2012 .

SIMONETTE

KAYBOB

Kaybob Oil/Gas
Processing Facility
• Capacity: 10,000 bbl/d,
 24 mmcf/d
• On Stream Q3 2012

Simonette Oil/Gas
Processing Facility
• Capacity: 10,000 bbl/d,
 12 mmcf/d
• On stream Q3 2012

Keyera Simonette Gas Plant

63km Kaybob-Simonette 12” Gas Pipeline
• Capacity up to 180 mmcf/d
• On stream Q2 2012

Kaybob Gas
Processing Facility
• Capacity: 10 mmcf/d
• On stream Q3 2012
• Surveying long term tie-in
 to main Kaybob facility



EXPLORATION

Duvernay

Over the Company’s Light Oil land holdings, approximately 200,000 acres are 
prospective for the Duvernay Formation with over 20 metres of net pay thickness . 
During 2011, the Company drilled and cored three vertical Duvernay wells to evaluate 
the reservoir quality and ultimate productivity of the formation on the Company’s 
land . One of these wells was continued to a horizontal completion and results are 
expected in early 2012 .

Charlie Lake

Athabasca has completed drilling its first Charlie Lake horizontal well in the Grande 
Prairie area and was able to spud a second well by the end of 2011 . The team 
anticipates drilling a third well in the first quarter of 2012 and all three wells will be 
completed by the end of March . If the wells meet the Company’s economic hurdles, 
they will be produced using existing third-party infrastructure . The team will then 
evaluate if Athabasca should construct wholly-owned facilities . The Company holds 
over 105 sections of prospective Charlie Lake land .

Other Area of Interest

Athabasca has also acquired land in a new area of interest also in northwest 
Alberta and now holds approximately 500,000 acres of P&NG rights . The team is 
currently putting together an exploration program, expected to start in 2012, of these 
prospective new light oil and liquids-rich natural gas plays .

SUMMARY
Athabasca anticipates its Light Oil assets will generate significant production and 
additional reserves for the Company’s asset portfolio . While its assets encompass 
large, contiguous blocks of land, it plans to focus its early light oil production to take 
advantage of the infrastructure it anticipates constructing in 2012 . The Company 
expects greater upside from its exploratory and appraisal drilling in all its areas of 
interest . That means an increase in reserves, production, cash flow and income to the 
Company and its shareholders .
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis
This	 management’s	 discussion	 and	 analysis	 of	 financial	 condition	 and	 results	 of	 operations	 (“MD&A”)	 of	 Athabasca	 Oil	 Sands	 Corp.		
(“Athabasca”	or	the	“Company”)	is	dated	March	14,	2012	and	should	be	read	in	conjunction	with	the	audited	consolidated	financial	statements	
of	the	Company	for	the	year	ended	December	31,	2011.	The	December	31,	2011	consolidated	financial	statements,	including	the	comparative	
figures,	were	prepared	 in	accordance	with	 International	Financial	Reporting	Standards	(“IFRS”).	Previously,	 the	Company	prepared	financial	
statements	in	accordance	with	Canadian	generally	accepted	accounting	principles	(“previous	GAAP”).	Refer	to	the	“Adoption	of	International	
Financial	 Reporting	 Standards”	 on	 page	 16	 of	 this	 MD&A	 for	 more	 details	 on	 the	 transition	 to	 IFRS.	 Unless	 otherwise	 noted,	 all	 financial	
measures	are	expressed	in	Canadian	dollars	and	tabular	dollar	amounts	are	in	thousands.	This	MD&A	contains	forward	looking	information	
based	 on	 the	 Company’s	 current	 expectations	 and	 projections.	 For	 information	 on	 the	 material	 factors	 and	 assumptions	 underlying	 such	
forward	looking	information,	refer	to	the	“Forward	Looking	Information”	advisory	on	page	22	of	this	MD&A.	For	a	listing	of	abbreviations,	refer	
to	“Abbreviations”	on	page	24	of	this	MD&A.	See	also	“Resource	Information”	at	page	24	of	this	MD&A	for	important	information	regarding	the	
Company’s	reserves	and	resources	information	included	in	this	MD&A.	Additional	information	relating	to	Athabasca	is	available	on	SEDAR	at		
www.sedar.com,	including	the	Company’s	most	recent	Annual	Information	Form	to	be	filed	by	March	31,	2012.

BUSINESS OVERVIEW 
The	Company	is	focused	on	the	development	of	oil	resource	plays	 in	Alberta,	Canada.	Athabasca	is	considered	to	be	a	development	stage	
company	as	the	Company	does	not	expect	to	start	receiving	significant	revenues	until	late	2012.	Athabasca	is	organized	into	two	divisions:

•	 Oil	Sands	–	Over	1.6	million	net	acres	of	leases	in	the	Athabasca	area	of	northern	Alberta.	At	December	31,	2011,	the	division	included	six	
project	areas	with	9.8	billion(1)	barrels	of	contingent	resources	(best	estimate).	The	Company’s	major	oil	sands	projects	are	Hangingstone	
(100%),	Dover	West	(100%),	MacKay	River	(40%),	Dover	(40%),	Birch	(100%)	and	Grosmont	(50%).	First	commercial	production	from	
the	Oil	Sands	Division	is	expected	in	2014.	Development	targets	include	the	Wabiskaw	and	McMurray	sand	formations	as	well	as	the	
Leduc	and	Grosmont	carbonate	formations.	The	Company	expects	to	produce	its	recoverable	bitumen	using	in-situ	recovery	methods	such	
as	Steam	Assisted	Gravity	Drainage	(“SAGD”),	Thermally	Assisted	Gravity	Drainage	(“TAGD”)	or	other	technologies	under	development.

•	 Light	Oil	–	Approximately	2.0	million	net	acres	of	leases	in	northwestern	Alberta.	Initial	development	areas	include	Kaybob,	Simonette	
and	 Grande	 Prairie	 with	 formation	 targets	 including	 the	 Montney,	 Nordegg,	 Duvernay	 and	 Charlie	 Lake.	 Athabasca	 produces	 light	
oil	 and	 liquids-rich	 natural	 gas	 using	 horizontal	 drilling	 and	 multi-stage	 hydraulic	 fracturing	 technology.	 The	 Company	 targets	 an		
8,000-10,000	boe/d	2012	exit	rate	from	the	division.

Athabasca’s	strategic	vision	is	to	produce	220,000	barrels	of	oil	equivalent	per	day	by	the	year	2020,	with	approximately	half	from	the	Oil	Sands	
Division	and	half	from	the	Light	Oil	Division.	The	Company’s	common	shares	are	listed	on	the	Toronto	Stock	Exchange	under	the	trading	symbol	“ATH.”

Highlights for the 12 months ended December 31, 2011
•	 Athabasca	remains	well	 funded	with	working	capital	of	$1.4	billion	at	December	31,	2011,	sufficient	 to	 fund	 its	2012	capital	budget	of		

$819	million	for	100%	owned	assets	including	$403	million	for	the	Oil	Sands	Division	and	$403	million	for	the	Light	Oil	Division.

Oil Sands Division
•	 In	 December,	 regulatory	 approval	 for	 the	 MacKay	 River	 commercial	 oil	 sands	 project	 was	 received.	 With	 this	 approval,		

Athabasca	exercised	its	MacKay	River	put	option	to	sell	its	remaining	40%	interest	in	MacKay	River	for	gross	proceeds	of	$680.0	million	
(approximately	$200.0	million	net	of	loan	repayments	and	closing	adjustments).	The	transaction	is	expected	to	close	by	the	end	of	the	
first	quarter	of	2012.

•	 In	 the	 Hangingstone	 area,	 the	 Company	 paid	 $53.6	 million	 in	 September	 for	 a	 100%	 interest	 in	 24,640	 acres	 of	 oil	 sands	 leases	 at	
Halfway	Creek.	This	acquisition	consolidated	Athabasca’s	position	in	the	area	and	will	allow	for	optimized	development	and	project	scale.		
On	March	31,	2011,	Athabasca	filed	a	regulatory	application	for	 its	 first	Hangingstone	 in-situ	oil	sands	project.	The	application	 is	 for	a	
12,000	bbl/d	project.	Based	on	current	forecasts,	the	first	steam	is	anticipated	in	2014.

•	 In	 June,	 the	 Company	 announced	 a	 10%	 increase	 in	 its	 independently	 evaluated	 net	 resources	 volume	 estimates	 compared	 to	 the	
independently	evaluated	estimates	at	the	end	of	2010.	The	increase	resulted	from	a	successful	winter	drilling	program	completed	in	the	
first	quarter.	The	largest	addition	of	resources	was	in	the	Birch	area,	where	the	updated	Contingent	Resources	(best	estimate)	increased	to	
1.9	billion	barrels	which	is	believed	to	be	sufficient	to	support	a	project	with	155,000	bbl/d	gross	peak	production.

(1)	 Includes	418	million	barrels	of	Grosmont	contingent	resources	(best	estimate)	which	the	Company’s	independent	qualified	reserve	evaluators	consider	uneconomic	using	a	10%	
discount	factor	and	573	million	barrels	(net)	of	MacKay	River	contingent	resources	(best	estimate)	which	are	to	be	sold	by	the	end	of	the	first	quarter	of	2012	with	the	closing	of	
the	MacKay	River	put	option.



ATHABASCA	OIL	SANDS	CORP.	AR	2011		 23

•	 In	the	first	quarter	of	2011,	Athabasca	constructed	a	TAGD	field	test	facility	in	the	Dover	West	Carbonates,	including	drilling	two	horizontal	
wells	and	four	vertical	observation	wells.	Electric	heaters	were	installed	in	the	horizontal	wells	and	the	vertical	wells	were	equipped	with	
instrumentation	to	monitor	the	results	of	the	test.	Heater	performance	has	exceeded	expectations	and	test	production	commenced	in	late	
October	ahead	of	schedule.	Athabasca	filed	a	regulatory	application	for	a	6,000	bbl/d	TAGD	pilot/demonstration	project	in	October.

Light Oil Division
•	 With	additional	land	purchases	in	the	year,	Athabasca	now	holds	approximately	2.0	million	net	acres	of	petroleum	and	natural	gas	rights	

in	northwestern	Alberta.	These	strategic	acquisitions	provide	the	Company	with	significant	 land	holdings	and	prospective	 light	oil	and	
liquids-rich	natural	gas	plays	including	the	Montney,	Nordegg,	Duvernay	and	Charlie	Lake	Formations.	

•	 In	2011,	Athabasca	spudded	20	exploration	and	appraisal	wells.	Six	of	these	wells	were	completed	in	the	Montney	Formation	and	five	in		
the	 Nordegg	 Formation.	 The	 other	 nine	 wells	 are	 being	 completed	 in	 early	 2012.	 Initial	 results	 have	 been	 positive,	 particularly	 in	 the	
Montney	Formation.	Test	results	in	the	Nordegg	Formation	from	the	Kaybob	area	were	promising	and	will	be	the	focus	of	near	term	drilling	
for	the	Nordegg.

•	 Given	the	early	success	of	the	program,	in	December	the	Company	approved	development	plans	for	Kaybob	and	Simonette	which	include	
drilling	38	to	50	wells;	constructing	a	63	kilometre	pipeline;	two	10,000	bbl/d	oil		batteries;	24	mmcf/d	and	10	mmcf/d	compression	and	
dehydration	facilities	in	Kaybob	and	a	12	mmcf/d	compression	and	dehydration	facilities	in	Simonette.

Selected Annual Financial information
The	following	tables	summarize	selected	consolidated	financial	information	of	the	Company:

	 	  December 31,  December 31, December 31, 
Year ended ($ Thousands, Except Per Share Amounts)	 	 2011	 2010 2009

INCOME	STATEMENT	ITEMS:	 	 	 	 (IFRS)	  (IFRS) (previous GAAP)
Petroleum	and	natural	gas	sales	 	 	 $ 4,070	 $ 743 $ -
Gain	on	revaluation	of	equity	investee	 	  $ -	 $ 1,155,450 $ -
Gain	on	sale	of	assets	 	  $ -	 $ 1,662,196 $ -
Gain	on	exercise	of	put	option	 	  $ 216,146 $ - $ -
Net	income	(loss)	 	  $ 142,315	 $ 2,474,733 $ (75,652)
Net	income	(loss)	per	share	–	basic	 	  $ 0.36	 $ 7.10 $ (0.38)
Net	income	(loss)	per	share	-	diluted	 	  $ 0.35 $ 7.05 $ (0.38)
Dividends	declared	and	paid	per	share	 	 	 $ -	 $ 4.25 $ -

STATEMENT	OF	CASH	FLOW	ITEMS:
Additions	to	exploration	and	evaluations	assets	 	  $ 587,491	 $ 177,180 $ 57,722
Additions	to	investments	and	assets	held	for	sale	(Dover	&	MacKay)	  $ 28,336	 $ 26,969 $ 53,390

	 	  December 31, December 31, December 31, 
As at ($ Thousands) 	 	 2011 2010 2009

BALANCE	SHEET	ITEMS:	 	 	  (IFRS)	  (IFRS) (previous GAAP)
Cash	and	cash	equivalents		 	  $ 424,542	 $ 469,504 $ 140,992
Short	term	investments	 	  $ 799,441	 $ 1,334,028 $ -
Total	assets	 	 	 $ 3,944,786	 $ 3,638,677 $ 893,583
Long-term	debt	 	 	 $ -	 $ 449,736 $ 172,054
Shareholders’	equity	 	 	 $ 3,153,894	 $ 2,998,827 $ 137,249

The	gain	on	sale	of	assets	and	the	gain	on	the	revaluation	of	the	equity	investee	in	2010	are	a	result	of	the	$1.9	billion	sale	of	a	wholly-owned	
subsidiary	that	held	a	60%	working	 interest	 in	the	MacKay	River	and	Dover	commercial	oil	sands	projects	(the	“PetroChina	Transaction”).		
In	December	2011,	Athabasca	exercised	its	MacKay	River	put	option	to	sell	the	40%	interest	in	the	project	for	gross	proceeds	of	$680.0	million	
and	recognized	a	$216.1	million	gain.	Petroleum	and	natural	gas	sales	increased	in	2011	with	the	initial	drilling	in	the	Light	Oil	Division.

For	 the	 year	 ended	 December	 31,	 2011	 the	 Company’s	 net	 income	 of	 $142.3	 million	 was	 primarily	 due	 to	 the	 gain	 on	 the	 valuation	 of		
the	 MacKay	 River	 put	 option	 and	 interest	 income	 which	 was	 offset	 by	 general	 and	 administrative	 expenses,	 interest	 and	 financing	 costs,	
stock-based	compensation,	equity	losses	on	investments	and	future	taxes.	Net	income	in	2010	was	due	mainly	to	the	gains	resulting	from	the	
PetroChina	Transaction.	Net	loss	in	2009	is	due	to	general	and	administrative,	interest,	and	stock	based	compensation	expenses	exceeding	
interest	and	other	income.
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Capital	 spending	 on	 exploration	 and	 evaluation	 assets	 for	 2011	 was	 mostly	 on	 land	 acquisition	 and	 drilling	 in	 the	 light	 oil	 resource	 play,	
the	 acquisition	 of	 additional	 acreage	 in	 Hangingstone,	 the	 Dover	 West	 Carbonates	 tests	 and	 the	 winter	 drilling	 and	 seismic	 programs	 at	
Hangingstone	and	Birch.	

See	“Capital	Expenditures	and	Outlook”	below.

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS 
The	following	table	summarizes	the	Company’s	results	of	operations	for	the	years	ended	December	31,	2011	and	2010:	

	 	 December 31, 	 December 31, 
Year ended ($ Thousands)	 	 2011	  2010

Revenue
	 Interest	income	 $ 22,457	 $ 13,988
	 Petroleum	and	natural	gas	sales	 	 4,070	 	 743
	 Royalties	 	 (595)	 	 (32)
Total	revenue	 	 25,932	 	 14,699
Expenses
	 Operating	expenses	 	 1,541	 	 240
	 General	and	administrative	 	 28,233	 	 14,847
	 Stock-based	compensation	 	 18,597	 	 13,078
	 Financing	and	interest	 	 29,004	 	 32,552
	 Depreciation	and	depletion	 	 3,154	 	 893
	 Research	and	development	 	 -	 	 175
Total	expenses	 	 80,529	 	 61,785
Gain	on	sale	of	assets	 	 -	 	 1,662,196
Gain	on	revaluation	of	equity	investee	 	 -	 	 1,155,450
Gain	on	exercise	of	put	option	 	 216,146	 	 -
Income	before	income	taxes	 	 161,549	 	 2,770,560
Current	income	tax	recovery	 	 -	  (14,390)
Deferred	income	tax	expense		  14,634	  307,217
Income	before	the	following	 	 146,915  2,477,733
Equity	loss	on	investments	  (4,600)	  (3,277)
Net	income	and	comprehensive	income	 $ 142,315	 $ 2,474,456

Petroleum and Natural Gas Sales, Royalties and Operating Expenses
Amounts	in	2011	relate	to	initial	restricted	production	from	the	Light	Oil	Division.	Most	of	Athabasca’s	current	production	is	restricted	due	to	
third	party	limitations	and	lack	of	necessary	infrastructure.	Significant	operating	results	from	the	Light	Oil	Division	are	not	expected	until	late	
2012	when	Company	owned	infrastructure	is	completed	and	wells	are	tied-in.	The	amounts	in	2010	relate	to	two	shallow	gas	wells	acquired	as	
part	of	a	land	acquisition.	

 Interest Income 
Interest	 income	 is	 primarily	 comprised	 of	 interest	 income	 earned	 on	 cash	 and	 cash	 equivalents	 and	 short-term	 investments.	 For	 the	 year	
ended	December	31,	2011,	interest	income	increased	$8.5	million	compared	to	2010	due	to	higher	interest	rates	earned	and	higher	average		
investment	and	cash	balances.	Short-term	investments	and	cash	balances	increased	as	a	result	of	proceeds	from	the	Company’s	initial	public	
offering	which	occurred	in	April	2010.	Average	interest	rates	earned	in	2011	were	1.5%	versus	0.9%	in	2010.	

General and Administrative 
General	 and	 administrative	 expense	 is	 comprised	 of	 non-project	 salaries	 and	 benefits,	 office	 rent,	 consulting	 fees	 and	 other	 office	 related	
costs.	 For	 the	 year	 ended	 December	 31,	 2011,	 general	 and	 administrative	 expenses	 increased	 by	 $13.4	 million	 or	 90%	 compared	 to	 2010.		
The	increase	results	primarily	from	the	addition	of	staff	and	office	space.	Employee	count	(including	full-time	consultants)	has	increased	from	
106	at	December	31,	2010	to	206	at	December	31,	2011.
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Stock-based Compensation 
For	the	year	ended	December	31,	2011,	stock-based	compensation	expense	increased	by	42%,	or	$5.5	million,	compared	to	the	same	period	
in	 2010.	 The	 increase	 results	 from	 4.9	 million	 stock	 options	 and	 1.7	 million	 Restricted	 Share	 Units	 (RSUs)	 granted	 in	 2011	 mostly	 to	 new		
employees.	 The	 increased	 expense	 from	 the	 issuance	 of	 additional	 securities	 was	 partially	 offset	 by	 an	 upwards	 revision	 to	 the	 estimated	
forfeiture	rate.	

Financing and Interest 
For	the	year	ended	December	31,	2011,	financing	and	interest	expense	decreased	by	$3.5	million,	or	11%,	compared	to	the	same	period	in	2010.	
The	decrease	results	mainly	from	lower	long	term	debt	 interest	expense	of	$5.3	million,	offset	by	additional	accretion	on	decommissioning	
obligations.	Interest	costs	decreased	due	to	a	lower	interest	rate	on	the	PetroChina	Loans	#1	and	#2	outstanding	in	2011	(average	interest	rate	
of	5.8%	during	the	12	months	ended	2011)	as	compared	to	the	interest	rate	on	the	senior	secured	notes	outstanding	for	a	portion	of	the	first	
quarter	of	2010	(13%	interest	rate).	

Depreciation and Depletion
The	$2.3	million	increase	in	depreciation	and	depletion	is	primarily	due	to	depletion	charged	on	production	from	Light	Oil	assets	that	became	
ready	for	use	in	2011.	In	addition,	additional	corporate		assets	acquired	in	2011	resulted	in	higher	depreciation	charges	in	2011.	Depreciation	and	
depletion	expense	in	2010	is	primarily	from	office	assets.	

Gain on Sale of Assets 
The	 2010	 amount	 represents	 the	 gain	 recognized	 on	 the	 sale	 of	 the	 shares	 of	 a	 wholly-owned	 subsidiary	 of	 the	 Company	 that	 owned	 an	
undivided	 60%	 working	 interest	 in	 the	 MacKay	 River	 and	 Dover	 oil	 sands	 projects	 pursuant	 to	 the	 PetroChina	 Transaction.	 The	 gain	 was	
calculated	by	subtracting	the	carrying	value	of	the	wholly-owned	subsidiary	and	transaction	costs	from	the	$1.9	billion	proceeds.	

Gain on Revaluation of the Equity Investee
The	 2010	 amount	 represents	 the	 gain	 recorded	 on	 the	 revaluation	 of	 Athabasca’s	 remaining	 undivided	 40%	 working	 interest	 in		
the	MacKay	River	and	Dover	oil	sands	projects.	The	terms	of	the	sale	resulted	in	a	loss	of	control	over	the	projects,	requiring	recognition	of	the	
Company’s	remaining	40%	interest	as	equity	investments	at	fair	value	at	the	time	control	was	lost.	The	gain	was	calculated	based	on	the	fair	
value	of	$1.27	billion	less	the	historical	cost	of	the	Company’s	40%	interest.	The	fair	value	was	determined	using	the	implied	value	from	the	
60%	interest	sold.

Gain on Valuation of the MacKay River Put Option
The	2011	amount	represents	Athabasca’s	recognition	of	the	fair	value	of	the	MacKay	River	put	option,	which	was	previously	not	recognized	
as	the	value	was	not	reasonably	determinable.	In	December	of	2011,	Athabasca	exercised	its	option	to	divest	its	remaining	40%	interest	in	
the	MacKay	River	oil	sands	project	to	Cretaceous	for	gross	proceeds	of	$680.0	million.	The	fair	value	of	the	MacKay	River	put	option	was	
determined	to	be	the	difference	between	the	gross	proceeds	from	the	option	and	the	carrying	value	of	the	MacKay	River	investment	(including	
closing	adjustments),	discounted	for	the	expected	duration	prior	to	the	transaction	close.	The	valuation	of	the	MacKay	River	put	option	resulted	
in	a	gain	of	$216.1	million	recognized	in	net	income.

Current Income Tax Recovery
The	2010	recovery	of	$14.4	million	relates	to	the	federal	and	provincial	carry	back	of	losses	to	2009	taxable	income.	In	the	current	year,	losses	
for	tax	purposes	are	not	being	carried	back	by	Athabasca	resulting	in	no	current	income	tax.	The	Company	did	not	have	current	tax	expense	in	
2010	or	2011	as	the	gains	relating	to	the	Dover	and	MacKay	River	oil	sands	projects	were	not	cash	taxable	in	2010	or	2011.

Deferred Income Tax Expense 
The	deferred	income	tax	expense	for	the	year	ended	December	31,	2011,	was	the	result	of	additional	temporary	differences	from	exploration	
and	evaluation	capital	additions	which	were	offset	by	non-capital	losses	incurred	during	the	year.	Athabasca’s	deferred	income	tax	expense	for	
the	year	ended	December	31,	2010,	results	primarily	from	the	PetroChina	Transaction.	The	primary	taxable	event	occurred	in	2009	while	the	
transaction	closed	in	2010	resulting	in	a	deferred	tax	expense	matching	the	timing	of	the	accounting	gain.	At	December	31,	2011,	the	Company	
had	approximately	$1.14	billion	of	tax	pools	available	for	deduction	against	future	taxable	income,	including	$327.2	million	in	non	capital	losses	
which	expire	mostly	after	2025	(December	31,	2010	tax	pools	were	approximately	$527.3	million).

Equity Loss on Investments 
Subsequent	 to	 the	 PetroChina	 Transaction,	 Athabasca	 accounts	 for	 its	 remaining	 40%	 interests	 in	 the	 MacKay	 River	 and	 Dover	 oil	 sands	
projects	using	equity	accounting.	The	equity	loss	on	investments	amount	represents	the	Company’s	share	of	the	oil	sands	projects’	general	and	
administrative	expenses.	The	loss	increased	by	$1.3	million	or	40%	in	2011	mainly	due	to	the	growth	in	the	number	of	employees	and	due	to		
the	projects	being	equity	investments	for	only	a	portion	of	the	comparative	period	in	2010.
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CAPITAL EXPENDITURES AND OUTLOOK
Athabasca	significantly	accelerated	and	expanded	its	plans	for	oil	sands	development	in	late	2010	with	the	decision	to	advance	wholly-owned	
developments	at	Hangingstone	and	Dover	West.	In	addition,	Athabasca	has	continued	exploration/appraisal	of	parts	of	its	Light	Oil	acreage	
which	was	acquired	to	pursue	light	oil	and	liquids-rich	natural	gas	opportunities	in	northwestern	Alberta.	

The	following	table	summarizes	the	consolidated	capital	expenditures	made	by	the	Company	for	the	years	ended	December	31,	2011	and	2010:

	  December 31, 	 December 31, 
Year ended ($ Thousands)	  2011	 	 2010

Hangingstone	 $ 110,530	 $ 13,628
Dover	West	  77,925	 	 73,081
Birch	 	 32,702	 	 8,796
Grosmont	 	 8,512	 	 4,476
Light	Oil	 	 351,617	 	 84,830
Other	 	 6,205	 	 3,326
Total	expenditures	on	exploration	and	evaluation	assets	 	 587,491	 	 188,137
Corporate	assets	 	 6,122	 	 758
Expenditures	included	in	investments	(1)	  12,414	 	 26,298
Expenditures	included	in	assets	held	for	sale	(2)	 	 15,922	 	 671
Total	capital	expenditures	 $ 621,949	 $ 215,864

(1)	 Relates	to	the	Company’s	40%	working	interest	in	the	Dover	oil	sands	project.	After	the	closing	of	the	PetroChina	Transaction,	Athabasca	accounts	for	its	investments	in	the	
MacKay	River	and	Dover	areas	using	the	equity	method	of	accounting.	

(2)	 Relates	to	the	Company’s	40%	interest	in	the	MacKay	River	oil	sands	project	as,	with	the	exercise	of	the	put	option	in	December	2011,	this	investment	became	an	asset	held	for	
sale.	In	2010,	this	amount	also	includes	expenditures	on	the	60%	interest	in	Dover	and	MacKay	River	spent	before	the	close	of	the	PetroChina	Transaction	in	February	of	that	year.

 Hangingstone
The	following	table	summarizes	the	capital	expenditures	in	the	Hangingstone	area	by	activity:

	 	 December 31,	 	 December 31, 
Year ended ($ Thousands)	  2011	 	 2010

Hangingstone	capital	expenditures	 	 	 	
	 Mineral	properties	–	acquisitions	and	rentals	 $ 54,052	 $ 11,084
	 Exploration	and	evaluation	drilling	 	 19,510	  1,288
	 Geological	and	geophysical	  16,691	  1,081
	 Engineering	and	development	 	 20,277	  175
	 	 	 $ 110,530	 $ 13,628

The	Company	paid	$53.6	million	in	the	third	quarter	for	a	100%	interest	in	24,640	acres	of	oil	sands	leases	located	between	the	Company’s	
legacy	 leases	 and	 those	 acquired	 in	 2010	 through	 the	 acquisition	 of	 Excelsior	 Energy	 Limited	 (“Excelsior	 Energy”).	 These	 additional	 lands	
consolidate	Athabasca’s	position	in	the	area	and	will	enable	optimized	development	and	project	scale.

Other	spending	in	Hangingstone	in	2011	was	on	the	winter	drilling	program,	seismic	acquisition,	a	summer	water	drilling	program	and	front	
end	engineering	and	design	(“FEED”)	of	the	first	development.	The	Company	drilled	26	delineation	wells	and	seven	water	wells	and	acquired	
316	kilometres	of	2D	seismic	and	46	square	kilometres	of	3D	seismic.	The	summer	water	program	included	two	source	wells	which	provided	
positive	early	indications	of	sufficient	water	for	the	initial	development	of	the	Hangingstone	project.

Athabasca	 submitted	 its	 regulatory	 application	 for	 a	 12,000	 bbl/d	 SAGD	 project	 at	 the	 end	 of	 the	 first	 quarter	 2011.	 The	 first	 round	 of	
supplemental	information	requests	(“SIRs”)	were	responded	to	in	September.	FEED	has	initiated	on	the	project	and	is	progressing	towards	a	
first	quarter	2012	completion.	The	procurement	of	long-lead	equipment	has	commenced	with	proposal	requests	being	sent	to	fabricators	for	
all	major	equipment.	The	selection	of	equipment	manufacturers	started	in	the	fourth	quarter	and	will	continue	into	the	first	quarter	of	2012.	
Regulatory	approval,	internal	sanction	and	the	commencement	of	construction	are	anticipated	in	2012.	First	production	is	targeted	for	2014.

Additional	 delineation	 work	 and	 both	 2D	 and	 3D	 seismic	 programs	 to	 support	 a	 second	 regulatory	 application	 for	 a	 project	 of	 between		
25,000-40,000	bbls/d	is	planned	for	the	winter	of	2012.	
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Dover West
The	following	table	summarizes	the	capital	expenditures	in	the	Dover	West	area	by	activity:

	 	 December 31,	 	 December 31, 
Year ended ($ Thousands)	 	 2011	  2010

Dover	West	capital	expenditures	 	 	 	
	 Mineral	properties	–	acquisitions	and	rentals	 $ 747 $ 33,029
	 Exploration	and	evaluation	drilling	  54,219	  21,726
	 Geological	and	geophysical	 	 5,695	  6,773
	 Engineering	and	development	  17,264	  11,553
	 	 	 $ 77,925	 $ 73,081

Expenditures	for	the	year	ended	December	31,	2011	relate	to	the	winter	drilling	program,	the	testing	of	in-situ	recovery	methods	in	the	Leduc	
Formation	in	the	Dover	West	Carbonates	and	the	acquisition	of	13	square	kilometres	of	3D	seismic.

During	2011,	the	Company	drilled	21	delineation	wells	and	three	water	wells	to	support	a	regulatory	application	for	a	12,000	bbl/d	SAGD	project	
within	the	sandstones	of	the	McMurray	and	Wabiskaw	Formations	(Dover	West	Sands).	The	application	was	filed	in	December	2011	with	first	
steam	targeted	for	2015.	In	the	Dover	West	Sands	asset,	the	Company	plans	to	drill	water	wells,	respond	to	regulatory	SIRs	and	commence	both	
FEED	and	long	lead	procurement	in	2012.	

Athabasca	also	initiated	work	on	a	64	kilometre	permanent	access	road	to	the	Dover	West	area	in	2011.	The	Company	filed	the	application	for	
the	road	in	the	third	quarter	and	began	construction	late	in	the	year.	Construction	is	expected	to	be	completed	in	the	second	quarter	of	2012.

During	 the	 year,	 six	 water	 and	 11	 delineation	 wells	 (including	 the	 test	 wells)	 were	 drilled	 in	 the	 Dover	 West	 Carbonates.	 The	 existing		
Contingent	 Resources	 assigned	 to	 the	 Dover	 West	 Carbonates	 are	 based	 on	 SAGD	 development.	 To	 assess	 steam	 based	 extraction,	 the	
Company	successfully	drilled	a	slant	well	and	conducted	a	steam	injection	test	last	winter.	Athabasca	is	encouraged	by	the	results	of	the	test	
and	steam	remains	a	viable	option	to	recover	the	bitumen.	The	Company	is	evaluating	options	to	expand	this	injection	test	once	the	permanent	
road	is	completed	which	would	accommodate	on-going	steam	injection	and	bitumen	production	cycles.	

The	 Company	 is	 also	 testing	 a	 technology	 called	 Thermally	 Assisted	 Gravity	 Drainage	 (“TAGD”),	 which	 may	 be	 better	 suited	 for	 the	
recovery	of	bitumen	from	the	Dover	West	Carbonates	than	SAGD.	The	potential	benefits	of	TAGD	compared	to	SAGD	includes	 low	water	
requirements,	simplified	processing	facilities,	lower	initial	capital	costs	and	better	energy	efficiencies	as	similar	recoveries	may	be	achieved	at		
lower	temperatures.	

Athabasca	 constructed	 a	 TAGD	 field	 test	 facility	 during	 the	 winter	 consisting	 of	 surface	 facilities,	 two	 250-metre	 horizontal	 wells	 and	
four	 vertical	 observation	 wells.	 Electric	 heaters	 were	 installed	 in	 the	 horizontal	 wells	 and	 heating	 operations	 commenced	 in	 April	 2011.		
Heater	performance	has	exceeded	expectations	and	production	commenced	in	late	October.	The	complete	results	of	the	TAGD	field	test	are	
expected	 in	 the	first	half	of	2012.	Athabasca	filed	a	 regulatory	application	 for	a	 two-phase	6,000	bbl/d	TAGD	pilot/demonstration	project		
in	October	2011.	The	Company	anticipates	regulatory	approval	for	the	project	in	early	2013	with	construction	starting	thereafter.	Production	
from	the	first	phase	of	the	pilot/demonstration	project	could	start	by	the	end	of	2014.

Birch 
At	Birch,	expenditures	 for	2011	were	 related	 to	a	22	well	winter	delineation	program	and	 the	acquisition	of	266	kilometres	of	2D	seismic.	
With	the	large	increase	in	Contingent	Resources	(best	estimate)	from	the	successful	winter	program,	the	Company’s	regulatory	team	began	
preparing	a	regulatory	application	for	initial	development	of	the	Birch	asset.	The	Company	started	a	2011/2012	winter	drilling	and	3D	seismic	
program	that	will	support	submitting	a	12,000	bbl/d	application	in	late	2012.

Grosmont
The	$8.5	million	spent	in	the	12	months	ended	December	31,	2011	at	Grosmont	primarily	covered	Athabasca’s	50%	share	of	costs	related	to		
12	delineation	wells	drilled	during	the	2010/2011	winter	program.	The	Company	continues	to	monitor	the	activities	of	other	companies	in	the	
area	and	does	not	anticipate	significant	activity	in	the	next	year.	
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Light Oil
The	following	table	summarizes	the	Light	Oil	Division	capital	expenditures	by	activity:

	 	 December 31,  December 31, 
Year ended ($ Thousands)	 	 2011	  2010

Light	Oil	capital	expenditures	 	 	 	
	 Mineral	properties	–	acquisitions	and	rentals	 $ 199,986	 $ 77,964
	 Exploration	and	evaluation	  132,777	  6,646
	 Geological	and	geophysical	 	 18,854	  220
	 	 	 $ 351,617	 $ 84,830

Expenditures	for	the	12	months	ended	December	31,	2011	in	the	Company’s	Light	Oil	Division	include	additional	land	acquisitions,	the	drilling	of	
20	wells,	the	completion	of	11	of	those	wells	and	the	acquisition	of	2D	and	3D	seismic.

In	the	Kaybob	area,	the	Company	spud	six	wells	(four	Montney	and	two	Nordegg)	and	drilled	and	completed	four	of	them.	Initial	test	results	
from	both	 formations	are	promising.	The	Company	also	acquired	160	square	kilometres	of	3D	seismic	and	with	additional	 land	purchases,	
Athabasca	has	over	145,000	net	acres	in	the	area.

12	 wells	 were	 spud	 by	 Athabasca	 in	 the	 greater	 Simonette	 area	 (including	 seven	 Montney	 and	 four	 Nordegg)	 with	 seven	 being	 drilled	
and	 completed.	 Initial	 results	 are	 again	 encouraging.	 The	 Company	 increased	 its	 land	 position	 to	 approximately	 114,000	 net	 acres	 in	
the	area	and	acquired	412	square	kilometres	of	3D	seismic.	The	Company’s	greater	Simonette	area	 includes	Simonette,	Placid,	Saxon	and		
Waskahigan	properties.	

The	 following	 table	 summarizes	 the	 Light	 Oil	 Division	 wells	 spud	 and	 completed	 by	 area	 and	 formation	 in	 2011	 (there	 was	 no	 drilling		
activity	in	2010):

Wells	 	 Kaybob	 Simonette	 Other

SPUD	 	 	 	 	
	 Montney	 	 	 	 4  7  -
	 Nordegg	 	 	 	 2  4  -
	 Duvernay	 	 	 	 -  1  -
	 Charlie	Lake	 	 	 	 -  -  2
	 	 	 	 	 6  12  2

COMPLETED	 	 	 	 	
	 Montney	 	 	 	 2  4  -
	 Nordegg	 	 	 	 2  3  -
	 	 	 	 	 4  7  -

Based	on	 the	encouraging	 results	of	 the	 initial	drilling	program,	 in	December	Athabasca	approved	 further	development	 in	 the	Kaybob	and	
Simonette	areas	and	has	initiated	exploration	drilling	 in	 its	northern	Light	Oil	assets.	Development	 in	2012	includes	the	construction	of	the	
following	 wholly-owned	 infrastructure:	 a	 63	 kilometre	 12”	 pipeline	 through	 Kaybob	 and	 Simonette	 to	 the	 Keyera	 Simonette	 gas	 plant;	 and		
two	10,000	bbl/d	oil	batteries;	24	mmcf/d	and	10	mmcf/d	compression	and	dehydration	facility	in	Kaybob	and	a	12	mmcf/d	compression	and	
dehydration	facilities	in	Simonette.

To	assess	the	Duvernay	Formation,	the	Company	drilled	and	cored	three	vertical	wells	 in	2011	and	continued	one	as	a	horizontal	drill	to	be	
completed	 and	 tested	 in	 2012.	 Athabasca’s	 petroleum	 and	 natural	 gas	 land	 holdings	 include	 approximately	 200,000	 acres	 of	 prospective	
Duvernay	rights	that	are	a	minimum	of	20	meters	thick.	Athabasca	will	continue	to	assess	the	formation	in	2012.

Athabasca’s	current	production	 is	 restricted	due	to	 third-party	 limitations	and	 lack	of	necessary	 infrastructure.	With	 the	completion	of	 the	
100%	owned	facilities,	the	Company	expects	to	see	significant	operating	results	starting	in	the	third	quarter	of	2012.	The	2012	estimated	exit	
production	rate	for	the	Light	Oil	Division	is	8,000	–	10,000	boe/d.
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Corporate 
Corporate	asset	expenditures	during	the	12	months	ended	December	31,	2011	related	almost	entirely	to	information	technology	assets	as	well	
as	leasehold	improvements	on	additional	office	space	leased	in	the	corporate	head	office.	The	additional	computers	and	space	were	needed	to	
accommodate	Athabasca’s	growing	workforce.

On	 December	31,	 2011,	 Athabasca	 had	 206	 staff	 and	 expects	 to	 surpass	 300	 by	 the	 end	 of	 2012.	 With	 the	 development	 spending	 on	 its		
Light	Oil	Division	and	advancement	of	Hangingstone	and	Dover	West	oil	sands	projects,	Athabasca’s	2012	budgeted	capital	spending	is	outlined	
in	the	following	table:

($ Millions)    2012	Budget

100%	OWNED	ASSETS	 	
	 Oil	Sands	Division	 	
	 	 Hangingstone	 	  $ 227
	 	 Dover	West	 	 	  131
	 	 Birch	 	 	  45
	 	 	 	 	  403
	 Light	Oil	 	
	 	 Geoscience	and	geology	 	 	  14
	 	 Facilities	and	infrastructure	 	 	  79
	 	 Development	and	exploration	drilling	 	 	  310
	 	 	 	 	  403
	 Corporate	assets	and	other	 	 	  13
	 Total	100%	owned	assets	 	 	  819
JOINT	VENTURE	ASSETS	(NET)	(1)	 	
	 Dover	 	 	  15
	 Grosmont	 	 	  1
TOTAL	CAPITAL	EXPENDITURES	 	 	 $ 835

(1)		 Excludes	MacKay	River	due	to	the	exercise	of	the	put	option.

Dover and MacKay River
The	development	of	the	Dover	and	MacKay	River	oil	sands	projects	is	being	carried	out	by	Dover	OPCO,	a	company	established	upon	closing	
of	 the	PetroChina	Transaction	and	 jointly	owned	by	Athabasca	(40%)	and	Cretaceous	Oil	Sands	Holdings	Limited	(“Cretaceous”)	 (60%),		
a	wholly-owned	subsidiary	of	PetroChina.

Subsequent	to	the	PetroChina	Transaction	 in	February	2010,	Athabasca	accounts	for	 its	remaining	40%	interests	 in	the	MacKay	River	and	
Dover	oil	sands	projects	using	equity	accounting.	

In	December	2011,	Dover	OPCO	received	 full	 regulatory	approval	 for	 the	MacKay	River	commercial	oil	 sands	project.	The	application	was	
originally	submitted	at	the	end	of	2009	and	approval	 in	24	months	was	a	major	achievement.	With	this	approval,	Athabasca	exercised	 its	
MacKay	River	put	option	to	sell	its	40%	interest	in	MacKay	River	for	gross	proceeds	of	$680.0	million	(approximately	$200.0	million	net	of	
loan	repayments	and	closing	adjustments).	The	transaction	is	expected	to	close	by	the	end	of	the	first	quarter	of	2012.	With	the	exercise	of	the	
put	option,	MacKay	River	is	considered	an	asset	held	for	sale	at	December	31,	2011.

Capital Expenditures Included in Investment 
The	$12.4	million	spent	by	Athabasca	on	the	Dover	oil	sands	project	in	2011	was	mostly	for	the	2010/2011	winter	drilling	program	as	well	as	
regulatory	work	responding	to	SIRs	on	the	250,000	bbl/d	(gross)	project.	The	winter	drilling	program	included	eight	water	wells	and	a	number	
of	observation	and	delineation	wells	to	support	the	regulatory	application.	The	Dover	put	option	for	up	to	$1.32	billion	is	not	exercisable	until	
regulatory	approval	of	the	Dover	oil	sands	project	is	received,	which	is	anticipated	by	the	end	of	2012.

Capital Expenditures Included in Assets Held for Sale
The	$15.9	million	spent	by	Athabasca	on	MacKay	River	 in	2011	 related	to	advancing	the	2010/2011	winter	drilling	program	to	support	 the	
regulatory	process,	the	construction	of	an	access	road	to	the	proposed	plant	site,	the	completion	of	the	field	development	plan	and	the	initial	
project	execution	including	detailed	engineering.	

Expenditures	on	assets	held	for	sale	in	2010	related	to	capital	spending	on	the	60%	interests	of	Dover	and	MacKay	River	sold	to	Cretaceous	
that	were	incurred	prior	to	the	closing	of	the	PetroChina	Transaction	on	February	10,	2010.
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IPO USE OF PROCEEDS UPDATE 
2011 Capital Spending
In	Athabasca’s	March	30,	2010	Prospectus	(the	“Prospectus”),	the	Company	outlined	anticipated	sources	and	uses	of	funds	for	2010	through	
2014.	The	following	table	summarizes	how	actual	2011	cash	spending	compared	to	that	anticipated	in	the	Prospectus:

	  	 Prospectus Actual cash  
   Estimate spending 
($ Millions)  for 2011  in 2011 Variance

PROJECT	 	 	 	 	 	
	 Hangingstone	 	  $ - $ 110.5 $ 110.5
	 Dover	West	 	   60.6  77.9  17.3
	 MacKay	River	 	 	  50.6  15.9  (34.7)
	 Dover	 	 	  14.3  12.4  (1.9)
	 Birch	 	 	  -  32.7  32.7
	 Grosmont	 	 	  10.2  8.5  (1.7)
	 Light	Oil	 	 	  -  351.6  351.6
	 Other	 	 	  2.0  6.2  4.2
TOTAL	CAPITAL	 	 	  137.7  615.7  47.0
	 Operating	expenses	 	 	  -  1.5  1.5
	 General	and	Administration	 	 	  21.1  28.2  7.1
	 Financing	and	interest	 	 	  29.7  29.0  (0.7)
TOTAL		 	  $ 188.5 $ 674.4 $ 485.9

The	most	significant	change	from	the	Prospectus	estimate	for	2011	compared	with	the	actual	results	is	the	emergence	of	Athabasca’s	Light	Oil	
Division.	Another	significant	change	from	the	Prospectus	is	the	increased	spending	on	the	accelerated	Hangingstone	development,	which	could	
become	Athabasca’s	first	commercial	oil	sands	project	with	the	acquisition	of	Excelsior	Energy	in	the	fourth	quarter	of	2010.	

Given	these	significant	changes	to	the	business	from	the	date	of	the	Prospectus,	the	exercise	of	the	MacKay	River	put	option,	the	uncertainty	
related	to	the	exercise	of	the	Dover	put/call	options	and	potential	joint	venture	activity,	Athabasca	does	not	believe	that	continuing	comparisons	
to	the	previously	provided	guidance	for	2012	through	2014	is	meaningful.	The	Company’s	2012	anticipated	spending	is	outlined	under	“Corporate”	
above.	Athabasca	will	provide	estimated	project	costs	as	oil	sands	projects	are	sanctioned	by	the	Board	of	Directors.	Athabasca’s	announced	
2012	capital	and	operating	budgets	will	be	funded	with	available	working	capital.	Beyond	2012,	the	Company	will	require	additional	capital	to	
maintain	its	pace	of	development.	Athabasca	believes	it	will	fund	its	activities	through	some	combination	of	cash	flow	from	operations,	the	
potential	exercise	of	the	Dover	put/call	options,	a	reasonable	level	of	debt,	sale	of	assets	and	joint	exploration	and	development	activities.
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QUARTERLY RESULTS
Fourth Quarter 2010
The	following	table	summarizes	the	consolidated	results	of	the	Company	for	the	three	months	ended	December	31,	2011	and	2010:	

	  December 31,	  December 31, 
Quarter ended ($ Thousands)	 	 2011	  2010

REVENUE	 	 	 	
	 Interest	income	 $ 4,854	 $ 5,485
	 Petroleum	and	natural	gas	sales	 	 1,842	 	 737
	 Royalties	 	 (160) 	 (32)
Total	revenue	 	 6,536 	 6,190
EXPENSES	 	 	 	
	 Operating	expenses	 	 707  239
	 General	and	administrative	 	 9,351 	 4,224
	 Stock-based	compensation	 	 5,318	 	 4,433
	 Financing	and	interest	 	 7,498	 	 6,315
	 Depreciation	and	depletion	  1,606	 	 350
Total	expenses	  24,480	 	 15,561
	 Gain	on	sale	of	assets	 	 -	 	 347
	 Gain	on	exercise	of	put	option	  216,146 	 -
Income	(loss)	before	income	taxes	  198,202 		 (9,024)
	 Current	income	tax	expense	 	 15,413	 	 3,029
	 Deferred	income	tax	expense	(recovery)	 	 5,091	 	 (14,037)
Income	(loss)	before	the	following	 	 177,698	 	 1,984
	 Equity	loss	on	investments	  (1,613)	 	 (1,342)
Net	income	and	comprehensive	income	 $ 176,085	 $ 642

Petroleum	 and	 natural	 gas	 sales,	 royalties	 and	 operating	 expenses	 in	 the	 fourth	 quarter	 of	 2011	 relate	 to	 initial	 restricted	 production	 from	
the	Light	Oil	Division.	Significant	operating	results	are	not	expected	until	 the	third	quarter	of	2012	when	Company	owned	 infrastructure	 is	
completed	and	wells	are	tied-in.	The	amounts	in	2010	relate	to	two	shallow	gas	wells	acquired	as	part	of	a	land	acquisition.

Interest	income	decreased	due	to	lower	cash	and	short-term	investment	balances	held	in	the	period.	General	and	administrative	costs	increased	
in	the	fourth	quarter	of	2011	compared	to	2010	from	higher	staff	counts	in	2011.

Financing	and	interest	costs	are	higher	in	the	fourth	quarter	of	2011	compared	to	2010	due	to	higher	long	term	debt	balances	held	in	the	period.	
The	put	option	gain	in	2011	is	a	result	of	the	exercise	of	the	MacKay	River	put	option	in	December	2011.	The	Q4	2010	gain	on	sale	of	assets	
represents	a	post	closing	adjustment	on	the	PetroChina	Transaction.	

Current	 tax	 expense	 in	 the	 fourth	 quarter	 of	 2011	 was	 a	 result	 of	 a	 change	 in	 assumption	 relating	 to	 the	 carry	 back	 of	 provincial		
non-capital	 losses.	Current	tax	 in	2010	was	a	result	of	timing	changes	in	the	carry	back	assumption	relating	to	2010	federal	and	provincial	
losses.	The	2011	future	income	tax	expense	is	mainly	due	to	the	unrealized	gain	on	the	MacKay	River	put	offset	by	the	change	in	assumption	
relating	to	the	provincial	tax	carry	back	noted	above.	The	prior	period	future	income	tax	recovery	related	to	a	change	in	assumed	rate	regarding	
the	use	of	tax	pools.



         32 	 ATHABASCA	OIL	SANDS	CORP.	AR	2011

The	following	table	summarizes	the	consolidated	capital	expenditures	made	by	the	Company	for	the	three	month	periods	ending	December	31:	

	 	 December 31,	 	 December 31, 
Quarter ended ($ Thousands)	 	 2011	 	 2010

Hangingstone	(1)	 $ 19,545	 $ 13,371
Dover	West	 	 4,398	  46,836
Birch	 	 6,541	  2,228
Grosmont	 	 127	 	 825
Light	Oil	  122,409 	 52,433
Other	 	 4,634 	 916
Total	expenditures	on	exploration	and	evaluation	assets	 	 157,654	 	 116,609
Corporate	assets	 	 3,279	 	 203
Expenditures	included	in	Investments	(2)	  6,055	 	 8,045
Total	capital	expenditures	 $ 166,988	 $ 124,857

(1)	 The	2010	Hangingstone	capital	expenditures	amount	includes	the	cash	consideration	paid	for	the	Excelsior	Energy	Limited	acquisition	in	the	amount	of	$11.0	million

(2	 Relates	to	the	Company’s	40%	working	interests	in	the	MacKay	River	and	Dover	oil	sands	projects.	After	the	closing	of	the	PetroChina	Transaction,	Athabasca	accounts	for	its	
investments	in	the	MacKay	River	and	Dover	areas	using	the	equity	method	of	accounting.	Accordingly,	the	Company’s	40%	working	interests	in	the	MacKay	River	and	Dover	areas	
are	accounted	for	in	the	Investments	line	on	the	Company’s	consolidated	balance	sheet.	

SUMMARY OF QUARTERLY RESULTS
The	following	table	summarizes	selected	consolidated	financial	information	for	the	Company	for	the	preceding	eight	quarters:	

	 	  2011	  2010

($’000s except per share amounts)	 Q4 Q3 Q2 Q1 Q4 Q3 Q2 Q1

Revenue	and	other	income	 	 6,536  6,472  6,556  6,368  6,190  4,279  3,207  1,022
Net	income	(loss)	 	 176,085  (13,159)  (10,540)   (10,075)  641  (9,145)  (7,777)  2,490,735
Net	income	(loss)	per	share	-	basic		 0.44  (0.03)  (0.03)  (0.03)  0.00  (0.02)  (0.02)  10.71
Net	income	(loss)	per	share	-	diluted	 0.44  (0.03)  (0.03)  (0.03)  0.00  (0.02)  (0.02)  10.61

Revenue	 increased	 throughout	 2010	 due	 to	 increasing	 interest	 rates	 and	 investment	 income	 earned	 on	 the	 proceeds	 from	 the	 PetroChina	
Transaction	and	the	initial	public	offering.	Revenue	and	other	income	remained	relatively	flat	through	2011	as	declining	interest	income	from	
lower	cash,	cash	equivalent	and	short	term	investment	balances	were	offset	by	initial	petroleum	and	natural	gas	sales	from	the	Light	Oil	Division.

Net	income	and	net	income	per	share	amounts	in	the	first	quarter	of	2010	were	due	to	the	$1.6	billion	gain	on	the	PetroChina	Transaction	and	
$1.2	billion	gain	on	the	revaluation	of	Athabasca’s	remaining	40%	interests	in	Dover	and	MacKay	River.	

The	Company	recorded	net	losses	in	the	second	and	third	quarters	of	2010	as	well	as	the	first	three	quarters	of	2011	as	general	and	administrative,	
stock	 based	 compensation	 and	 other	 expenses	 exceeded	 investment	 income	 and	 petroleum	 and	 natural	 gas	 sales.	 Expenses	 increased	
throughout	2011	with	higher	headcount	and	more	office	space.	Net	income	in	the	fourth	quarter	of	2011	was	primarily	the	result	of	the	gain	on	
the	valuation	of	the	MacKay	River	put	option	offset	by	Athabasca’s	corporate	costs.	The	net	income	in	the	fourth	quarter	of	2010	was	primarily	
from	a	deferred	tax	recovery.	

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES 
Working Capital 
At	December	31,	2011,	the	Company	had	net	working	capital	of	$1.36	billion.	Net	working	capital	consists	mostly	of	cash,	cash	equivalents,	
restricted	cash,	short-term	investments	and	assets	held	for	sale	offset	by	accounts	payable	and	the	Company’s	long-term	debt	which	is	expected	
to	be	repaid	by	end	of	the	first	quarter	of	2012.	The	interest	rate	on	amounts	invested	in	cash,	cash	equivalents	and	short-term	investment	
accounts	as	of	December	31,	2011	range	from	0.50%	to	1.63%.

Athabasca’s	announced	2012	capital	and	operating	budgets	will	be	 funded	with	available	working	capital.	Beyond	2012,	 the	Company	will	
require	additional	capital	to	maintain	its	pace	of	development.	Athabasca	believes	it	will	fund	its	activities	through	some	combination	of	cash	
flow	from	operations,	the	potential	exercise	of	the	Dover	put/call	options,	a	reasonable	level	of	debt,	sale	of	assets	and	joint	exploration	and	
development	activities.	Until	required,	excess	cash	will	be	invested.	The	Company’s	outstanding	financial	liabilities	mature	within	one	year.
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Long-term Debt 
The	financing	arrangements	that	comprise	a	part	of	the	PetroChina	Transaction	include	the	advance	of	PetroChina	Loan	#1,	a	non-revolving	loan	
facility	of	$430.0	million.	Interest	on	PetroChina	Loan	#1	is	payable	semi-annually	on	June	30	and	December	31	at	a	rate	equal	to	LIBOR	plus	
450	basis	points.	

The	 financing	 arrangements	 that	 comprise	 a	 part	 of	 the	 PetroChina	 Transaction	 also	 include	 the	 provision	 of	 PetroChina	 Loan	 #2	 and		
PetroChina	 Loan	 #3	 to	 the	 Company	 to	 provide	 up	 to	 $100	 million	 and	 up	 to	 $560	 million,	 respectively,	 for	 certain	 initial	 development	
expenditures	 by	 the	 AOSC	 MacKay	 and	 AOSC	 Dover	 Entities.	 At	 December	 31,	 2011,	 the	 Company	 had	 drawn	 $43.9	 million	 on		
PetroChina	Loan	#2.	Interest	on	both	loans	is	payable	semi-annually	on	June	30	and	December	31	at	a	rate	equal	to	LIBOR	plus	450	basis	points.	

As	a	result	of	the	exercise	of	the	MacKay	River	put	option	in	the	fourth	quarter	of	2011,	Athabasca	is	required	to	repay	PetroChina	loans	#1		
and	#2	from	the	proceeds	of	the	put	option	which	is	expected	to	occur	by	the	end	of	the	first	quarter	of	2012.	In	addition,	the	exercise	of	the	
MacKay	River	put	option	terminated	PetroChina	loan	#3.

Equity Instruments 
During	the	year	ended	December	31,	2011,	1.7	million	shares	were	purchased	and	cancelled	by	the	Company	through	a	Normal	Course	Issuer	
Bid	at	an	average	price	of	$12.53	per	share.	Also	during	the	year,	0.5	million	common	shares	were	issued	on	the	exercise	of	warrants	assumed	
by	the	Company	as	part	of	the	acquisition	of	Excelsior	Energy.

Commitments and Contingencies 
The	following	table	summarizes	Athabasca’s	estimated	future	minimum	commitments	as	at	December	31,	2011:	

($ Thousands)	 2012  2013  2014  2015  2016  Thereafter 	 Total

Debt	repayment	(1)	  $ 473,884 $ - $ - $ - $ - $ -	 $ 473,884
Interest	payments	(1)	 	  5,698  -  -  -  -  -  5,698
Office	leases	 	 	 3,555  3,170  3,150  9,319  9,289  97,795	  126,278
Drilling	rig	commitments	 	 	 12,875  8,960  6,360  6,360  2,650  -	  37,205
Purchase	commitments		
	 and	other	 	 	 13,351  535  -  -  -  -	  13,886
TOTAL	COMMITMENTS	  $ 509,363 $ 12,665 $ 9,510 $ 15,679 $ 11,939 $ 97,795	 $ 656,951

(1)	 In	December	of	2011,	Athabasca	exercised	the	MacKay	River	put	option.	In	accordance	with	the	agreements	for	PetroChina	Loans	#1	and	#2,	Athabasca’s	long	term	debt	is	to	be	
repaid	from	the	proceeds	of	the	exercise	in	2012.

Athabasca	is	responsible	for	the	retirement	of	its	resource	assets	at	the	end	of	their	useful	lives.	Decommissioning	obligations	of	$41.5	million	
have	been	recognized	at	December	31,	2011.	The	payments	required	to	settle	the	obligations	are	expected	to	occur	during	a	period	of	up	to		
25	years.	See	Note	12	of	the	consolidated	financial	statements	for	further	information.	

Athabasca	has	entered	into	indemnity	agreements	with	its	directors	and	officers	whereby	the	Company	indemnifies	the	directors	and	officers	
from	all	personal	liability	and	loss	that	may	arise	in	service	to	the	Company.

The	 Company	 is	 currently	 undergoing	 tax	 related	 reviews.	 While	 the	 final	 outcome	 of	 such	 reviews	 cannot	 be	 predicted	 with	 certainty,		
Athabasca	believes	its	positions	as	filed	are	appropriate	based	on	available	information	and	the	Company	has	not	recognized	a	provision	for	
any	potential	reassessments.

As	 part	 of	 the	 PetroChina	 Transaction,	 Dover	 OPCO,	 was	 created	 to	 operate	 the	 MacKay	 River	 and	 Dover	 joint	 ventures.	 As	 at		
December	31,	2011,	Athabasca’s	40%	share	of	Dover	OPCO’s	estimated	future	minimum	commitments	are	$9.7	million	consisting	mainly	of	
office	leases.	

As	at	December	31,	2011,	Athabasca	had	issued	$4.1	million	in	letters	of	credit	which	expire	in	2012.

Off Balance Sheet Arrangements 
The	 Company	 has	 certain	 lease	 agreements,	 all	 of	 which	 are	 reflected	 in	 the	 table	 above	 under	 the	 heading	 “Commitments,”	 which	 were	
entered	into	in	the	normal	course	of	operations.	The	leases,	which	have	been	treated	as	operating	leases,	have	been	recorded	as	general	and	
administrative	expenses.	No	asset	or	liability	value	has	been	assigned	to	these	agreements	on	the	Company’s	balance	sheet.	The	Company	has	
no	other	off	balance	sheet	arrangements.
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Outstanding Share Data 
The	following	table	summarizes	the	number	of	share	capital	instruments	outstanding	at	the	date	indicated:	

As at March 8, 2012

Common	shares	(1)	 	 	  399,494,112
Convertible	securities:	
	 Stock	options	outstanding	–	exercisable	and	unexercisable	 	 	  9,446,970
	 Restricted	share	units	outstanding	–	exercisable	and	unexercisable	 	 	  2,611,639
	 Warrants	 	 	  1,604,926

	(1)		 Includes	862,280	common	shares	held	in	trust	for	employees	and	other	service	providers	which	are	contingently	returnable	to	the	Company	if	length	of	service	requirements		
are	not	met.

Capital Management 
The	Company’s	objectives	when	managing	capital	are	to	safeguard	the	Company’s	ability	to	pursue	the	acquisition,	exploration	and	development	
of	 its	 resource	properties	or	potential	other	business	and	to	maintain	a	flexible	capital	structure	to	undertake	projects	 for	 the	benefit	of	 its	
stakeholders.	The	Company	considers	the	items	included	in	shareholders’	equity	and	long-term	debt	as	capital.	The	Company	is	currently	in	
the	development	stage	and	earns	no	significant	operating	revenue;	as	such	the	Company	is	dependent	on	existing	working	capital	and	external	
financing	to	fund	its	activities.	

Capital	managed	by	the	Company	as	at	December	31,	2011	and	December	31,	2010	was	as	follows:

	 	 December 31, 	 	 December 31,		
As at ($ Thousands)	 	 2011	  2010

PetroChina	Loan	#1	 $ 430,000	 $ 430,000
PetroChina	Loan	#2	 	 43,884	  19,736
Shareholders’	equity	 	 3,153,894	  2,998,827
TOTAL	CAPITAL	MANAGED	 $ 3,627,778	 $ 3,448,563

The	 Company	 manages	 the	 capital	 structure	 and	 makes	 adjustments	 in	 light	 of	 changes	 to	 economic	 conditions	 and	 risk	 characteristics	
of	 underlying	 assets.	 To	 maintain	 or	 adjust	 its	 capital	 structure,	 subject	 to	 restrictions	 in	 the	 PetroChina	 Loan	 Agreements,	 the	 Company	
may	 issue	 new	 shares,	 repurchase	 existing	 shares,	 acquire	 or	 dispose	 of	 assets,	 obtain	 or	 repay	 debt,	 or	 enter	 into	 joint	 exploration	 and		
development	arrangements.	

To	facilitate	the	management	of	its	capital	requirements,	the	Company	prepares	annual	expenditure	budgets	that	are	updated	as	necessary	
and	approved	by	the	Board	of	Directors.	Longer	term	financial	models	are	also	utilized	to	schedule	and	forecast	anticipated	cash	requirements.	
Excess	cash	is	invested	in	accordance	with	an	investment	policy,	which	is	reviewed	periodically	by	the	Audit	Committee,	which	is	designed	
to	 ensure	 that	 cash	 is	 invested	 in	 highly	 liquid	 short-term	 interest-bearing	 investments,	 possessing	 pre-approved	 risk	 profiles,	 and	 is		
available	as	required.	

There	were	no	changes	in	the	Company’s	approach	to	capital	management	during	the	12	month	period	ended	December	31,	2011	other	than	
the	draw	downs	on	PetroChina	Loan	#2,	the	repurchase	of	common	shares	pursuant	to	a	normal	course	issuer	bid	and	the	addition	of	a	new		
$25.0	million	credit	facility.

The	Company	is	subject	to	certain	non-financial	covenants	in	the	PetroChina	Loan	Agreements	and	is	in	compliance	with	all	such	covenants	as	
of	the	date	hereof.	The	PetroChina	loans	are	expected	to	be	repaid	by	the	end	of	the	first	quarter	of	2012.
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 Financial Instruments 
The	Company	has	classified	its	financial	instruments	as	follows:	

Financial Assets and Liabilities  	 Classification

Cash,	restricted	cash	and	cash	equivalents	 	 	 Held-for-trading
Short-term	investments	 	 	 Held-for-trading
MacKay	River	put	option	 	 	 Held-for-trading
Accounts	receivable	 	 	 Loans	and	receivables
Accounts	payable	and	accrued	liabilities	 	 	Other	financial	liabilities
Long-term	debt	 	 	Other	financial	liabilities

Fair Value 
The	 carrying	 values	 of	 Athabasca’s	 financial	 instruments	 approximate	 their	 fair	 value	 due	 to	 their	 short-term	 or	 variable	 interest	 nature.		
As	 at	 December	 31,	 2011	 no	 financial	 assets	 or	 liabilities	 were	 measured	 at	 fair	 value	 aside	 from	 cash,	 cash	 equivalents,	 restricted	 cash,		
short-term	investments	and	the	MacKay	River	put	option.	The	Company	classifies	its	financial	instruments	measured	at	fair	value	according	to	
the	following	hierarchy	based	on	the	amount	of	observable	inputs	used	to	value	the	instrument.

•	 Level	1	–	Unadjusted	quoted	prices	in	active	markets	for	identical	assets	or	liabilities;

•	 Level	2	–	Inputs	other	than	quoted	prices	that	are	observable	for	the	asset	or	liability	either	directly	or	indirectly;	and

•	 Level	3	–	Inputs	that	are	not	based	on	observable	market	data.

The	Company’s	cash,	cash	equivalents,	short-term	investments	and	restricted	cash	have	been	assessed	on	the	fair	value	hierarchy	described	
above	and	have	been	classified	as	Level	1.	The	MacKay	River	put	option	is	classified	as	Level	2.	Assessment	of	the	significance	of	a	particular	
input	to	the	fair	value	measurement	requires	judgment	and	may	affect	the	placement	level	within	the	fair	value	hierarchy.

Credit Risk 
The	maximum	exposure	to	credit	risk	is	represented	by	the	carrying	amounts	of	cash,	restricted	cash,	cash	equivalents,	short-term	investments,	
accounts	receivable	and	MacKay	River	put	option	on	the	consolidated	balance	sheets.	Athabasca	is	also	exposed	to	credit	risk	associated	with	
a	Put	Option	that	allows	Athabasca	to	sell	its	40%	interest	in	the	Dover	asset.	

Cash	and	cash	equivalents,	restricted	cash	and	short-term	investments	held	by	the	Company	are	invested	with	counterparties	meeting	credit	
quality	requirements	and	issuer	and	concentration	limits	pursuant	to	an	investment	policy	that	is	periodically	reviewed	by	the	Audit	Committee.	
The	policy	emphasizes	security	of	assets	over	investment	yield.	

As	 at	 December	 31,	 2011	 and	 December	 31,	 2010,	 Athabasca’s	 cash,	 cash	 equivalents,	 restricted	 cash	 and	 short-term	 investments	 were	
held	with	five	counterparties.	At	January	1,	2010,	Athabasca’s	cash	and	cash	equivalents	were	held	with	two	counterparties.	The	Company	
holds	investments	in	bankers’	depository	notes,	term	deposits	and	GICs	with	large	reputable	Canadian	financial	institutions.	The	Company’s	
management	believes	that	credit	risk	associated	with	these	investments	is	low.	At	December	31,	2011,	no	institution	held	more	than	42%	of	
the	balances.	

As	at	December	31,	2011,	41%	of	the	Company’s	consolidated	accounts	receivable	balance	is	related	to	accrued	interest	on	cash	equivalents	
and	short-term	investments	and	28%	is	due	from	the	Government	of	Canada	for	input	tax	credits.	This	is	compared	to	December	31,	2010,	
where	71%	of	the	balance	was	related	to	accrued	interest	with	the	remainder	comprising	of	various	counterparties.	At	January	1,	2010,	48%	of	
the	consolidated	accounts	receivable	balance	was	due	from	the	Government	of	Canada	for	input	tax	credits.	The	remaining	52%	was	held	with	
high	quality	counterparties	and	was	not	considered	past	due	based	on	the	terms	with	the	counterparties.	Management	believes	all	outstanding	
accounts	receivable	as	at	December	31,	2011	are	with	high	quality	counterparties	and	does	not	consider	any	material	amount	past	due	based	
on	the	terms	with	the	counterparties.

As	at	December	31,	2011	and	December	31,	2010,	Athabasca	had	$9.4	million	in	income	tax	receivable	owing	from	the	provincial	government	for	
tax	credits	earned	in	2010	which	were	carried	back	and	claimed	against	2009	taxable	income.	Management	believes	that	credit	risk	associated	
with	this	receivable	is	low	and	expects	the	balance	to	be	collected	in	2012.	
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As	at	December	31,	2011,	Athabasca	valued	 its	exercised	MacKay	River	put	option	at	$216.1	million.	Athabasca	also	holds	a	put	option	 to		
sell	its	40%	interest	in	the	Dover	project	for	gross	proceeds	of	$1.32	billion	which	has	not	been	recorded	on	the	consolidated	balance	sheets.	
The	Company’s	management	believes	that	credit	risk	associated	with	these	financial	instruments	is	low	given	PetroChina’s	investment	grade	
credit	rating.

Liquidity Risk 
The	Company’s	objective	in	managing	liquidity	risk	is	to	maintain	sufficient	available	reserves	to	meet	its	liquidity	requirements	at	any	point.	
The	Company	achieves	this	by	managing	its	capital	spending	and	maintaining	sufficient	funds	for	anticipated	short-term	spending	in	cash	and	
cash	equivalent	accounts.

Management	 believes	 a	 combination	 of	 the	 Company’s	 working	 capital	 at	 December	 31,	 2011,	 amounts	 available	 from	 proceeds	 from	 the	
potential	exercise	of	the	Put/Call	Options,	potential	proceeds	from	joint	exploration	and	development	arrangements	and	a	reasonable	level	of	
debt	are	sufficient	to	fund	the	Company’s	expenditures	for	the	foreseeable	future.	Until	required,	excess	cash	will	be	invested.	The	Company’s	
outstanding	financial	liabilities	mature	within	one	year.

Interest Rate Risk 
The	Company’s	exposure	at	December	31,	2011	to	interest	charged	on	the	outstanding	PetroChina	Loan	balances,	from	a	1.0%	change	in	interest	
rates,	would	be	approximately	$4.7	million	if	the	loans	were	to	remain	in	place	for	a	12	month	period	(2010	-	$4.5	million).	The	PetroChina	loans	
are	expected	to	be	repaid	by	the	end	of	the	first	quarter	of	2012.	The	Company’s	exposure	to	interest	rate	fluctuations	on	interest	earned	on	
the	floating	rate	cash	and	restricted	cash	balance	of	$169.2	million,	from	a	1.0%	change	in	interest	rates,	would	be	approximately	$1.7	million	
for	a	12	month	period	(2010	-	$2.4	million).	For	the	year	ended	December	31,	2011,	Athabasca’s	effective	interest	rate	on	PetroChina	Loans	#1		
and	#2	was	5.8%	(2010	-	5.2%).	

Put/Call Options Related to MacKay River and Dover 
Detailed	below	are	Put/Call	Options	on	the	Company’s	remaining	40%	interest	in	Dover	and	MacKay	River	that	were	included	as	part	of	the		
PetroChina	Transaction	(the	“Put/Call	Options”).	Management	of	the	Company	conducted	a	review	of	the	value	of	each	Put/Call	Option	listed	
below	and	determined	that	the	net	value	of	the	Put/Call	Options	at	the	inception	of	the	contract	was	nil.	Upon	Athabasca’s	exercise	of	the	
MacKay	River	put	option	in	the	fourth	quarter	of	2011,	estimation	uncertainty	was	removed	and	the	instrument	was	measured	at	fair	value.	
However,	the	fair	value	of	the	Dover	put/call	option	continues	to	not	be	reliably	measurable	and	was	therefore	not	valued	by	Athabasca.

MacKay	River	Put	Option
Cretaceous	had	granted	to	the	Company	the	right,	exercisable	at	the	Company’s	option	within	30	days	following	receipt	of	MacKay	River	oil	
sands	project	approval,	to	require	Cretaceous	to	acquire	the	shares	or	assets	of	AOSC	(MacKay).	The	MacKay	River	put	option	was	exercised	
in	the	fourth	quarter	of	2011	at	a	purchase	price	of	$680.0	million.	

Dover	Put	Option
Cretaceous	has	granted	to	the	Company	the	right,	exercisable	at	the	Company’s	option	within	30	days	following	receipt	of	Dover	oil	sands	
project	 approval	 (as	 defined	 in	 the	 Put/Call	 Option	 Agreement),	 to	 require	 Cretaceous	 to	 acquire	 the	 shares	 or	 assets	 of	 AOSC	 (Dover).		
As	a	result	of	the	receipt	of	regulatory	approval	 for	the	MacKay	River	oil	sands	project,	the	purchase	price	of	the	shares	or	assets	 is	set	at		
$1.32	billion.	

MacKay	River	Call	Option
The	Company	had	granted	 to	Cretaceous	 the	 right,	exercisable	at	Cretaceous’	option,	 to	acquire	 the	shares	or	assets	of	AOSC	(MacKay).	
However,	the	MacKay	River	call	option	expired	upon	Athabasca’s	exercise	of	the	MacKay	River	put	option.

Dover	Call	Option
The	Company	has	granted	to	Cretaceous	the	right,	exercisable	at	Cretaceous’	option,	to	acquire	the	shares	or	assets	of	AOSC	(Dover)	for	a	
purchase	price	of	$1.32	billion.	With	the	exercise	of	the	MacKay	put	option	by	Athabasca,	the	Dover	call	option	is	exercisable	and	will	remain	
exercisable	until	30	days	after	the	receipt	of	Dover	oil	sands	project	regulatory	approval.
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EQUITY INVESTMENTS AND ASSETS HELD FOR SALE
At	 December	 31,	 2011,	 the	 Company	 has	 a	 40%	 interest	 in	 the	 MacKay	 River	 joint	 venture	 through	 its	 100%	 wholly-owned	 subsidiary,		
AOSC	(MacKay)	and	a	40%	interest	in	the	Dover	joint	venture	through	its	100%	wholly-owned	subsidiary,	AOSC	(Dover).	

The	MacKay	River	and	Dover	joint	ventures	are	investments	in	which	the	Company	has	significant	influence	and	are	accounted	for	as	long-term	
investments	using	the	equity	method	of	accounting	whereby	the	carrying	value	of	the	investment	is	increased	or	decreased	for	the	Company’s	
percentage	of	net	income	or	loss,	reduced	by	dividends	paid	to	the	Company,	and	increased	or	decreased	to	reflect	the	Company’s	share	of	
capital	transactions.	The	equity	investments	did	not	incur	any	revenues	during	the	first	nine	months	of	2011	or	2010	nor	were	any	dividends	paid.	

As	a	result	of	the	exercise	of	the	MacKay	River	put	option,	the	MacKay	River	investment	is	presented	as	an	asset	held	for	sale	on	the	balance	
sheet	as	at	December	31,	2011.	

The	 following	 historical	 cost	 table	 summarizes	 the	 financial	 information	 of	 the	 equity	 investees	 as	 at	 December	 31,	 2011	 and	 the		
comparatives	thereto:

MacKay River and Dover Investments	 	 December 31, 	  December 31, 
(As at) ($ Thousands)	 	 2011	   2010

TOTAL	ASSETS	 $ 207,416	 $ 180,150
Liabilities	 	 41,716	  40,418
Shareholders’	equity	  165,700	  139,732
TOTAL	LIABILITIES	AND	SHAREHOLDERS’	EQUITY	 $ 207,416	 $ 180,150

NET	LOSS	(YEAR	ENDED	DECEMBER	31)	 $ (4,600)	 $ (3,277)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND ESTIMATES 
Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards
The	 consolidated	 financial	 statements	 have	 been	 prepared	 in	 accordance	 with	 International	 Financial	 Reporting	 Standards	 (“IFRS”)	 as	
issued	 by	 the	 International	 Accounting	 Standards	 Board	 (“IASB”)	 and	 are	 Athabasca’s	 first	 annual	 statements	 prepared	 in	 accordance	
with	 IFRS.	 Previously,	 the	 Company	 prepared	 financial	 statements	 in	 accordance	 with	 Canadian	 generally	 accepted	 accounting	 principles		
(“previous	GAAP”).	The	former	Canadian	standards	were	replaced	by	IFRS	effective	for	years	beginning	on	or	after	January	1,	2011	for	publicly	
accountable	enterprises.	See	Note	23	of	the	2011	audited	consolidated	financial	statements	for	reconciliations	of	the	Company’s	previous	GAAP	
amounts	to	IFRS.	

The	following	significant	adjustments	were	made	on	adoption	of	IFRS:	

A)	 E&E	classification
	 Under	previous	GAAP,	Athabasca	classified	all	oil	and	gas	costs	as	property,	plant	and	equipment.	Under	IFRS,	expenditures	incurred	for	

exploration	and	evaluation	activities	must	be	separately	classified	on	the	balance	sheet	in	accordance	with	IFRS	6	Exploration	and	Evaluation	
of	Mineral	Resources.	In	accordance	with	the	standard,	once	E&E	assets	are	determined	to	be	technically	feasible	and	commercially	viable,	
the	costs	are	 reclassified	 to	property,	plant	and	equipment.	 In	2010,	all	of	Athabasca’s	oil	and	gas	assets	were	 in	 the	exploration	and	
evaluation	stage.	

B)	 Capitalized	borrowing	costs
	 Under	previous	GAAP,	Athabasca	capitalized	borrowing	costs	to	its	oil	sands	development	projects.	Under	IFRS,	borrowing	costs	must	

be	capitalized	if	they	relate	to	qualifying	assets	which	are	defined	as	assets	that	necessarily	take	a	substantial	period	of	time	to	get	ready	
for	its	intended	use.	IAS	23	permits	capitalization	of	borrowing	costs	as	part	of	the	cost	of	the	asset	only	when	it	is	probable	that	they	will	
result	in	future	economic	benefit	to	the	entity.	Currently,	all	of	Athabasca’s	oil	and	gas	assets	are	in	the	exploration	and	evaluation	stage	
of	development	which	results	in	the	Company’s	assets	not	meeting	the	criteria	of	a	qualifying	asset.	Consequently,	capitalized	borrowing	
costs	must	be	expensed	in	the	period	incurred	as	opposed	to	being	capitalized.	

C)	 Non-qualifying	assets
	 Athabasca	previously	capitalized	all	oil	and	gas	expenditures	under	the	previous	GAAP	full	cost	guidance,	 including	the	costs	incurred	

prior	to	obtaining	land	rights.	Under	IFRS,	such	expenditures	incurred	prior	to	obtaining	licenses	are	expensed.	Upon	transition	to	IFRS	
Athabasca	removed	certain	costs,	such	as	geological	and	geophysical	expenditures,	which	were	incurred	on	assets	for	which	land	rights	
had	not	yet	been	obtained.	Also	upon	transition	to	IFRS,	the	Company	de-recognized	certain	assets	that	were	sheltered	from	impairment	
under	the	previous	GAAP	full	cost	pool	but	did	not	meet	recognition	criteria	under	IFRS.
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D)	 Deferred	income	taxes
Adjustments	were	made	to	Athabasca’s	previous	GAAP	deferred	tax	amounts	for	the	following	reasons:

i)	 The	capitalized	borrowing	costs,	non-qualifying	assets	and	fair	value	of	equity	investee	adjustments	above	have	corresponding	tax	effects.

ii)	 Under	IFRS,	a	deferred	tax	liability	is	not	recognized	on	a	temporary	difference	that	arises	from	the	initial	recognition	of	an	asset	when	the	
initial	transaction	is	not	a	business	combination	and	does	not	affect	accounting	or	tax	profit.	Athabasca	recognized	deferred	taxes	under	
previous	GAAP	on	capitalized	stock	based	compensation	as	well	as	asset	acquisitions	where	the	accounting	basis	differed	from	the	tax	
basis.	These	deferred	taxes	were	reversed	under	IFRS.	

	 The	Excelsior	Energy	acquisition	was	accounted	for	as	an	asset	acquisition	and	thus	the	$18.1	million	deferred	income	tax	liability	recognized	
under	previous	GAAP	was	reversed	under	IFRS	with	a	corresponding	decrease	to	exploration	and	evaluation	assets.	The	minority	interest	in	
Hangingstone	that	Athabasca	acquired	for	common	share	consideration	in	the	fourth	quarter	of	2010	resulted	in	an	$8.2	million	deferred	
tax	liability	under	previous	GAAP	that	was	reversed	under	IFRS.

iii)	 When	there	is	a	change	in	the	expected	reversal	tax	rate	of	a	temporary	difference	under	IFRS,	the	resulting	change	is	recognized	in	profit	
or	loss	except	for	items	previously	recognized	outside	of	profit	or	loss.	Previous	GAAP	recognizes	the	change	in	profit	or	loss	regardless	of	
its	origin.	Athabasca	had	a	change	in	expected	reversal	tax	rate	in	the	fourth	quarter	of	2010	and	approximately	$3.1	million	of	the	deferred	
income	tax	recovery	recognized	under	previous	GAAP	was	recognized	directly	in	equity	under	IFRS.

iv)	 Under	IFRS,	deferred	tax	amounts	are	not	classified	as	current.	Under	previous	GAAP,	a	deferred	tax	amount	is	presented	as	current	if		
(i)	it	relates	to	a	temporary	difference	from	a	current	asset	or	current	liability	or	(ii)	it	relates	to	a	temporary	difference	that	does	not	relate	
to	an	asset	or	liability	and	is	expected	to	reverse	within	a	year.	Athabasca	had	a	$3.9	million	current	deferred	tax	asset	under	previous	
GAAP	at	December	31,	2010.

E)	 Fair	value	adjustment	for	MacKay	River	and	Dover
Under	previous	GAAP,	at	the	close	of	the	PetroChina	Transaction,	Athabasca	recognized	its	initial	investment	in	Dover	and	MacKay	River	at	
historic	cost.	Under	IFRS,	the	remaining	interest	in	equity	investments	is	re-measured	to	fair	value	when	there	is	a	loss	of	control.	This	results	in	
an	IFRS	adjustment	to	increase	the	carrying	value	of	the	equity	investments	from	cost	to	fair	value	on	February	10,	2010.

IFRS 1 Elections
IFRS	 1	 First-time	 Adoption	 of	 International	 Financial	 Reporting	 Standards	 generally	 requires	 the	 financial	 records	 to	 be	 restated	 as	 if	 an	 entity		
had	 always	 applied	 IFRS.	 However,	 certain	 exemptions	 are	 available	 from	 this	 general	 requirement.	 The	 Company	 utilized	 the	 business	
combinations	and	share-based	payment	exemptions	on	transition	to	IFRS.	The	business	combinations	exemption	allowed	the	Company	to	only	
apply	IFRS	3	Business	Combinations	to	business	combinations	that	occurred	subsequent	to	January	1,	2010.	The	share-based	payment	exemption	
allowed	Athabasca	to	only	apply	IFRS	2	Share-based	Payment	to	share-based	payments	which	vest	or	are	granted	subsequent	to	January	1,	2010.

Athabasca	did	not	utilize	the	oil	and	gas	assets	deemed	cost	exemption.	 Instead,	the	Company	retroactively	applied	IFRS	6	Exploration	and	
Evaluation	of	Mineral	Resources,	IAS	16	Property,	Plant	and	Equipment,	IFRS	23	Borrowing	Costs	and	IAS	38	Intangible	Assets	to	the	previous	GAAP	
full	cost	pool.	

Critical Accounting Policies
Exploration and Evaluation assets
Costs	of	exploring	for	and	evaluating	oil	and	gas	activities,	including	lease	acquisition	costs,	exploratory	drilling	to	delineate	resource	formations,	
geological	and	geophysical	costs,	engineering,	licensing	and	regulatory	fees,	carrying	charges	on	non-productive	assets	and	employee	salaries	
and	stock	based	compensation	directly	related	to	exploration	and	evaluation	activities	are	initially	capitalized.	Exploration	and	evaluation	costs	
do	not	 include	general	prospecting	or	evaluation	costs	 incurred	prior	to	having	obtained	the	 legal	rights	to	explore	an	area,	these	costs	are	
expensed	directly	to	the	income	statement	as	they	are	incurred.

Exploration	and	evaluation	assets	are	tested	for	impairment	at	each	reporting	date	when	facts	and	circumstances	suggest	the	carrying	amount	
exceeds	the	recoverable	amount.	Impairment	tests	are	performed	on	cash-generating	units	which	are	determined	by	the	Company	to	be	at	
the	project	level	for	oil	sands	assets	and	at	the	area	level	for	conventional	oil	and	gas	assets.	Such	cash-generating	units	are	not	larger	than	
an	operating	segment.	Tangible	assets	acquired	and	utilized	to	develop	an	exploration	and	evaluation	asset	are	recorded	as	part	of	the	cost	of		
the	E&E	asset.	



ATHABASCA	OIL	SANDS	CORP.	AR	2011		 39

E&E	assets	are	carried	at	cost	until	technical	feasibility	and	commercial	viability	of	extracting	a	mineral	resource	is	considered	to	be	determined.	
The	technical	feasibility	and	commercial	viability	of	oil	sands	activities	is	considered	to	be	achieved	when	proved	reserves	are	determined	to	
exist	and	the	Company	has	received	approvals	to	proceed	with	commercial	development	by	the	Board	of	Directors	and	regulatory	authorities.	
The	technical	feasibility	and	commercial	viability	of	conventional	petroleum	and	natural	gas	activities	is	considered	to	be	achieved	when	proved	
reserves	are	determined	to	exist	and	the	Company	has	received	approval	to	proceed	with	commercial	development	by	the	Board	of	Directors.	
Upon	technical	 feasibility	and	commercial	viability	being	established,	E&E	assets	are	first	 tested	 for	 impairment	and	 then	 reclassified	 from	
exploration	and	evaluation	assets	to	property,	plant	and	equipment.

Property, Plant and Equipment
Items	 of	 property,	 plant	 and	 equipment	 are	 measured	 using	 historical	 cost	 less	 any	 accumulated	 impairment	 losses.	 The	 initial	 cost	 of	 an	
asset	comprises	its	purchase	price,	any	cost	directly	attributable	to	bringing	the	asset	to	the	location	and	condition	necessary	for	its	intended	
use	and	an	initial	estimate	of	the	cost	of	dismantling	and	removing	the	item	and	restoring	the	site	on	which	it	is	located.	Included	in	PP&E	are	
assets	 that	have	been	 transferred	 from	exploration	and	evaluation	upon	 the	establishment	of	commercial	viability	and	 technical	 feasibility.		
Once	 Athabasca’s	 projects	 are	 available	 for	 use	 in	 the	 manner	 intended	 by	 management,	 they	 will	 be	 depreciated	 over	 their	 useful	 life	 or	
depleted	using	the	unit	of	production	method.	

Property,	plant	and	equipment	are	tested	for	impairment	at	each	reporting	date	when	facts	and	circumstances	suggest	the	carrying	amount	
exceeds	the	recoverable	amount.	Impairment	tests	are	performed	on	cash-generating	units	which	are	determined	by	the	Company	to	be	at	
the	project	level	for	oil	sands	assets	and	at	the	area	level	for	conventional	oil	and	gas	assets.	Such	cash-generating	units	are	not	larger	than	an	
operating	segment.

The	 Company	 is	 in	 the	 early	 stages	 of	 developing	 its	 oil	 sands	 assets	 and	 the	 assets	 are	 not	 yet	 ready	 for	 use;	 therefore,	 no	 depletion	 or	
depreciation	has	been	recorded	with	respect	 to	 the	related	oil	sands	capitalized	expenditures	to	date.	Light	oil	assets	 in	 the	year	 that	 they	
became	 ready	 for	 use	 in	 the	 manner	 intended	 by	 management	 had	 depletion	 recorded	 against	 the	 related	 capitalized	 expenditures	 to	
date.	Depreciation	of	corporate	assets	 is	calculated	using	the	straight-line	method	over	the	estimated	useful	 life	of	 the	asset,	 ranging	from		
one	to	ten	years.

Principles of Consolidation
These	consolidated	financial	statements	reflect	the	activities	of	the	Company	and	its	wholly-owned	subsidiaries.	Intercompany	transactions	
and	balances	are	eliminated	upon	consolidation.	The	Company	accounts	for	its	investments	in	the	MacKay	River	and	Dover	joint	ventures	as	
equity	investments	in	accordance	with	IAS	28	Investments	in	Associates.	Management	has	made	an	assessment	under	IAS	27	Consolidated	and	
Separate	Financial	Statements,	IAS	31	Interest	in	Joint	Ventures	and	SIC	12	Consolidated-Special	Purpose	Entities	and	determined	that	Athabasca	does	
not	control	or	jointly	control	its	interests	in	these	joint	ventures	as	Athabasca	does	not	presently	have	exposure	to	the	majority	of	associated	
benefits	or	risks.	

The	MacKay	River	and	Dover	joint	ventures	are	investments	in	which	the	Company	has	significant	influence	and	are	accounted	for	as	long-term	
investments	using	the	equity	method	of	accounting	whereby	the	carrying	value	of	the	investment	is	increased	or	decreased	for	the	Company’s	
percentage	of	net	income	or	loss,	reduced	by	dividends	paid	to	the	Company,	and	increased	or	decreased	to	reflect	the	Company’s	share	of	
capital	transactions.	As	a	result	of	the	exercise	of	the	MacKay	River	put	option	in	December	of	2011,	the	MacKay	River	investment	is	presented	
as	an	asset	held	for	sale	on	the	consolidated	balance	sheet	as	at	December	31,	2011.	

Stock-based Compensation
The	Company’s	stock-based	compensation	plans	for	employees,	directors,	and	consultants	consists	of	stock	options	and	restricted	share	units.	
Athabasca	also	has	issued	and	outstanding	incentive	shares	granted	under	legacy	plans	which	are	held	in	trust	until	certain	length	of	service	
requirements	are	met.	At	the	grant	date	the	Company	uses	the	fair	value	method	to	account	for	securities	issued	as	part	of	its	stock-based	
compensation	plans.	The	fair	value	is	recorded	as	stock-based	compensation	over	the	vesting	period	with	a	corresponding	amount	reflected	in	
contributed	surplus.	When	stock	options	are	exercised,	the	cash	proceeds	along	with	the	amount	previously	recorded	as	contributed	surplus	
are	recorded	as	share	capital.

The	 stock-based	 compensation	 fair	 value	 is	 determined	 using	 an	 estimated	 forfeiture	 rate.	 Compensation	 ultimately	 recognized	 is	 revised	
in	 subsequent	 periods	 to	 reflect	 the	 final	 grant	 amounts.	 For	 employees	 and	 consultants	 who	 are	 working	 on	 specific	 capital	 projects,		
the	 stock-based	 compensation	 is	 allocated	 to	 exploration	 and	 evaluation	 assets	 or	 property,	 plant	 and	 equipment.	 For	 the	 remainder	 of	
employees,	the	compensation	is	expensed.
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Provisions and Decommissioning Liabilities
A	provision	is	recognized	if,	as	a	result	of	a	past	event,	the	Company	has	a	present	legal	or	constructive	obligation	that	can	be	estimated	reliably,	
and	it	is	probable	that	an	outflow	of	economic	benefits	will	be	required	to	settle	the	obligation.	Provisions	are	determined	by	discounting	the	
expected	future	cash	flows	at	a	pre-tax	rate	that	reflects	current	market	assessments	of	the	time	value	of	money	and	the	risks	specific	to	the	
liability.	The	Company’s	oil	and	gas	activities	give	rise	to	dismantling,	decommissioning	and	site	disturbance	remediation	activities.	Provisions	
are	made	for	the	estimated	cost	of	site	restoration	and	capitalized	to	the	corresponding	asset.	

Decommissioning	obligations	are	measured	at	the	present	value	of	management’s	best	estimate	of	expenditure	required	to	settle	the	obligation.	
The	 present	 value	 is	 determined	 using	 risk-adjusted	 expenditure	 estimates	 and	 the	 Company’s	 credit-adjusted	 risk-free	 discount	 rate.	
Subsequent	to	initial	measurement,	the	obligation	is	adjusted	at	the	end	of	each	period	to	reflect	the	passage	of	time,	changes	in	the	estimated	
future	cash	flows	underlying	the	obligation	and	changes	in	discount	rates.	The	increase	in	the	obligation	due	to	the	passage	of	time	is	recognized	
as	a	finance	cost	whereas	changes	due	to	revisions	in	the	estimated	future	cash	flows	and	discount	rate	are	capitalized.	Actual	costs	incurred	
upon	settlement	of	the	obligations	are	charged	against	the	provision	to	the	extent	the	provision	was	established.

Income Taxes
Income	tax	expense	is	comprised	of	current	and	deferred	tax.	Income	tax	expense	is	recognized	in	the	statement	of	comprehensive	income	
except	to	the	extent	that	it	relates	to	items	recognized	directly	in	equity,	in	which	case	it	is	recognized	in	equity.	Current	tax	is	the	expected	tax	
payable	(receivable)	on	the	taxable	income	(loss)	for	the	period,	using	tax	rates	enacted	or	substantively	enacted	at	the	reporting	date,	and	any	
adjustment	to	tax	payable	in	respect	of	previous	years.	

Deferred	tax	is	recognized	using	the	balance	sheet	method,	providing	for	temporary	differences	between	the	carrying	amounts	of	assets	and	
liabilities	for	financial	reporting	purposes	and	the	amounts	used	for	taxation	purposes.	Deferred	tax	is	not	recognized	on	the	initial	recognition	
of	assets	or	liabilities	in	a	transaction	that	is	not	a	business	combination	and	does	not	affect	profit.	Deferred	tax	is	measured	at	the	tax	rates	that	
are	expected	to	be	applied	to	temporary	differences	when	they	reverse,	based	on	the	laws	that	have	been	enacted	or	substantively	enacted	at	
the	reporting	date.	

Deferred	tax	assets	and	liabilities	are	offset	if	there	is	a	legally	enforceable	right	to	offset,	and	they	relate	to	income	taxes	levied	by	the	same	
tax	authority	on	the	same	taxable	entity,	or	on	different	tax	entities,	but	the	Company	intends	to	settle	current	tax	liabilities	and	assets	on	a	net	
basis	or	the	tax	assets	and	liabilities	will	be	realized	simultaneously.	A	deferred	tax	asset	is	recognized	to	the	extent	that	it	is	probable	that	future	
taxable	profits	will	be	available	against	which	the	temporary	difference	can	be	utilized.	Deferred	tax	assets	are	reviewed	at	each	reporting	date	
and	are	reduced	to	the	extent	that	it	is	no	longer	probable	that	the	related	tax	benefit	will	be	realized.

Athabasca	also	recognizes	deferred	tax	liabilities	on	temporary	differences	associated	with	investments	unless	the	Company	is	able	to	control	
the	timing	of	the	reversal	of	the	temporary	differences	and	it	is	probable	that	they	will	not	reverse	in	the	foreseeable	future.	

Significant Accounting Estimates and Judgments
The	 preparation	 of	 the	 consolidated	 financial	 statements	 requires	 management	 to	 make	 estimates	 and	 assumptions.	 These	 estimates	 and	
assumptions	affect	the	reported	amounts	of	assets	and	liabilities,	the	disclosure	of	contingent	assets	and	liabilities	at	the	date	of	the	consolidated	
financial	statements	and	the	reported	amounts	of	revenues	and	expenses	during	the	applicable	reporting	period.	These	estimates	relate	to	
unsettled	transactions	and	events	as	of	the	date	of	the	consolidated	financial	statements	and	may	differ	from	actual	results	as	future	confirming	
events	occur.	Estimates	and	underlying	assumptions	are	reviewed	by	management	on	an	ongoing	basis.	Revisions	to	accounting	estimates	are	
recognized	prospectively	in	the	year	in	which	the	estimates	are	revised.

Amounts	used	for	the	impairment	and	depletion	calculations	are	based	on	estimates	of	bitumen	and	oil	and	gas	reserves	and	resources,	future	
commodity	prices	and	future	costs	required	to	develop	and	produce	reserves	and	resources.	The	fair	value	calculation	of	decommissioning	
obligations	is	based	upon	numerous	assumptions	and	judgments	including	the	ultimate	settlement	amounts,	inflation	factors,	credit-adjusted	
discount	rates,	timing	of	settlement	and	changes	in	the	legal,	regulatory,	environmental	and	political	environments.	

The	provision	for	 income	taxes	is	based	on	judgments	in	applying	income	tax	law	and	estimates	on	the	timing	and	likelihood	of	reversal	of	
temporary	differences	between	the	accounting	and	tax	bases	of	assets	and	liabilities.	Athabasca	has	had	significant	taxable	events	in	the	past	
and	the	tax	authorities	have	not	concluded	on	Athabasca’s	tax	treatment	of	each	event.	

Stock-based	compensation	is	based	upon	expected	volatility,	option	life	estimates	and	estimated	forfeiture	rates.	

In	the	fourth	quarter	of	2011,	the	MacKay	River	oil	sands	project	received	regulatory	approval	and	Athabasca	exercised	the	MacKay	River	put	
option	to	sell	its	40%	interest	in	the	MacKay	River	project.	As	a	result	of	the	option	exercise,	Athabasca	was	able	to	reliably	measure	the	value	
of	the	MacKay	River	put/call	option	based	on	the	terms	of	the	put/call	option	agreement.	
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Athabasca	has	determined	that	the	net	value	of	the	Dover	put/call	option,	unaffected	by	the	exercise	of	the	MacKay	River	put	option,	continues	
not	to	be	reliably	measurable	given	uncertainty	surrounding	the	receipt	and	timing	of	regulatory	approval,	the	project’s	reserves	and	resources	
and	related	future	cash	flow	estimates,	the	likelihood	of	either	party	exercising	their	option	and	the	tax	effect	of	exercise.	At	each	reporting	
period,	Athabasca	continues	to	assess	whether	new	information	exists	that	would	allow	the	Company	to	reliably	measure	the	value	of	the		
Dover	put/call	options.	

Future Accounting Pronouncements
Financial	Instruments

In	November	2009,	the	International	Accounting	Standards	Board	(“IASB”)	issued	IFRS	9	Financial	Instruments.	The	standard	was	expanded	
in	October	2010.	The	new	standard	is	the	first	phase	of	three	to	replace	IAS	39	Financial	Instruments:	Recognition	and	Measurement.	This	
standard	 replaces	 the	 current	 approach	 to	 classification	 and	 measurement	 of	 financial	 assets	 and	 liabilities	 and	 uses	 a	 model	 of	 only	 two	
classification	 categories:	 fair	 value	 or	 amortized	 cost.	 The	 standard	 also	 clarifies	 the	 use	 of	 a	 single	 impairment	 method	 when	 evaluating	
financial	instruments.	The	adoption	of	this	standard	is	not	expected	to	have	a	significant	impact.	Athabasca	will	be	required	to	adopt	IFRS	9	on	
January	1,	2015.

Consolidated	Financial	Statements

In	May	2011,	the	IASB	issued	IFRS	10	Consolidated	Financial	Statements.	IFRS	10	creates	a	standard	definition	of	control	focusing	on	power	to	
direct	activities	and	variable	returns.	This	new	control	definition	replaces	those	found	in	IAS	27	Consolidated	and	Separate	Financial	Statements	
and	SIC	12	Consolidation	–	Special	Purpose	Entities.	The	standard	is	effective	for	interim	and	annual	financial	statements	beginning	on	or	after	
January	1,	2013.	The	Company	is	currently	assessing	the	impact	of	IFRS	10	on	its	consolidated	financial	statements.

Joint	Arrangements

In	May	2011,	the	IASB	issued	IFRS	11	Joint	Arrangements.	The	standard	classifies	joint	arrangements	as	either	joint	operations	or	joint	ventures,	
based	 on	 the	 rights	 and	 obligations	 of	 the	 participants.	 Equity	 accounting	 is	 required	 for	 joint	 ventures	 while	 each	 participant	 recognizes	
their	share	of	rights	and	obligations	for	joint	operations.	IFRS	11	is	effective	for	interim	and	annual	financial	statements	beginning	on	or	after		
January	1,	2013.	The	Company	is	currently	assessing	the	impact	of	IFRS	11	on	its	consolidated	financial	statements.

Disclosure	of	Interests	in	Other	Entities

In	 May	 2011,	 the	 IASB	 issued	 IFRS	 12	 Disclosure	 of	 Interests	 in	 Other	 Entities	 which	 requires	 the	 disclosure	 of	 information	 which	 enables	
users	of	financial	statements	to	evaluate	the	nature	of,	and	risks	associated	with	its	interests	in	other	entities	and	the	effects	of	those	interests	
on	 a	 Company’s	 financial	 position,	 financial	 performance	 and	 cash	 flows.	 Athabasca	 will	 be	 required	 to	 adopt	 IFRS	 12	 on	 January	 1,	 2013.		
The	Company	is	currently	assessing	the	impact	of	IFRS	12	on	its	consolidated	financial	statements.

Fair	Value	Measurement

In	May	2011,	the	IASB	issued	IFRS	13	Fair	Value	Measurement	which	provides	guidance	on	the	measurement	of	fair	value	and	related	disclosures.	
The	standard	aims	to	improve	consistency	and	reduce	complexity	by	providing	a	precise	definition	of	fair	value	and	a	single	source	of	fair	value	
measurement	 and	 disclosure	 requirements	 for	 use	 across	 IFRSs.	 IFRS	 13	 is	 effective	 for	 interim	 and	 annual	 financial	 statements	 beginning		
on	or	after	January	1,	2013.	The	Company	is	currently	assessing	the	impact	of	IFRS	13	on	its	consolidated	financial	statements.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
Pursuant	 to	 an	 agreement	 with	 Dover	 OPCO,	 Athabasca	 was	 the	 temporary	 operator	 of	 the	 MacKay	 River	 and	 Dover	 joint	 ventures	 from	
February	10,	2010,	the	closing	date	of	the	PetroChina	Transaction,	to	May	31,	2010.	For	the	year	ended	December	31,	2010,	Athabasca	charged	
Dover	OPCO	$1.2	million	for	operating	the	MacKay	River	and	Dover	 joint	ventures	and	recorded	the	charges	as	a	reduction	 in	general	and	
administrative	expenses.	

Athabasca	 has	 seconded	 staff	 to	 Dover	 OPCO	 under	 the	 PetroChina	 Transaction	 Agreements	 and	 some	 members	 of	 Athabasca’s	 staff	
are	 utilized	 by	 Dover	 OPCO	 under	 a	 shared	 services	 arrangement.	 For	 the	 12	 month	 period	 ended	 December	 31,	 2011	 Athabasca	 charged		
Dover	OPCO	$8.2	million	to	recover	the	costs	of	these	seconded	and	shared	service	staff	(2010	-	$4.8	million).	These	transactions	were	in		
the	 normal	 course	 of	 operations	 and	 were	 measured	 at	 the	 exchange	 amount.	 The	 charges	 are	 recorded	 as	 a	 reduction	 in	 general	 and	
administrative	expense.	As	at	December	31,	2011,	accounts	receivable	included	$0.6	million	owing	from	Dover	OPCO	for	staff	discussed	above.
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During	the	first	quarter	of	2011,	Athabasca	entered	into	an	operating	and	technical	services	agreement	with	an	energy	company	that	has	certain	
directors	in	common	with	Athabasca,	which	provides	for	the	mutual	exchange	of	certain	services.	For	the	12	months	ended	December	31,	2011,	
$1.2	million	in	costs	were	incurred	by	Athabasca	on	behalf	of	the	energy	company	and	at	December	31,	2011,	no	amounts	remained	receivable.	
These	transactions	were	in	the	normal	course	of	operations	and	were	measured	at	the	exchange	amount.

A	 former	 director	 of	 the	 Company	 is	 a	 principal	 with	 an	 energy	 investment	 firm.	 During	 2010,	 Athabasca	 paid	 $5.0	 million	 to	 this	 firm		
comprising	$3.3	million	in	underwriting	fees	for	the	initial	public	offering,	$1.0	million	in	advisory	costs	relating	to	the	PetroChina	Transaction,	
and	$0.7	million	in	advisory	costs	relating	to	the	acquisition	of	Excelsior	Energy.	These	transactions	were	in	the	normal	course	of	operations	
and	 were	 measured	 at	 the	 exchange	 amount.	 No	 amounts	 were	 owing	 to	 the	 energy	 investment	 firm	 during	 the	 12	 month	 period	 ended		
December	31,	2011.

CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
Disclosure Controls and Procedures
Disclosure	controls	and	procedures	are	designed	to	provide	reasonable	assurance	that	 information	required	to	be	disclosed	 in	reports	filed	
with,	 or	 submitted	 to,	 securities	 regulatory	 authorities	 is	 recorded,	 processed,	 summarized	 and	 reported	 within	 the	 time	 periods	 specified	
under	Canadian	securities	law.	As	of	the	year	ended	December	31,	2011,	an	evaluation	was	carried	out	under	the	supervision	of	and	with	the	
participation	of	Athabasca’s	management,	including	the	Chief	Executive	Officer	and	Chief	Financial	Officer,	of	the	effectiveness	of	the	design	
and	operations	of	the	Company’s	disclosure	controls	and	procedures.	Based	on	that	evaluation,	the	Chief	Executive	Officer	and	Chief	Financial	
Officer	concluded	that	the	design	and	operation	of	these	disclosure	controls	and	procedures	were	effective	in	ensuring	that	information	required	
to	be	disclosed	by	Athabasca	in	reports	that	it	files	with	or	submits	under	applicable	securities	legislation	is	recorded,	processed,	summarized	
and	reported	within	the	time	periods	required.

Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting
Management	of	Athabasca	is	responsible	for	establishing	and	maintaining	adequate	internal	control	over	financial	reporting	as	such	term	is	
defined	in	the	rules	of	the	Canadian	Securities	Administrators.	The	Company’s	internal	control	over	financial	reporting	is	a	process	designed	
under	the	supervision	and	with	the	participation	of	executive	and	financial	officers	to	provide	reasonable	assurance	regarding	the	reliability	of	
financial	reporting	and	the	preparation	of	the	Company’s	financial	statements	for	external	reporting	purposes	in	accordance	with	IFRS.

The	Company’s	internal	control	over	financial	reporting	includes	policies	and	procedures	that:

•		 Pertain	 to	 the	 maintenance	 of	 records	 that,	 in	 reasonable	 detail,	 accurately	 and	 fairly	 reflect	 transactions	 and	 dispositions	 of	 assets		
of	the	Company;

•		 Provide	reasonable	assurance	that	transactions	are	recorded	as	necessary	to	permit	preparation	of	 financial	statements	 in	accordance		
with	GAAP;	and

•		 Provide	reasonable	assurance	regarding	prevention	or	timely	detection	of	unauthorized	acquisition,	use	or	disposition	of	the	Company’s	
assets	that	could	have	a	material	effect	on	the	financial	statements.

Athabasca’s	 internal	control	over	financial	reporting	may	not	prevent	or	detect	all	misstatements	because	of	 inherent	 limitations.	A	control	
system,	no	matter	how	well	conceived	or	operated,	can	provide	only	reasonable,	but	not	absolute,	assurance	that	the	objectives	of	the	control	
system	are	met.	Additionally,	projections	of	any	evaluation	of	effectiveness	to	future	periods	are	subject	to	the	risk	that	controls	may	become	
inadequate	 because	 of	 changes	 in	 conditions	 or	 deterioration	 in	 the	 degree	 of	 compliance	 with	 the	 Company’s	 policies	 and	 procedures.	
Management,	including	the	Chief	Executive	Officer	and	Chief	Financial	Officer,	assessed	the	effectiveness	of	the	Company’s	internal	control	
over	financial	reporting	as	of	December	31,	2011,	based	on	the	framework	established	in	Internal	Control	–	Integrated	Framework	issued	by	the	
Committee	of	Sponsoring	Organizations	of	the	Treadway	Commission	(COSO).	Based	on	this	assessment,	management	concluded	that	the	
Company	maintained	effective	internal	control	over	financial	reporting	as	of	December	31,	2011.	There	were	no	changes	in	the	internal	control	
over	financial	reporting	during	the	quarter	ended	December	31,	2011	that	materially	affected,	or	are	reasonably	likely	to	materially	affect,	the	
Company’s	internal	control	over	financial	reporting.
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RISK FACTORS 
Factors	currently	influencing	the	Company’s	ability	to	succeed	include,	but	are	not	limited	to,	the	following:

•	 Substantial	capital	requirements;

•	 Fluctuations	in	market	prices	of	crude	oil,	bitumen	blend	and	natural	gas;

•	 Regulatory	approvals	and	compliance;

•	 Development	schedules	and	the	risk	of	cost	over-runs;

•	 Status	and	stage	of	development;

•	 Availability	of	and	access	to	suppliers;

•	 Claims	by	Aboriginal	peoples;

•	 Variations	in	foreign	exchange	rates	and	interest	rates;

•	 Bitumen	recovery	processes;

•	 Uncertainties	associated	with	estimating	reserves	and	resources	volumes;

•	 Reliance	on,	competition	for,	loss	of	and	failure	to	attract	key	personnel;

•	 Environmental	risks	and	hazards;

•	 Environmental	regulation	compliance;	and

•		 Risk	of	changes	to	royalty	and	income	tax	regimes

For	additional	information	regarding	the	risks	and	uncertainties	to	which	the	Company	and	its	business	are	subject,	please	see	the	information	
under	 the	headings	“Forward	Looking	 Information”	below,	and	under	 the	headings	“Forward-Looking	Statements”	and	“Risk	Factors”	 in	 the	
Company’s	Annual	Information	Form	to	be	filed	by	March	31,	2012,	on	the	Company’s	SEDAR	profile	at	www.sedar.com.	

FORWARD LOOKING INFORMATION 
This	 MD&A	 contains	 forward-looking	 information	 that	 involves	 various	 risks,	 uncertainties	 and	 other	 factors.	 All	 information	 other	 than	
statements	of	historical	fact	is	forward-looking	information.	The	use	of	any	of	the	words	“anticipate,”	“plan,”	“continue,”	“estimate,”	“expect,”	
“may,”	“will,”	“project,”	“should,”	“believe,”	“predict,”	“pursue”	and	“potential”	and	similar	expressions	are	intended	to	identify	forward-looking	
information.	 The	 forward-looking	 information	 is	 not	 historical	 fact,	 but	 rather	 is	 based	 on	 the	 Company’s	 current	 plans,	 objectives,	 goals,	
strategies,	 estimates,	 assumptions	 and	 projections	 about	 the	 Company’s	 industry,	 business	 and	 future	 financial	 results.	 This	 information	
involves	known	and	unknown	 risks,	uncertainties	and	other	 factors	 that	may	cause	actual	 results	or	events	 to	differ	materially	 from	 those	
anticipated	 in	 such	 forward-looking	 information.	 No	 assurance	 can	 be	 given	 that	 these	 expectations	 will	 prove	 to	 be	 correct	 and	 such		
forward-looking	information	included	in	this	MD&A	should	not	be	unduly	relied	upon.	This	information	speaks	only	as	of	the	date	of	this	MD&A.	
In	particular,	this	MD&A	may	contain	forward-looking	 information	pertaining	to	the	following:	expected	timing	of	receipt	of	first	significant	
revenues	from	the	Company’s	assets;	expected	timing	of	closing	of	the	MacKay	River	put	option;	the	Company’s	capital	expenditure	programs;	
the	estimated	quantity	of	the	Company’s	Contingent	Resources;	the	Company’s	drilling	plans;	the	Company’s	plans	for,	and	results	of,	exploration	
and	development	activities;	the	Company’s	estimated	future	commitments;	business	plans;	development	of	the	Company’s	oil	sands	projects;	
timing	of	facilities	construction	and	production;	the	use	of	in-situ	recovery	methods	such	as	SAGD	and	TAGD	for	production	of	recoverable	
bitumen,	 including	 the	 potential	 benefits	 of	 such	 methods;	 targeted	 2012	 exit	 rate	 production;	 timing	 of	 submission	 of	 project	 regulatory	
applications;	estimated	timing	of	first	steaming,	completion	of	FEED,	selection	of	equipment	manufactures	and	internal	sanction,	as	applicable,	
of	the	Company’s	projects;	estimated	initial	and	full	production	of	the	Company’s	projects;	Athabasca’s	plans	with	respect	to	the	Light	Oil	assets	
and	the	expected	benefits	to	be	received	by	Athabasca	from	such	assets;	expectations	regarding	the	Company’s	Light	Oil	development	areas	
including	 anticipated	 production	 levels	 and	 timing	 of	 receipt	 of	 significant	 operating	 results;	 the	 timing	 for	 receipt	 of	 regulatory	 approvals;	
expected	timing	of	submission	of	an	application	for	the	Birch	project;	expected	increase	to	number	of	staff	members	in	2012;	the	focus	of	near	
term	 drilling	 or	 the	 Nordegg	 formation;	 and	 future	 accounting	 pronouncements	 and	 timing	 of	 adoption	 by	 Athabasca.	 With	 respect	 to		
forward-looking	information	contained	in	this	MD&A,	assumptions	have	been	made	regarding,	among	other	things:	the	Company’s	ability	to	
obtain	qualified	staff	and	equipment	in	a	timely	and	cost-efficient	manner;	the	regulatory	framework	governing	royalties,	taxes	and	environmental	
matters	in	the	jurisdictions	in	which	the	Company	conducts	and	will	conduct	its	business;	the	applicability	of	technologies	for	the	recovery	and	
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production	of	the	Company’s	reserves	and	resources;	future	capital	expenditures	to	be	made	by	the	Company;	future	sources	of	funding	for	the	
Company’s	capital	programs;	the	Company’s	future	debt	levels;	geological	and	engineering	estimates	in	respect	of	the	Company’s	reserves	and	
resources;	 the	 geography	 of	 the	 areas	 in	 which	 the	 Company	 is	 conducting	 exploration	 and	 development	 activities;	 the	 impact	 that	 the	
agreements	relating	to	the	PetroChina	Transaction	(the	“PetroChina	Transaction	Agreements”)	will	have	on	the	Company,	 including	on	the	
Company’s	financial	condition	and	results	of	operations;	and	the	Company’s	ability	to	obtain	financing	on	acceptable	terms.	Actual	results	could	
differ	materially	from	those	anticipated	in	this	forward-looking	information	as	a	result	of	the	risk	factors	set	forth	in	the	Company’s	Annual	
Information	Form	to	be	filed	by	March	31,	2012,	including,	but	not	limited	to:	fluctuations	in	market	prices	for	crude	oil,	natural	gas	and	bitumen	
blend;	general	economic,	market	and	business	conditions;	dependence	on	Cretaceous	as	the	joint	venture	participant	in	the	MacKay	River	and	
Dover	 oil	 sands	 projects;	 variations	 in	 foreign	 exchange	 and	 interest	 rates;	 factors	 affecting	 potential	 profitability;	 uncertainties	 inherent	 in	
estimating	quantities	of	reserves	and	resources;	Athabasca’s	status	and	stage	of	development;	uncertainties	inherent	in	SAGD,	CSS,	TAGD	and	
other	bitumen	recovery	processes;	the	potential	impact	of	the	exercise	of	the	PetroChina	Transaction	put/call	options	on	the	Company;	failure	
to	meet	the	conditions	precedent	to	the	exercise	by	the	Company	of	the	Dover	put/call	options;	failure	to	receive	regulatory	approval	for	the	
Dover,	Hangingstone,	Dover	West	Sands	or	other	oil	sands	projects	when	anticipated	or	at	all;	failure	to	obtain	necessary	regulatory	approvals	
for	completion	of	 the	put/call	option	transactions	on	the	terms	and	conditions	set	 forth	 in	the	Put/Call	Option	Agreement;	 failure	to	meet	
development	schedules	and	potential	 cost	overruns;	 increases	 in	operating	costs	can	make	projects	uneconomic;	 the	effect	of	diluent	and	
natural	gas	supply	constraints	and	increases	in	the	costs	thereof;	gas	over	bitumen	issues	affecting	operational	results;	the	potential	for	adverse	
consequences	in	the	event	that	the	Company	defaults	under	certain	of	the	PetroChina	Transaction	Agreements;	environmental	risks	and	hazards	
and	 the	cost	of	compliance	with	environmental	 regulations,	 including	greenhouse	gas	 regulations	and	potential	Canadian	and	U.S.	climate	
change	legislation;	failure	to	obtain	or	retain	key	personnel;	the	substantial	capital	requirements	of	the	Company’s	projects;	the	need	to	obtain	
regulatory	approvals	and	maintain	compliance	with	 regulatory	 requirements;	extent	of,	and	cost	of	compliance	with,	government	 laws	and	
regulations	and	 the	effect	of	 changes	 in	 such	 laws	and	 regulations	 from	 time	 to	 time;	 changes	 to	 royalty	 regimes;	political	 risks;	 failure	 to	
accurately	estimate	abandonment	and	reclamation	costs;	risks	inherent	in	the	Company’s	operations,	including	those	related	to	exploration,	
development	and	production	of	oil	sands,	crude	oil	and	natural	gas	reserves	and	resources,	including	the	production	of	oil	sands	reserves	and	
resources	using	SAGD,	CSS,	TAGD	or	other	in-situ	technologies	and	the	production	of	crude	oil	and	natural	gas	using	multi-stage	fracture	and	
other	stimulation	technologies;	the	potential	for	management	estimates	and	assumptions	to	be	inaccurate;	long	term	reliance	on	third	parties;	
reliance	on	third	party	infrastructure	for	project	facilities;	failure	by	counterparties	(including	without	limitation	Cretaceous)	to	make	payments	
or	 perform	 their	 operational	 or	 other	 obligations	 to	 the	 Company	 in	 compliance	 with	 the	 terms	 of	 contractual	 arrangements	 between	 the	
Company	and	such	counterparties	and	the	possible	consequences	thereof;	the	potential	lack	of	available	drilling	equipment	and	limitations	on	
access	to	the	Company’s	assets;	Aboriginal	claims;	seasonality;	hedging	risks;	risks	associated	with	establishing	and	maintaining	systems	of	
internal	 controls;	 insurance	 risks;	 claims	 made	 in	 respect	 of	 the	 Company’s	 operations,	 properties	 or	 assets;	 the	 potential	 for	 adverse	
consequences	as	a	result	of	the	change	of	control	provisions	in	the	PetroChina	Transaction	Agreements;	competition	for,	among	other	things,	
capital,	the	acquisition	of	reserves	and	resources,	export	pipeline	capacity	and	skilled	personnel;	the	failure	of	the	Company	or	the	holder	of	
certain	licenses	or	leases	to	meet	specific	requirements	of	such	licenses	or	leases;	risks	arising	from	future	acquisition	activities;	volatility	in	the	
market	price	of	the	common	shares;	and	the	effect	that	the	issuance	of	additional	securities	by	the	Company	could	have	on	the	market	price	of	
the	 common	 shares.	 In	 addition,	 information	 and	 statements	 in	 this	 MD&A	 relating	 to	 “reserves”	 and	 “resources”	 are	 deemed	 to	 be		
forward-looking	 information,	 as	 they	 involve	 the	 implied	 assessment,	 based	 on	 certain	 estimates	 and	 assumptions,	 that	 the	 reserves	 and	
resources	described	exist	in	the	quantities	predicted	or	estimated,	and	that	the	reserves	and	resources	described	can	be	profitably	produced	in	
the	future.	The	assumptions	relating	to	the	Company’s	reserves	and	resources	are	contained	in	the	reports	of	GLJ	Petroleum	Consultants	Ltd.	
(“GLJ”)(the	“GLJ	Report”)	and	DeGolyer	and	MacNaughton	each	dated	effective	December	31,	2011.	The	risks	and	uncertainties	referred	to	
above	are	described	in	more	detail	in	Athabasca’s	Annual	Information	Form	to	be	filed	by	March	31,	2012,	on	the	Company’s	SEDAR	profile	at	
www.sedar.com.	 Readers	 are	 cautioned	 that	 the	 foregoing	 list	 of	 risk	 factors	 should	 not	 be	 construed	 as	 exhaustive.	 The	 forward-looking	
information	included	in	this	MD&A	is	expressly	qualified	by	this	cautionary	statement	and	is	made	as	of	the	date	of	this	MD&A.	The	Company	
does	not	undertake	any	obligation	to	publicly	update	or	revise	any	forward-looking	information	except	as	required	by	applicable	securities	laws.

The	Company’s	financial	condition	and	results	of	operations	discussed	in	this	MD&A	will	not	necessarily	be	indicative	of	the	Company’s	future	
performance,	as	they	reflect	the	start-up	nature	of	the	Company’s	activities	to	date.	
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Technology Under Development 
The	 Company’s	 resources	 at	 its	 Dover	 West	 Carbonates	 and	 Grosmont	 assets	 are	 contained	 in	 carbonate	 reservoirs.	 SAGD	 and	 CSS,	 the	
proposed	 in-situ	 bitumen	 recovery	 processes	 to	 develop	 these	 assets,	 are	 considered	 by	 GLJ	 to	 be	 “technology	 under	 development”	 in	
carbonate	 reservoirs.	 The	 successful	 development	 of	 the	 Company’s	 carbonate	 reservoirs	 depends	 on,	 among	 other	 things,	 the	 successful	
development	 and	 application	 of	 SAGD	 and	 CSS	 or	 other	 recovery	 processes	 to	 carbonate	 reservoirs.	 Although	 the	 technology	 has	 been	
developed	for	application	to	non-carbonate	reservoirs,	there	are	no	known	successful	commercial	projects	that	use	SAGD	or	CSS	to	recover	
bitumen	from	carbonate	formations	and	there	exists	a	large	range	in	the	expected	recoverable	volumes,	the	lower	end	of	which	may	not	be	
economically	viable.	The	principal	risks	associated	with	SAGD	and	CSS	recovery	in	carbonate	reservoirs	are	(i)	the	possibility	of	unexpected	
steam	channeling	which	would	 increase	steam	requirements	resulting	 in	 increased	costs	and	potentially	 reduced	economically	 recoverable	
bitumen	volumes,	and	(ii)	potential	mechanical	operating	problems	due	to	production	of	fines	which	could	cause	wellbore	plugging	and	reduced	
bitumen	production	rates	and	potential	interruption	of	surface	production	operations.	Although	the	technical	risks	associated	with	“technology	
under	development”	have	been	accounted	for	in	the	GLJ	Report,	the	timeline	for	verification	of	“technology	under	development”	has	inherent	
uncertainty.	Development	will	involve	significant	capital	expenditures	and	a	lengthy	time	to	project	payout	and	project	payout	is	not	assured.		
If	 a	 pilot	 project	 and/or	 the	 technology	 under	 development	 do	 not	 demonstrate	 potential	 commerciality	 in	 carbonate	 reservoirs	 then	 the	
Company’s	projects	on	these	assets	may	not	proceed	and	this	may	occur	only	after	significant	expenditures	have	been	incurred	by	the	Company.	
With	respect	to	the	Company’s	Grosmont	asset,	the	Company	has	not	prepared	a	development	plan	or	timeline	for	the	Grosmont	area,	and	is	
monitoring	industry	activity	toward	demonstrating	successful	development	and	production	methods	for	the	Grosmont	Formation.

RESOURCE INFORMATION
The	Company’s	resource	estimates	were	prepared	using	the	assumptions	and	methodology	guidelines	outlined	in	the	COGE	Handbook	and	in	
accordance	with	National	Instrument	51-101	Standards	of	Disclosure	for	Oil	and	Gas	Activities.	

Definitions
“Contingent Resources”	are	defined	in	the	“COGE	Handbook”	as	those	quantities	of	petroleum	estimated,	as	of	a	given	date,	to	be	potentially	
recoverable	from	known	accumulations	using	established	technology	or	technology	under	development,	but	which	are	not	currently	considered	
to	be	commercially	recoverable	due	to	one	or	more	contingencies.	Contingencies	may	include	factors	such	as	economic,	legal,	environmental,	
political	 and	 regulatory	matters	or	a	 lack	of	markets.	 It	 is	also	appropriate	 to	classify	as	 “Contingent	Resources”	 the	estimated	discovered	
recoverable	quantities	associated	with	a	project	in	the	early	evaluation	stage.	Contingent	Resources	are	further	classified	in	accordance	with	
the	level	of	certainty	associated	with	the	estimates	and	may	be	subclassified	based	on	project	maturity	and/or	characterized	by	their	economic	
status.	The	volumes	of	contingent	bitumen	resources	were	calculated	at	the	outlet	of	the	proposed	extraction	plant.

“Best Estimate”	is	a	classification	of	estimated	resources	described	in	the	COGE	Handbook	as	being	considered	to	be	the	best	estimate	of	the	
quantity	that	will	actually	be	recovered.	It	is	equally	likely	that	the	actual	remaining	quantities	recovered	will	be	greater	or	less	than	the	Best	
Estimate.	If	probabilistic	methods	are	used,	there	should	be	a	50%	probability	(P50)	that	the	quantities	actually	recovered	will	equal	or	exceed	
the	Best	Estimate.

ABBREVIATIONS
API	 American	Petroleum	Institute	gravity

bbl/d	 barrels	per	day	

boe	(1)	 barrels	of	oil	equivalent	

boe/d	 barrels	of	oil	equivalent	per	day

CSS	 cyclic	steam	stimulation

FEED	 front	end	engineering	and	design

mmcf/d	 million	cubic	feet	per	day

SAGD		 steam	assisted	gravity	drainage

TAGD	 thermally	assisted	gravity	drainage

(1)	 Barrels	 of	 oil	 equivalent	 may	 be	 misleading,	 particularly	 if	 used	 in	 isolation.	 A	 boe	 conversion	 ratio	 of	 six	 thousand	 cubic	 feet	 of	 natural	 gas	 to	 one	 barrel	 of	 oil	 equivalent		
(6	mcf:	1	bbl)	is	based	on	an	energy	equivalency	conversion	method	primarily	applicable	at	the	burner	tip	and	does	not	represent	a	value	equivalency	at	the	wellhead.	As	the	value	
ratio	between	natural	gas	and	crude	oil	based	on	the	current	prices	of	natural	gas	and	crude	oil	is	significantly	different	from	the	energy	equivalency	of	6:1,	utilizing	a	conversion	
on	a	6:1	basis	may	be	misleading	as	an	indication	of	value.
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Consolidated Financial Statements
MANAGEMENT’S STATEMENT OF RESPONSIBILITY FOR FINANCIAL REPORTING

To the shareholders of Athabasca Oil Sands Corp.
Statement of Responsibility
Management	is	responsible	for	the	preparation	of	the	consolidated	financial	statements	in	accordance	with	International	Financial	Reporting	
Standards	and	 for	ensuring	that	all	other	financial	and	operating	 information	presented	 in	 this	 report	 is	consistent	with	 those	consolidated	
financial	statements.

Independent	 auditors,	 appointed	 by	 the	 Audit	 Committee,	 have	 examined	 the	 consolidated	 financial	 statements	 in	 accordance	 with		
Canadian	generally	accepted	auditing	standards.	They	have	performed	such	tests	as	they	considered	necessary	to	enable	them	to	express	an	
opinion	that	the	consolidated	financial	statements	are	presented	fairly	in	all	material	respects,	in	accordance	with	Canadian	generally	accepted	
accounting	principles.

The	Board	of	Directors	is	responsible	for	ensuring	that	Management	fulfills	its	responsibilities	for	financial	reporting	and	internal	control.	This	
responsibility	 is	exercised	 through	 the	Audit	Committee.	The	Audit	Committee	of	 the	Board	of	Directors	has	 reviewed	 these	consolidated	
financial	statements	with	Management	and	the	auditors	and	has	reported	to	the	Board	of	Directors.	The	Board	of	Directors	has	approved	the	
consolidated	financial	statements.

Sveinung Svarte J.R. (Rob) Harding 
President	&	CEO		 Vice	President	Finance	&	CFO

Calgary,	Canada	
March	14,	2012
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

To the Shareholders of Athabasca Oil Sands Corp.
We	 have	 audited	 the	 accompanying	 consolidated	 financial	 statements	 of	 Athabasca	 Oil	 Sands	 Corp.	 (the	 “Company”),	 which	 comprise	
the	consolidated	balance	sheets	as	at	December	31,	2011,	and	2010,	and	 January	 1,	2010	and	 the	consolidated	statements	of	 income	and	
comprehensive	 income,	changes	 in	equity	and	cash	flows	 for	 the	years	ended	December	31,	2011	and	2010,	and	a	summary	of	significant	
accounting	policies	and	other	explanatory	information.

Management’s responsibility for the consolidated financial statements
Management	of	the	Company	is	responsible	for	the	preparation	and	fair	presentation	of	these	consolidated	financial	statements	in	accordance	
with	International	Financial	Reporting	Standards,	and	for	such	internal	control	as	management	determines	is	necessary	to	enable	the	preparation	
of	consolidated	financial	statements	that	are	free	from	material	misstatement,	whether	due	to	fraud	or	error.

Auditors’ responsibility
Our	 responsibility	 is	 to	 express	 an	 opinion	 on	 these	 consolidated	 financial	 statements	 based	 on	 our	 audits.	 We	 conducted	 our	 audits	 in	
accordance	with	Canadian	generally	accepted	auditing	standards.	Those	standards	require	that	we	comply	with	ethical	requirements	and	plan	
and	perform	the	audit	to	obtain	reasonable	assurance	about	whether	the	consolidated	financial	statements	are	free	from	material	misstatement.

An	audit	involves	performing	procedures	to	obtain	audit	evidence	about	the	amounts	and	disclosures	in	the	consolidated	financial	statements.	
The	procedures	selected	depend	on	the	auditors’	judgment,	including	the	assessment	of	the	risks	of	material	misstatement	of	the	consolidated	
financial	statements,	whether	due	to	fraud	or	error.	 In	making	those	risk	assessments,	the	auditor	considers	 internal	control	relevant	to	the	
entity’s	preparation	and	fair	presentation	of	the	consolidated	financial	statements	in	order	to	design	audit	procedures	that	are	appropriate	in	
the	circumstances,	but	not	for	the	purpose	of	expressing	an	opinion	on	the	effectiveness	of	the	entity’s	internal	control.	An	audit	also	includes	
evaluating	the	appropriateness	of	accounting	policies	used	and	the	reasonableness	of	accounting	estimates	made	by	management,	as	well	as	
evaluating	the	overall	presentation	of	the	consolidated	financial	statements.

We	believe	that	the	audit	evidence	we	have	obtained	in	our	audits	is	sufficient	and	appropriate	to	provide	a	basis	for	our	audit	opinion.	

Opinion
In	our	opinion,	the	consolidated	financial	statements	present	fairly,	in	all	material	respects,	the	financial	position	of	Athabasca	Oil	Sands	Corp.	
as	at	December	31,	2011,	and	2010,	and	January	1,	2010	and	its	financial	performance	and	its	cash	flows	for	the	years	ended	December	31,	2011	
and	2010	in	accordance	with	International	Financial	Reporting	Standards.

Chartered accountants 
Calgary,	Canada	
March	14,	2012
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

	 	  December 31,  December 31,  January 1, 
As at ($ Thousands)	 	 2011	 2010 2010

ASSETS	 	 	 	 	  (Note 23)  (Note 23)
CURRENT	ASSETS	 	 	 	 	 	
	 Cash	and	cash	equivalents	(Note	4)	 	 	 $ 424,542	 $ 469,504 $ 140,992
	 Restricted	cash	(Note	4)	 	 	 	 25,050	  -  -
	 Short-term	investments	(Note	4)	 	 	 	 799,441	  1,334,028  -
	 Accounts	receivable	(Note	14)	 	 	  12,687	  7,624  1,062
	 Income	tax	receivable	(Note	14)	 	 	  9,376	  9,376  -
	 Prepaid	expenses	and	other	 	 	  1,166	  293  125
	 Assets	held	for	sale	(Note	5)	 	 	  671,893	  -  222,083
	 	 	 	  1,944,155	  1,820,825  364,262
	 Deferred	charges	 	 	 	 40	  50  1,003
	 Deferred	income	tax	asset	(Note	13)	 	 	 	 -	  -  106,186
	 Investments	(Note	6)	 	 	 	 865,694	  1,295,182  -
	 Property,	plant	and	equipment	(Note	8)	 	 	  347,971	  1,382  1,517
	 Exploration	and	evaluation	assets	(Note	9)	 	 	  786,926	  521,238  331,208
	 	 	  $ 3,944,786	 $ 3,638,677 $ 804,176

LIABILITIES	AND	SHAREHOLDERS’	EQUITY	 	 	 	 	 	
CURRENT	LIABILITIES	 	 	 	 	 	
	 Accounts	payable	and	accrued	liabilities		 	  $ 120,378	 $ 21,290 $ 41,231
	 Income	taxes	payable	 	 	 	 -	  -  226,194
	 Current	portion	of	long-term	debt	(Note	11)	 	 	  473,884	  -  -
	 	 	 	  594,262	  21,290  267,425
	 Long-term	debt	(Note	11)	 	 	 	 -	  449,736  398,996
	 Decommissioning	obligations	(Note	12)	 	 	  35,528	 	 24,361  506
	 Deferred	income	tax	liability	(Note	13)	 	 	  161,102	  144,463  -
	 	 	   790,892	  639,850  666,927
SHAREHOLDERS’	EQUITY	 	 	 	 	 	
	 Common	shares	(Note	16)	 	 	  1,943,362	  1,950,054  390,377
	 Warrants	(Note	16)	 	 	  6,997	  8,876  -
	 Contributed	surplus		 	 	  84,222	  62,899  47,079
	 Retained	earnings	(deficit)	 	   1,119,313	  976,998  (300,207)
	 	 	 	  3,153,894	  2,998,827  137,249
	 	 	 	 $ 3,944,786 $ 3,638,677 $ 804,176

Commitments	and	Contingencies	(Note	20)

See	accompanying	notes	to	the	consolidated	financial	statements	

Approved	by	the	Board:

William Gallacher Marshall McRae 
Director	 Director
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME AND COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 

	 	 December 31, 	 December 31, 
Year ended ($ Thousands, Except Per Share Amounts)	 	 2011	 	 2010

REVENUE	 	 	  (Note 23)
	 Interest	income		 $ 22,457	 $ 13,988
	 Petroleum	and	natural	gas	sales	 	 4,070	  743
	 Royalties	  (595)	  (32)
Total	Revenue	  25,932	  14,699
EXPENSES	 	 	 	
	 Operating	expenses	  1,541	  240
	 General	and	administrative	(Note	19)	  28,233	  14,847
	 Stock-based	compensation	(Note	17)	 	 18,597	  13,078
	 Financing	and	interest		  29,004	  32,552
	 Depreciation	and	depletion	 	 3,154	  893
	 Research	and	development		 	 -	  175
Total	expenses	 	 80,529	  61,785
	 Gain	on	sale	of	assets	(Note	5)	 	 -	  1,662,196
	 Gain	on	revaluation	of	equity	investees	(Note	6)	 	 -	  1,155,450
	 Unrealized	put	option	gain	(Note	5)	 	 216,146	  -
Income	before	income	taxes	  161,549	   2,770,560
INCOME	TAXES	(Note	13)	 	 	
	 Current	income	tax	recovery	 	 -	  (14,390)
	 Deferred	income	tax	expense		 	 14,634	  307,217
	 	 	 	 14,634	  292,827
Income	before	the	following	 	 146,915	  2,477,733
	 Equity	loss	on	investments	(Note	6)	  (4,600)	  (3,277)
Net	income	and	comprehensive	income		 $ 142,315	 $ 2,474,456

BASIC	INCOME	PER	SHARE	(Note	18)	 $ 0.36	 $ 7.10
DILUTED	INCOME	PER	SHARE	(Note	18)	 $ 0.35	 $ 7.05

See	accompanying	notes	to	the	consolidated	financial	statements	
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 

	  December 31,	  December 31, 
Year ended ($ Thousands)	 	 2011	  2010

COMMON	SHARES	(Note	16)	 	 	  (Note 23)
	 Balance,	beginning	of	year	 $ 1,950,054	 $ 390,377
	 	 Net	proceeds	from	initial	public	offering	 	 -	  1,284,985
	 	 Shares	issued	on	asset	acquisitions	(Notes	7	and	9)	 	 -	  131,063
	 	 Exercise	of	purchase	warrants	 	 -	  121,593
	 	 Exercise	of	Excelsior	Energy	replacement	warrants	(Note	7)	 	 6,060	  16,845
	 	 Exercise	of	stock	options	and	RSUs	 	 1,743	  1,768
	 	 Release	of	contingently	returnable	shares	  7,018	  3,423
	 	 Repurchase	of	common	shares	 	 (21,513)	  -
	 Balance,	end	of	year	 	 1,943,362	  1,950,054
	 	 	 	
WARRANTS	(Note	16)
	 Balance,	beginning	of	year	 	 8,876	  -
	 	 Issuance	of	Excelsior	Energy	replacement	warrants	(Note	7)		 	 -	  14,182
	 	 Exercise	of	Excelsior	Energy	replacement	warrants	(Note	7)	 	 (1,879)	  (5,306)
	 Balance,	end	of	year	  6,997	  8,876
	 	 	 	
CONTRIBUTED	SURPLUS	 	 	 	
	 Balance,	beginning	of	year	 	 62,899 	 47,079
	 	 Stock-based	compensation	 	 29,038  19,651
	 	 Exercise	of	stock	options	and	RSUs	 	 (697)	  (408)
	 	 Release	of	contingently	returnable	shares	  (7,018)	  (3,423)
	 Balance,	end	of	year	 	 84,222	  62,899
	 	 	 	
RETAINED	EARNINGS	(DEFICIT)	 	 	 	
	 Balance,	beginning	of	year	 	 976,998  (300,207)
	 	 Dividend	paid	($4.25	per	share)	 	 -  (1,332,299)
	 	 Refundable	dividend	tax	credit	on	dividends		 	 -	  135,048
	 	 Net	income		  142,315	  2,474,456

Balance,	end	of	year	  1,119,313	  976,998
TOTAL	SHAREHOLDERS’	EQUITY	 $ 3,153,894	 $ 2,998,827

See	accompanying	notes	to	the	consolidated	financial	statements	
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 

	  December 31,	  December 31, 
 Year ended ($ Thousands)	  2011	  2010

OPERATING	ACTIVITIES	 	 	  (Note 23)
Net	income		 $ 142,315	 $ 2,474,456
Items	not	affecting	cash	 	 	 	
	 Stock-based	compensation	(Note	17)	 	 18,597  13,078
	 Deferred	income	tax	expense	 	 14,634	  307,217
	 Non-cash	financing	and	interest	 	 2,246	  1,276
	 Depreciation	and	depletion	 	 3,154	  893
	 Equity	loss	on	investments	(Note	6)	 	 4,600	  3,277
	 Gain	on	revaluation	of	equity	investee	(Note	6)	 	 -	  (1,155,450)
	 Gain	on	sale	of	assets	(Note	5)	 	 -	  (1,662,196)
	 Unrealized	put	option	gain	(Note	5)	  (216,146)	 	 -
	 Other	non-cash	expenses	 	 1,021	 	 -
	 	 	 	 (29,579)	  (17,449)
	 Changes	in	non-cash	working	capital	(Note	22)	  14,043	  707
	 	 	 	 (15,536)  (16,742)
FINANCING	ACTIVITIES	 	 	 	
	 Proceeds	from	equity	instrument	issuances	(Note	16)	 	 5,227  1,397,006
	 Dividends	paid	on	common	shares	 	 -	  (1,332,299)
	 Changes	to	long-term	deferred	charges	 	 -	  942
	 Repayment	of	senior	secured	notes	(Note	11)	 	 -	  (400,000)
	 Proceeds	from	long-term	debt	(Note	11)	 	 24,148	 	 449,736
	 Repurchase	of	common	shares	(Note	16)	 	 (21,513)	 	 -
	 Changes	in	non-cash	working	capital	(Note	22)	 	 -	  (135,742)
	 	 	 	 7,862	  (20,357)
INVESTING	ACTIVITIES	 	 	 	
	 Net	proceeds	from	sale	of	assets	(Note	5)	 	 -	  1,884,701
	 Additions	to	exploration	and	evaluation	assets	 	 (587,491)	  (177,180)
	 Additions	to	property,	plant	and	equipment		  (6,122)  (758)
	 Additions	to	assets	held	for	sale	 	 (15,922)  (671)
	 Contributions	to	investments	  (12,414)	  (26,298)
	 Increase	in	restricted	cash	 	 (25,050)  -
	 (Increase)	decrease	in	short-term	investments	 	 534,587	 	 (1,310,128)
	 Acquisition	of	Excelsior	Energy	(Note	7)	 	 -	  (10,957)
	 Changes	in	non-cash	working	capital	(Note	22)	  75,124  6,902
	 	 	 	 (37,288)	 	 365,611
NET	INCREASE	(DECREASE)	IN	CASH	AND	CASH	EQUIVALENTS	 	 (44,962)	 	 328,512
CASH	AND	CASH	EQUIVALENTS,	BEGINNING	OF	YEAR	  469,504	 	 140,992
CASH	AND	CASH	EQUIVALENTS,	END	OF	YEAR	 $ 424,542	 $ 469,504

See	accompanying	notes	to	the	consolidated	financial	statements
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
As	at	and	for	year	ended	December	31,	2011

(Canadian	dollars,	tabular	amounts	are	in	thousands	except	as	otherwise	noted)	

Financial Statement Note Page	

1		 Nature	of	business		 52
2		 Basis	of	presentation	 52
3	 Summary	of	significant	accounting	policies	 53
4		 Cash	and	cash	equivalents,	restricted	cash	and	short-term	investments	 58
5	 Assets	held	for	sale		 58
6		 Investments	 59
7	 Acquisition	of	Excelsior	Energy	 60
8	 Property,	plant	and	equipment	 60
9	 Exploration	and	evaluation	assets	 61
10	 Segmented	information	 62
11	 Long-term	debt	 63
12	 Decommissioning	obligations	 64
13	 Income	taxes	 65
14	 Financial	instruments	 66
15	 Capital	management	 68
16	 Share	capital	 69
17	 Stock-based	compensation	 70
18	 Per	share	computations	 72
19	 General	and	administrative	expenses	 72
20	 Commitments	and	contingencies	 73
21	 Related	party	transactions	 73
22	 Supplemental	cash	flow	information	 74
23	 First	time	adoption	of	IFRS	 74

1. NATURE OF BUSINESS 
Athabasca	 Oil	 Sands	 Corp.	 (“Athabasca”	 or	 the	 “Company”)	 was	 incorporated	 on	 August	 23,	 2006	 under	 the	 laws	 governing	 the	
Province	of	Alberta.	Athabasca	 is	 in	business	 to	develop	and	produce	oil	 resource	plays	 in	Alberta,	Canada.	The	domicile	of	 the	Company		
is	2000,	250	–	6th	Avenue	SW,	Calgary,	Alberta.	The	Company	is	publicly	traded	on	the	Toronto	Stock	Exchange	under	the	symbol	“ATH.”	

2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION
These	 consolidated	 financial	 statements	 have	 been	 prepared	 in	 accordance	 with	 International	 Financial	 Reporting	 Standards	 (“IFRS”)	 as	
issued	 by	 the	 International	 Accounting	 Standards	 Board	 (“IASB”)	 and	 are	 Athabasca’s	 first	 annual	 statements	 prepared	 in	 accordance	
with	 IFRS.	 Previously,	 the	 Company	 prepared	 financial	 statements	 in	 accordance	 with	 Canadian	 generally	 accepted	 accounting	 principles		
(“previous	GAAP”).	The	former	Canadian	standards	were	replaced	by	IFRS	effective	for	years	beginning	on	or	after	January	1,	2011	for	publicly	
accountable	 enterprises.	 See	 Note	 23	 for	 reconciliations	 of	 the	 Company’s	 previous	 GAAP	 amounts	 to	 IFRS.	 These	 consolidated	 financial	
statements	have	been	prepared	on	the	historical	cost	basis,	except	for	financial	instruments	which	are	measured	at	their	estimated	fair	value.	
These	consolidated	financial	statements	were	authorized	for	issue	by	the	Board	of	Directors	on	March	14,	2012.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
Principles of Consolidation
These	consolidated	financial	statements	reflect	the	activities	of	the	Company	and	its	wholly	owned	subsidiaries.	Intercompany	transactions	
and	balances	are	eliminated	upon	consolidation.	The	Company	accounts	for	its	investments	in	the	MacKay	River	and	Dover	joint	ventures	as	
equity	investments	in	accordance	with	IAS	28	Investments	in	Associates.	Management	has	made	an	assessment	under	IAS	27	Consolidated	and	
Separate	Financial	Statements,	IAS	31	Interest	in	Joint	Ventures	and	SIC	12	Consolidated-Special	Purpose	Entities	and	determined	that	Athabasca	does	
not	control	or	jointly	control	its	interests	in	these	joint	ventures	as	Athabasca	does	not	presently	have	exposure	to	the	majority	of	associated	
benefits	or	risks.	

The	MacKay	River	and	Dover	joint	ventures	are	investments	in	which	the	Company	has	significant	influence	and	are	accounted	for	as	long-term	
investments	using	the	equity	method	of	accounting	whereby	the	carrying	value	of	the	investment	is	increased	or	decreased	for	the	Company’s	
percentage	of	net	income	or	loss,	reduced	by	dividends	paid	to	the	Company,	and	increased	or	decreased	to	reflect	the	Company’s	share	of	
capital	transactions.	As	a	result	of	the	exercise	of	the	MacKay	River	Put	Option	in	December	of	2011,	the	MacKay	River	investment	is	presented	
as	an	asset	held	for	sale	on	the	consolidated	balance	sheet	as	at	December	31,	2011.	Refer	to	Note	5	and	Note	6	for	additional	information.

Joint Ventures
Athabasca	undertakes	certain	business	activities	through	joint	ventures.	A	joint	venture	is	established	under	contractual	arrangement	whereby	
two	or	more	parties	undertake	an	economic	activity	that	is	subject	to	joint	control.	Joint	control	is	the	contractually	agreed	sharing	of	control	
over	an	economic	activity,	and	exists	only	when	the	strategic	financial	and	operating	decisions	relating	to	the	activity	require	the	unanimous	
consent	of	the	parties	sharing	control.	The	Grosmont	joint	venture	is	accounted	for	as	jointly	controlled	assets	whereby	Athabasca	recognizes	
its	proportionate	share	of	assets,	liabilities,	income	and	expenses	that	arise	from	the	joint	venture.	As	discussed	in	principles	of	consolidation	
above,	the	Dover	project	is	currently	accounted	for	as	an	investment	using	the	equity	method	and	the	MacKay	River	project	is	presented	as	an	
asset	held	for	sale.

Significant Accounting Estimates and Judgments
The	 preparation	 of	 the	 consolidated	 financial	 statements	 requires	 management	 to	 make	 estimates	 and	 assumptions.	 These	 estimates	 and	
assumptions	affect	the	reported	amounts	of	assets	and	liabilities,	the	disclosure	of	contingent	assets	and	liabilities	at	the	date	of	the	consolidated	
financial	statements	and	the	reported	amounts	of	revenues	and	expenses	during	the	applicable	reporting	period.	These	estimates	relate	to	
unsettled	transactions	and	events	as	of	the	date	of	the	consolidated	financial	statements	and	may	differ	from	actual	results	as	future	confirming	
events	occur.	Estimates	and	underlying	assumptions	are	reviewed	by	management	on	an	ongoing	basis.	Revisions	to	accounting	estimates	are	
recognized	prospectively	in	the	year	in	which	the	estimates	are	revised.

Amounts	used	for	the	impairment	and	depletion	calculations	are	based	on	estimates	of	bitumen	and	oil	and	gas	reserves	and	resources,	future	
commodity	prices	and	future	costs	required	to	develop	and	produce	reserves	and	resources.	The	fair	value	calculation	of	decommissioning	
obligations	is	based	upon	numerous	assumptions	and	judgments	including	the	ultimate	settlement	amounts,	inflation	factors,	credit-adjusted	
discount	rates,	timing	of	settlement	and	changes	in	the	legal,	regulatory,	environmental	and	political	environments.	

The	provision	for	 income	taxes	is	based	on	judgments	in	applying	income	tax	law	and	estimates	on	the	timing	and	likelihood	of	reversal	of	
temporary	differences	between	the	accounting	and	tax	bases	of	assets	and	liabilities.	Athabasca	has	had	significant	taxable	events	in	the	past	
and	the	tax	authorities	have	not	concluded	on	Athabasca’s	tax	treatment	of	each	event.	

Stock-based	compensation	is	based	upon	expected	volatility,	option	life	estimates	and	estimated	forfeiture	rates.	

In	the	fourth	quarter	of	2011,	the	MacKay	River	oil	sands	project	received	regulatory	approval	and	Athabasca	exercised	its	put	option	to	sell	its	
remaining	40%	interest	in	the	MacKay	River	project	(Note	5).	As	a	result	of	the	option	exercise,	Athabasca	was	able	to	reliably	measure	the	
value	of	the	MacKay	River	put/call	option	based	on	the	terms	of	the	put/call	option	agreement.	

Athabasca	 has	 determined	 that	 the	 net	 value	 of	 the	 Dover	 Put/Call	 Option	 (Note	 14(c)),	 unaffected	 by	 the	 exercise	 of	 the	 MacKay	 River	
put	option,	continues	not	to	be	reliably	measurable	given	uncertainty	surrounding	the	receipt	and	timing	of	regulatory	approval,	the	project’s	
reserves	and	resources	and	related	future	cash	flow	estimates,	the	likelihood	of	either	party	exercising	their	option	and	the	tax	effect	of	exercise.	
At	each	reporting	period,	Athabasca	continues	to	assess	whether	new	information	exists	that	would	allow	the	Company	to	reliably	measure	
the	value	of	the	Dover	Put/Call	Options.	

All	of	these	estimates	are	subject	to	measurement	uncertainty	and	changes	in	these	estimates	could	materially	impact	the	financial	statements	
of	future	periods.
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Segment Reporting
The	Company’s	operating	segments	are	determined	based	on	differences	in	the	nature	of	their	operations,	products	sold,	economic	characteristics,	
regulatory	environments	and	management	responsibility.	Operating	segments	have	been	aggregated	based	on	similar	characteristics	as	follows:

•	 Oil	sands	–	includes	the	Company’s	assets,	liabilities	and	operating	results	for	the	exploration,	development	and	production	of	bitumen	
from	sand	and	carbonate	rock	formations	located	in	the	Athabasca	region	of	Northern	Alberta.

•	 Light	oil	–	includes	the	Company’s	assets,	liabilities	and	operating	results	for	the	exploration,	development	and	production	of	conventional	
oil,	natural	gas	and	natural	gas	liquids	located	in	various	regions	throughout	the	province	of	Alberta.

Segment	results,	assets	and	liabilities	include	items	directly	attributable	to	a	segment	and	those	items	that	can	be	allocated	on	a	reasonable	
basis.	Unallocated	items	are	comprised	mainly	of	corporate	assets,	head	office	expenses,	interest	revenues,	and	income	tax	assets	and	liabilities.	
Segmented	information	is	presented	in	Note	10.

Financial Instruments
All	financial	 instruments	are	 initially	 recognized	at	 fair	value	on	the	consolidated	balance	sheet.	The	Company	has	classified	each	financial	
instrument	into	the	following	categories:	“held-for-trading”;	“loans	and	receivables”	and	“other	financial	liabilities.”	Subsequent	measurement	of	
the	financial	instruments	is	based	on	their	classification.	Unrealized	gains	and	losses	on	held-for-trading	financial	instruments	are	recognized	in	
income.	The	other	categories	of	financial	instruments	are	recognized	at	amortized	cost	using	the	effective	interest	rate	method.	The	Company	
has	classified	its	financial	instruments	as	follows:

Financial Assets and Liabilities	 	 	 	 Classification

Cash,	cash	equivalents	and	restricted	cash	 	 	 Held-for-trading
Short-term	investments	 	 	 Held-for-trading
MacKay	River	put	option	 	 	 Held-for-trading
Accounts	receivable	 	 	 Loans	and	receivables
Accounts	payable	and	accrued	liabilities	 	 	Other	financial	liabilities
Long-term	debt	 	 	Other	financial	liabilities

Transaction	costs	for	all	financial	assets	and	liabilities	are	expensed	as	incurred,	with	the	exception	of	long-term	debt.	Transaction	costs	related	
to	long-term	debt	are	included	in	the	initial	fair	value	and	the	instruments	are	carried	at	amortized	cost	using	the	effective	interest	rate	method.	

Cash, Cash Equivalents, Restricted Cash and Short-term Investments
Cash	and	cash	equivalents	consist	of	cash	and	investments	in	money	market	instruments	with	an	initial	maturity	date	of	three	months	or	less.	

Restricted	cash	consists	of	cash	on	deposit	which	is	not	available	for	immediate	use.	Restricted	cash	is	presented	as	a	separate	asset	on	the	
balance	sheet	and	classified	as	current	unless	the	cash	is	restricted	from	being	exchanged	or	used	to	settle	a	liability	for	at	least	12	months	after	
the	reporting	period,	in	which	case,	it	will	be	presented	as	long-term.

Short-term	investments	consist	of	investments	in	money	market	instruments	with	an	initial	maturity	date	of	more	than	three	months	but	a	
maturity	date	of	less	than	12	months	at	the	balance	sheet	date.	

Exploration and Evaluation (“E&E”) Assets
Costs	of	exploring	for	and	evaluating	oil	and	gas	activities,	including	lease	acquisition	costs,	exploratory	drilling	to	delineate	resource	formations,	
geological	and	geophysical	costs,	engineering,	licensing	and	regulatory	fees,	carrying	charges	on	non	productive	assets	and	employee	salaries	
and	stock	based	compensation	directly	related	to	exploration	and	evaluation	activities	are	initially	capitalized.	Exploration	and	evaluation	costs	
do	not	 include	general	prospecting	or	evaluation	costs	 incurred	prior	to	having	obtained	the	 legal	rights	to	explore	an	area,	these	costs	are	
expensed	directly	to	the	income	statement	as	they	are	incurred.

Exploration	and	evaluation	assets	are	tested	for	impairment	at	each	reporting	date	when	facts	and	circumstances	suggest	that	the	carrying	
amount	exceeds	the	recoverable	amount.	Impairment	tests	are	performed	on	cash-generating	units	which	are	determined	by	the	Company	to	
be	at	the	project	level	for	oil	sand	assets	and	at	the	area	level	for	conventional	oil	and	gas	assets.	Such	cash-generating	units	are	not	larger	than	
an	operating	segment.	Tangible	assets	acquired	and	utilized	to	develop	an	exploration	and	evaluation	asset	are	recorded	as	part	of	the	cost	of	
the	E&E	asset.	
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E&E	assets	are	carried	at	cost	until	technical	feasibility	and	commercial	viability	of	extracting	a	mineral	resource	is	considered	to	be	determined.	
The	technical	feasibility	and	commercial	viability	of	oil	sands	activities	is	considered	to	be	achieved	when	proved	reserves	are	determined	to	
exist	and	the	Company	has	received	approvals	to	proceed	with	commercial	development	by	the	Board	of	Directors	and	regulatory	authorities.	
The	technical	feasibility	and	commercial	viability	of	conventional	petroleum	and	natural	gas	activities	is	considered	to	be	achieved	when	proved	
reserves	are	determined	to	exist	and	the	Company	has	received	approval	to	proceed	with	commercial	development	by	the	Board	of	Directors.	
Upon	technical	 feasibility	and	commercial	viability	being	established,	E&E	assets	are	first	 tested	 for	 impairment	and	 then	 reclassified	 from	
exploration	and	evaluation	assets	to	property,	plant	and	equipment.

Property, Plant and Equipment (“PP&E”)
Items	 of	 property,	 plant	 and	 equipment	 are	 measured	 using	 historical	 cost	 less	 any	 accumulated	 impairment	 losses.	 The	 initial	 cost	 of	 an	
asset	comprises	its	purchase	price,	any	cost	directly	attributable	to	bringing	the	asset	to	the	location	and	condition	necessary	for	its	intended	
use	and	an	initial	estimate	of	the	cost	of	dismantling	and	removing	the	item	and	restoring	the	site	on	which	it	is	located.	Included	in	PP&E	are	
assets	 that	have	been	 transferred	 from	exploration	and	evaluation	upon	 the	establishment	of	commercial	viability	and	 technical	 feasibility.		
Once	 Athabasca’s	 projects	 are	 available	 for	 use	 in	 the	 manner	 intended	 by	 management,	 they	 will	 be	 depreciated	 over	 their	 useful	 life	 or	
depleted	using	the	unit	of	production	method.	

Property,	 plant	 and	 equipment	 is	 tested	 for	 impairment	 at	 each	 reporting	 date	 when	 facts	 and	 circumstances	 suggest	 that	 the	 carrying		
amount	exceeds	the	recoverable	amount.	Impairment	tests	are	performed	on	cash-generating	units	which	are	determined	by	the	Company	to	
be	at	the	project	level	for	oil	sands	assets	and	at	the	area	level	for	conventional	oil	and	gas	assets.	Such	cash-generating	units	are	not	larger		
than	an	operating	segment.

The	 Company	 is	 in	 the	 early	 stages	 of	 developing	 its	 oil	 sands	 assets	 and	 the	 assets	 are	 not	 yet	 ready	 for	 use;	 therefore,	 no	 depletion	 or	
depreciation	 has	 been	 recorded	 with	 respect	 to	 the	 related	 oil	 sands	 capitalized	 expenditures	 to	 date.	 Light	 oil	 assets	 in	 the	 year	 that		
they	 became	 ready	 for	 use	 in	 the	 manner	 intended	 by	 management	 had	 depletion	 recorded	 against	 the	 related	 capitalized	 expenditures		
to	date.	Depreciation	of	corporate	assets	is	calculated	using	the	straight-line	method	over	the	estimated	useful	life	of	the	asset,	ranging	from	
one	to	ten	years.

Research and Development
The	 Company	 engages	 in	 research	 and	 development	 activities	 to	 develop	 or	 improve	 processes	 and	 techniques	 to	 extract	 oil	 from	 oil	
sands	 deposits.	 Athabasca	 also	 performs	 research	 over	 light	 oil	 extraction	 techniques	 such	 as	 horizontal	 drilling	 in	 shale	 oil	 and	 gas	
mineral	formations.	Research	involves	planned	investigation	with	the	goal	of	attaining	new	knowledge	and	is	not	directly	related	to	specific		
E&E	projects.	Development	involves	translating	that	knowledge	into	a	new	technology	or	process.	

Research	costs	are	expensed	as	incurred.	Development	costs	are	capitalized	with	exploration	and	evaluation	assets	as	the	Company	assesses	
commercial	 viability	 and	 technical	 feasibility.	 These	 costs	 are	 capitalized	 until	 the	 development	 is	 ready	 for	 use,	 considered	 to	 be	 the	
commencement	of	commercial	operations	or	production.	Otherwise,	development	costs	are	expensed	as	incurred.	Development	costs	include	
directly	attributable,	but	not	incidental,	pre-operating	revenues	and	costs.

Capitalized Borrowing Costs
The	proportion	of	borrowing	costs	that	relates	to	qualifying	assets	is	capitalized	per	IAS	23	Borrowing	Costs.	A	qualifying	asset	is	an	asset	
that	has	probable	future	economic	benefit	and	necessarily	takes	a	substantial	period	of	time	to	get	ready	for	its	intended	use.	As	Athabasca’s	
oil	sands	exploration	and	evaluation	assets	have	not	yet	proven	commercial	viability	and	technical	feasibility,	they	are	not	qualifying	assets.	
Athabasca’s	light	oil	property,	plant	and	equipment	assets	are	not	qualifying	assets	because	they	do	not	take	a	substantial	period	of	time	to	get	
ready	for	their	intended	use.	Athabasca	currently	does	not	capitalize	borrowing	costs.

Provisions and Decommissioning Obligations
A	provision	is	recognized	if,	as	a	result	of	a	past	event,	the	Company	has	a	present	legal	or	constructive	obligation	that	can	be	estimated	reliably,	
and	it	is	probable	that	an	outflow	of	economic	benefits	will	be	required	to	settle	the	obligation.	Provisions	are	determined	by	discounting	the	
expected	future	cash	flows	at	a	pre-tax	rate	that	reflects	current	market	assessments	of	the	time	value	of	money	and	the	risks	specific	to	the	
liability.	The	Company’s	oil	and	gas	activities	give	rise	to	dismantling,	decommissioning	and	site	disturbance	remediation	activities.	Provisions	
are	made	for	the	estimated	cost	of	site	restoration	and	capitalized	to	the	corresponding	asset.	
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Decommissioning	obligations	are	measured	at	the	present	value	of	management’s	best	estimate	of	expenditure	required	to	settle	the	obligation.	
The	 present	 value	 is	 determined	 using	 risk-adjusted	 expenditure	 estimates	 and	 the	 Company’s	 credit-adjusted	 risk-free	 discount	 rate.	
Subsequent	to	initial	measurement,	the	obligation	is	adjusted	at	the	end	of	each	period	to	reflect	the	passage	of	time,	changes	in	the	estimated	
future	cash	flows	underlying	the	obligation	and	changes	in	discount	rates.	The	increase	in	the	obligation	due	to	the	passage	of	time	is	recognized	
as	a	finance	cost	whereas	changes	due	to	revisions	in	the	estimated	future	cash	flows	and	discount	rate	are	capitalized.	Actual	costs	incurred	
upon	settlement	of	the	obligations	are	charged	against	the	provision	to	the	extent	the	provision	was	established.

Revenue Recognition
Revenue	 earned	 from	 the	 sale	 of	 petroleum	 and	 natural	 gas	 products	 is	 recognized	 when	 title	 passes	 from	 Athabasca	 to	 the	 customer.		
Royalty	expenses	are	recognized	as	production	is	incurred.	Interest	income	is	recorded	as	cash	equivalents	and	short-term	investments	mature.	
For	outstanding	 investments	that	mature	 in	 future	periods,	 revenue	 is	accrued	up	to	and	 including	the	final	day	of	 the	applicable	reporting		
period	based	on	the	terms	and	conditions	of	the	individual	instruments.	

Income Taxes
Income	tax	expense	is	comprised	of	current	and	deferred	tax.	Income	tax	expense	is	recognized	in	the	statement	of	comprehensive	income	
except	to	the	extent	that	it	relates	to	items	recognized	directly	in	equity,	in	which	case	it	is	recognized	in	equity.	Current	tax	is	the	expected	tax	
payable	(receivable)	on	the	taxable	income	(loss)	for	the	period,	using	tax	rates	enacted	or	substantively	enacted	at	the	reporting	date,	and	any	
adjustment	to	tax	payable	in	respect	of	previous	years.	

Deferred	tax	is	recognized	using	the	balance	sheet	method,	providing	for	temporary	differences	between	the	carrying	amounts	of	assets	and	
liabilities	for	financial	reporting	purposes	and	the	amounts	used	for	taxation	purposes.	Deferred	tax	is	not	recognized	on	the	initial	recognition	
of	assets	or	liabilities	in	a	transaction	that	is	not	a	business	combination	and	does	not	affect	profit.	Deferred	tax	is	measured	at	the	tax	rates	that	
are	expected	to	be	applied	to	temporary	differences	when	they	reverse,	based	on	the	laws	that	have	been	enacted	or	substantively	enacted	at	
the	reporting	date.	

Deferred	tax	assets	and	liabilities	are	offset	if	there	is	a	legally	enforceable	right	to	offset,	and	they	relate	to	income	taxes	levied	by	the	same	
tax	authority	on	the	same	taxable	entity,	or	on	different	tax	entities,	but	the	Company	intends	to	settle	current	tax	liabilities	and	assets	on	a	net	
basis	or	the	tax	assets	and	liabilities	will	be	realized	simultaneously.	A	deferred	tax	asset	is	recognized	to	the	extent	that	it	is	probable	that	future	
taxable	profits	will	be	available	against	which	the	temporary	difference	can	be	utilized.	Deferred	tax	assets	are	reviewed	at	each	reporting	date	
and	are	reduced	to	the	extent	that	it	is	no	longer	probable	that	the	related	tax	benefit	will	be	realized.

Athabasca	also	recognizes	deferred	tax	liabilities	on	temporary	differences	associated	with	investments	unless	the	Company	is	able	to	control	
the	timing	of	the	reversal	of	the	temporary	differences	and	it	is	probable	that	they	will	not	reverse	in	the	foreseeable	future.	

Stock-based Compensation
The	Company’s	stock-based	compensation	plans	for	employees,	directors,	and	consultants	consist	of	stock	options	and	restricted	share	units.	
Athabasca	also	has	issued	and	outstanding	incentive	shares	granted	under	legacy	plans	which	are	held	in	trust	until	they	are	vested.	At	the	
grant	date	the	Company	uses	the	fair	value	method	to	account	for	securities	issued	as	part	of	its	stock-based	compensation	plans.	The	fair	
value	is	recorded	as	stock-based	compensation	over	the	vesting	period	with	a	corresponding	amount	reflected	in	contributed	surplus.	When	
stock	options	are	exercised,	the	cash	proceeds	along	with	the	amount	previously	recorded	as	contributed	surplus	are	recorded	as	share	capital.

The	 stock-based	 compensation	 fair	 value	 is	 determined	 using	 an	 estimated	 forfeiture	 rate.	 Compensation	 ultimately	 recognized	 is	 revised		
in	 subsequent	 periods	 to	 reflect	 the	 final	 grant	 amounts.	 For	 employees	 and	 consultants	 who	 are	 working	 on	 specific	 capital	 projects,	 the		
stock-based	compensation	is	allocated	to	exploration	and	evaluation	assets	or	property,	plant	and	equipment.	For	the	remainder	of	employees,	
the	compensation	is	expensed.

Per Share Amounts
Basic	 income	 per	 share	 is	 calculated	 by	 dividing	 net	 income	 by	 the	 weighted	 average	 number	 of	 common	 shares	 outstanding	 during	 the	
period.	Diluted	 income	per	share	reflects	the	potential	dilution	that	would	occur	 if	dilutive	securities	were	exercised	or	released	from	trust.		
To	determine	the	dilutive	effect	of	its	dilutive	instruments,	the	Company	assumes	that	proceeds	received	from	the	exercise	of	“in-the-money”	
equity	instruments	are	used	to	repurchase	common	shares.	In	any	period	in	which	there	is	a	loss,	per	share	amounts	are	calculated	excluding	
potentially	dilutive	securities.	Shares	held	in	trust	and	contingently	returnable	to	the	Company	have	been	excluded	from	basic	income	per	share	
and	included	as	dilutive	securities.
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Leases
The	determination	of	whether	an	arrangement	is,	or	contains	a	lease	is	based	on	the	substance	of	the	arrangement	at	the	inception	date	of	the	
contract.	Leases	which	transfer	substantially	all	the	risks	and	rewards	of	ownership	to	Athabasca	are	classified	as	finance	leases.	Finance	leases	
are	recognized	at	the	lower	of	the	fair	value	of	the	leased	property	or	the	present	value	of	the	minimum	lease	payments	and	are	depreciated	
over	the	shorter	of	the	estimated	useful	life	of	the	asset	and	the	lease	term.	Other	leases	are	classified	as	operating	leases	and	payments	are	
recognized	as	an	expense	in	the	period	incurred.	As	at	December	31,	2011,	Athabasca	does	not	have	any	finance	leases.

Future Accounting Pronouncements
Financial	Instruments

In	November	2009,	the	International	Accounting	Standards	Board	(“IASB”)	issued	IFRS	9	Financial	Instruments.	The	standard	was	expanded	
in	 October	 2010.	 The	 new	 standard	 is	 the	 first	 phase	 of	 three	 to	 replace	 IAS	 39	 Financial	 Instruments:	 Recognition	 and	 Measurement.		
This	standard	 replaces	 the	current	approach	 to	classification	and	measurement	of	financial	assets	and	 liabilities	and	uses	a	model	of	only	
two	classification	categories:	fair	value	or	amortized	cost.	The	standard	also	clarifies	the	use	of	a	single	impairment	method	when	evaluating	
financial	instruments.	The	adoption	of	this	standard	is	not	expected	to	have	a	significant	impact.	Athabasca	will	be	required	to	adopt	IFRS	9	on	
January	1,	2015.

Consolidated	Financial	Statements

In	May	2011,	the	IASB	issued	IFRS	10	Consolidated	Financial	Statements.	IFRS	10	creates	a	standard	definition	of	control	focusing	on	power	to	
direct	activities	and	variable	returns.	This	new	control	definition	replaces	those	found	in	IAS	27	Consolidated	and	Separate	Financial	Statements	
and	SIC	12	Consolidation	–	Special	Purpose	Entities.	The	standard	is	effective	for	interim	and	annual	financial	statements	beginning	on	or	after	
January	1,	2013.	The	Company	is	currently	assessing	the	impact	of	IFRS	10	on	its	consolidated	financial	statements.

Joint	Arrangements

In	 May	 2011,	 the	 IASB	 issued	 IFRS	 11	 Joint	 Arrangements.	 The	 standard	 classifies	 joint	 arrangements	 as	 either	 joint	 operations	 or	 joint	
ventures,	based	on	the	rights	and	obligations	of	the	participants.	Equity	accounting	is	required	for	joint	ventures	while	for	joint	operations	each	
participant	recognizes	their	share	of	rights	and	obligations.	IFRS	11	is	effective	for	interim	and	annual	financial	statements	beginning	on	or	after		
January	1,	2013.	The	Company	is	currently	assessing	the	impact	of	IFRS	11	on	its	consolidated	financial	statements.

Disclosure	of	Interests	in	Other	Entities

In	May	2011,	the	IASB	issued	IFRS	12	Disclosure	of	Interests	in	Other	Entities	which	requires	the	disclosure	of	information	that	enables	users	
of	 financial	 statements	 to	 evaluate	 the	 nature	 of,	 and	 risks	 associated	 with	 its	 interests	 in	 other	 entities	 and	 the	 effects	 of	 those	 interests	
on	 a	 Company’s	 financial	 position,	 financial	 performance	 and	 cash	 flows.	 Athabasca	 will	 be	 required	 to	 adopt	 IFRS	 12	 on	 January	 1,	 2013.		
The	Company	is	currently	assessing	the	impact	of	IFRS	12	on	its	consolidated	financial	statements.

Fair	Value	Measurement

In	May	2011,	the	IASB	issued	IFRS	13	Fair	Value	Measurement	which	provides	guidance	on	the	measurement	of	fair	value	and	related	disclosures.	
The	standard	aims	to	improve	consistency	and	reduce	complexity	by	providing	a	precise	definition	of	fair	value	and	a	single	source	of	fair	value	
measurement	and	disclosure	requirements	for	use	across	IFRSs.	IFRS	13	is	effective	for	interim	and	annual	financial	statements	beginning	on	or	
after	January	1,	2013.	The	Company	is	currently	assessing	the	impact	of	IFRS	13	on	its	consolidated	financial	statements.
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4. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, RESTRICTED CASH AND SHORT-TERM INVESTMENTS	

	 	  Term Interest  
    (Days) Rates (%) Amount

AS	AT	DECEMBER	31,	2011	 	 	 	
Cash	 	 	  –  0.50 – 1.24 $ 144,879
Cash	equivalents	 	 	  89 – 90  1.41 – 1.46  279,663
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 424,542
Restricted	cash	 	 	  365  1.24  25,050
Short-term	investments	 	 	  91 – 365  1.29 – 1.63  799,441
Total	 	 	     $ 1,249,033

AS	AT	DECEMBER	31,	2010	 	 	 	
	 Cash	 	 	  –  1.00 – 1.24 $ 243,504
	 Cash	equivalents	 	 	  62 – 90  1.41 – 1.47  226,000
	 	 	 	 	     469,504
	 Short-term	investments	 	 	 	 91 – 367  0.73 – 1.71  1,334,028
Total	 	 	 	 	 	  $ 1,803,532

AS	AT	JANUARY	1,	2010	 	 	 	
Cash	 	 	 	 –  0.25 – 0.40 $ 140,992

Restricted	cash	consists	of	cash	on	deposit	which	is	used	to	secure	access	to	a	revolving	senior	secured	demand	credit	facility	(see	Note	11).		
As	at	December	31,	2011,	$25.1	million	was	held	 in	a	restricted	 interest	bearing	cash	collateral	account.	The	restricted	cash	 is	classified	as	
current	due	to	the	demand	nature	of	the	facility	and	the	fact	that	all	letters	of	credit	issued	under	the	facility	expire	in	2012.

5. ASSETS HELD FOR SALE 
Sale of assets to PetroChina
On	 August	 28,	 2009,	 the	 Company	 entered	 into	 the	 Principles	 of	 Joint	 Venture	 Agreement	 with	 PetroChina	 International	 Investment		
Company	 Limited	 (“PetroChina	 International”),	 a	 wholly	 owned	 subsidiary	 of	 PetroChina	 Company	 Limited	 (“PetroChina”).		
On	February	10,	2010,	the	Company	entered	into	a	series	of	agreements	(the	“PetroChina	Transaction	Agreements”)	pursuant	to	which,	among	
other	things,	for	$1.90	billion	a	wholly	owned	subsidiary	of	PetroChina	International	(Cretaceous	Oilsands	Holdings	Limited,	or	“Cretaceous”)	
acquired	100%	of	the	shares	of	1487645	Alberta	Ltd.	(“AOSC	Newco”),	a	corporation	which	held	a	60%	working	interest	in	the	Company’s	
MacKay	River	and	Dover	oil	sands	projects	(the	“PetroChina	Transaction”).	

The	Company	recorded	a	$1.66	billion	gain	as	a	result	of	the	PetroChina	Transaction.	Cretaceous	reimbursed	the	Company	for	60%	of	the	
expenditures	 incurred	 in	respect	of	the	oil	sands	assets	of	AOSC	Newco	during	the	period	commencing	November	1,	2009	and	ending	on	
February	10,	2010,	the	closing	date	of	the	PetroChina	Transaction.	

The	PetroChina	Transaction	also	included	three	loan	agreements	outlined	in	Note	11	and	Put/Call	Options	over	the	remaining	40%	working	
interest	 in	 the	 MacKay	 River	 and	 Dover	 joint	 ventures	 as	 outlined	 in	 Note	 14(c).	 The	 assets	 and	 liabilities	 related	 to	 AOSC	 Newco	 were	
reclassified	as	assets	or	 liabilities	held	 for	sale	on	 the	consolidated	balance	sheet	as	at	 January	 1,	2010	with	 the	exception	of	Athabasca’s	
deferred	tax	assets	associated	with	the	sale.

Exercise of the MacKay River put option
Prior	to	December	31,	2011,	the	first	phase	of	the	MacKay	River	oil	sands	project	received	regulatory	approval.	In	accordance	with	the	terms	of	
the	Put/Call	Option	Agreement	(Note	14(c)),	the	approval	granted	Athabasca	with	the	right,	exercisable	at	the	Company’s	option,	to	require	
Cretaceous	to	purchase	Athabasca’s	remaining	40%	interest	in	the	project	within	30	days	following	the	date	of	regulatory	approval.	

At	the	same	time,	Cretaceous	was	also	granted	the	right,	exercisable	at	their	option,	to	require	Athabasca	to	sell	their	remaining	40%	interest	
in	the	project	within	30	days	following	the	date	of	regulatory	approval.
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In	December	2011,	Athabasca	exercised	its	option	to	divest	its	remaining	40%	interest	in	the	MacKay	River	oil	sands	project	to	Cretaceous	for	
gross	proceeds	of	$680	million.	The	transaction	is	expected	to	close	by	the	end	of	the	first	quarter	of	2012.	Athabasca’s	assets	held	for	sale	
consisted	of	the	following	components	as	at	December	31,	2011:

	 	 	 	 Assets	held		
Investment in MacKay River	 	 	 	 for	sale

Investment	in	MacKay	River	(Note	6)	 	  $ 455,457
Fair	value	of	the	MacKay	River	put	option	(Note	14(c))	 	 	  216,146
Other		 	 	  290
ASSETS	HELD	FOR	SALE,	DECEMBER	31,	2011	 	  $ 671,893

The	fair	value	of	the	MacKay	River	put	option	was	determined	to	be	the	residual	value	of	the	gross	proceeds	from	the	exercised	put	option,		
the	carrying	value	of	the	MacKay	River	investment	and	estimated	working	capital	adjustments,	discounted	for	the	duration	to	the	expected	
transaction	close	date.	The	valuation	of	the	MacKay	River	put	option	resulted	in	a	gain	of	$216.2	million	recognized	in	net	income.	

The	Dover	investment	was	unaffected	by	the	exercise	of	the	MacKay	River	put	option	and	Athabasca	continues	to	retain	its	40%	interest	in	the	
Dover	oil	sands	project.	See	Note	14(c)	for	details	regarding	the	Dover	put/call	option.	

In	 accordance	 with	 the	 terms	 of	 the	 PetroChina	 Transaction	 agreements,	 Athabasca	 is	 required	 to	 repay	 PetroChina	 loans	 #1	 and	 #2		
(Note	11)	from	the	proceeds	of	the	put	option	at	the	transaction	close	date.	As	a	result	of	the	exercise	of	the	MacKay	River	put	option,	the	
undrawn	PetroChina	Loan	#3	facility	was	closed	(Note	11).

6. INVESTMENTS 
The	 PetroChina	 Transaction	 Agreements	 included	 joint	 venture	 agreements	 for	 the	 MacKay	 River	 and	 Dover	 oil	 sands	 projects.		
The	 Company	has	 a	 40%	 interest	 in	 the	 MacKay	 River	 joint	 venture	 (“MacKay	 River”)	 through	 its	 100%	 wholly	 owned	 subsidiary,	 AOSC	
(MacKay)	Energy	Inc.	(“AOSC	(MacKay)”)	and	a	40%	interest	in	the	Dover	joint	venture	(“Dover”)	through	its	100%	wholly	owned	subsidiary,	
AOSC	(Dover)	Energy	Inc.	(“AOSC	(Dover)”).	

Under	IFRS,	the	equity	investment	is	initially	recorded	at	fair	value.	The	carrying	cost	of	the	investment	is	then	subsequently	increased	for	the	
Company’s	contributions	to	the	joint	ventures	and	decreased	for	its	share	of	the	net	losses	in	the	investments.	

The	gain	recognized	on	the	revaluation	of	the	equity	investment	upon	initial	recognition	was	calculated	based	on	the	fair	value	of	$1.3	billion	less	
the	historical	cost	of	the	Company’s	40%	interest.	The	fair	value	was	determined	using	the	implied	value	from	the	60%	interest	sold.	

Equity Method Investment Continuity	 	 MacKay	River	 Dover Total

Cash	 	  $ 93 $ 36 $ 129
	 Exploration	and	evaluation	assets		 	 	  51,652  96,576	  148,228
	 Decommissioning	obligations	 	 	  (304)  (202)  (506)
	 Deferred	income	taxes	 	 	  (11,378)  (22,713)  (34,091)
	 Fair	value	adjustment	upon	initial	recognition	(Note	23)	 	 	 	 391,469  763,981	  1,155,450
TOTAL	INVESTMENT,	FEBRUARY	10,	2010	(1)	 	  $ 431,532 $ 837,678 $ 1,269,210
	 Contributions	 	   9,350  16,948	  26,298
	 Stock	based	compensation		 	 	 	 1,276  1,675	  2,951
	 Share	of	net	loss	on	investments	 	 	 	 (746)  (2,531)  (3,277)
TOTAL	INVESTMENT,	DECEMBER	31,	2010	 	  $ 441,412 $ 853,770 $ 1,295,182
	 Contributions	 	 	  15,922  12,414	  28,336
	 Stock	based	compensation		 	 	 	 1,675  558	  2,233
	 Share	of	net	loss	on	investment	 	 	  (3,552)  (1,048)	  (4,600)
TOTAL	INVESTMENTS,	DECEMBER	31,	2011	 	  $ 455,457 $ 865,694 $ 1,321,151
Presented	as:	 	 	 	 	 	
	 Assets	held	for	sale	(Note	5)	 	 	 $ 455,457 $ -	 $ 455,457
	 Investments	 	  $ - $ 865,694	 $ 865,694

(1)	 The	PetroChina	transaction	sale	agreement	was	completed	on	February	10,	2010.
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At	 December	 31,	 2011,	 AOSC	 (Dover)	 and	 AOSC	 (MacKay)	 had	 $207.4	 million	 (2010	 -	 $180.1	 million)	 in	 total	 assets	 and	 $41.7	 million		
(2010	-	$180.2	million)	in	total	liabilities.

7. ACQUISITION OF EXCELSIOR ENERGY
On	 November	 9,	 2010,	 the	 Company	 acquired	 100%	 of	 the	 issued	 and	 outstanding	 shares	 of	 Excelsior	 Energy	 Ltd.	 (“Excelsior	 Energy”),		
a	public	company	with	oil	sands	assets	 in	the	Hangingstone	area,	by	way	of	a	plan	of	arrangement	for	total	cash	and	equity	consideration		
of	$133.2	million.	

The	purchase	price	has	been	allocated	based	on	the	fair	value	of	assets	and	liabilities	of	Excelsior	Energy	as	follows:

CONSIDERATION	PAID	 	
	 Cash	 	 	 $ 11,237
	 Warrants	(1)		 	 	  14,182
	 Common	shares	(2)	 	 	  106,494
	 Transaction	costs	 	 	  1,323
TOTAL	CONSIDERATION	PAID	 	 	 $ 133,236

ASSETS	AND	LIABILITIES	ACQUIRED	 	
	 Cash	 	 	 $ 1,603
	 Short-term	investments	 	 	  23,900
	 Other	net	working	capital	 	 	  112
	 Exploration	and	evaluation	assets	(Note	9)	 	 	  109,626
	 Flow-through	share	commitment	 	 	  (2,005)
NET	ASSETS	ACQUIRED	 	 	 $ 133,236

(1)	 2,821,862	warrants	with	an	exercise	price	of	$8.65	per	warrant	and	713,493	warrants	with	an	exercise	price	of	$9.22	per	warrant,	 valued	at	$4.08	and	$3.75	per	warrant,	
respectively.	The	value	of	the	warrants	issued	was	determined	using	the	Black-Scholes	option	pricing	model	with	assumptions	similar	to	those	used	to	determine	the	fair	value	of	
stock-based	compensation.

(2)	 9,284,528	common	shares	valued	at	$11.47	per	share,	Athabasca’s	quoted	market	price	on	the	closing	date.

8. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

BALANCE,	JANUARY	1,	2010		 	  $ 1,517
	 PP&E	expenditures	 	 	  758
	 Depreciation	 	 	  (893)
BALANCE,	DECEMBER	31,	2010		 	 	 $ 1,382
	 PP&E	expenditures	 	 	  6,122
	 Transfers	from	exploration	and	evaluation	assets,	net	of	accumulated	depletion	(Note	9)	 	 	  341,973
	 Depletion	and	depreciation	 	 	  (1,506)
BALANCE,	DECEMBER	31,	2011	 	 	 $ 347,971

In	the	fourth	quarter	of	2011,	Athabasca	entered	into	the	development	phase	of	three	Light	Oil	areas	resulting	in	the	transfer	of	exploration	and	
evaluation	assets	to	property,	plant	and	equipment.	Property,	plant	and	equipment	consist	of	the	following:

	 	  December 31, December 31, January 1, 
Net book value (As at)	 	 2011	 2010 2010

Mineral	properties	 	 	 $ 187,495	 $ - $ -
Drilling	and	development	 	   156,127	  -  -
Corporate	assets	and	other	 	 	  9,065	  2,944  2,112
Accumulated	depletion	and	depreciation	 	 	 	 (4,716)	  (1,562)  (595)
TOTAL	PROPERTY,	PLANT	AND	EQUIPMENT	 	  $ 347,971	 $ 1,382 $ 1,517

As	at	December	31,	2011,	$267.0	million	of	property,	plant	and	equipment	was	not	subject	to	depletion	as	it	relates	to	oil	and	gas	assets	that	are	
not	ready	for	use	in	the	manner	intended	by	management.
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9. EXPLORATION AND EVALUATION ASSETS

	 Exploration	and	evaluation	assets	 	  $ 331,208
	 Exploration	and	evaluation	assets	held	for	sale	(Note	5)	 	 	  222,083
BALANCE,	JANUARY	1,	2010		 	  $ 553,291
	 Cash	E&E	expenditures	 	   188,808
	 Non-cash	E&E	expenditures	(1)	 	   151,312
	 Disposals	(Note	5)	 	   (223,945)
	 Transfers	to	investments	(Note	6)	 	   (148,228)
BALANCE,	DECEMBER	31,	2010		 	  $ 521,238
	 Cash	E&E	expenditures	 	   587,491
	 Non	cash	E&E	expenditures	(1)	 	   21,818
	 Depletion	 	   (1,648)
	 Transfers	to	property,	plant	and	equipment,	net	of	accumulated	depletion	(Note	8)	 	   (341,973)
BALANCE,	DECEMBER	31,	2011	 	  $ 786,926

(1)	 Non-cash	E&E	expenditures	include	capitalized	stock	based	compensation,	decommissioning	obligation	assets	and	assets	acquired	with	equity	consideration

In	2010,	the	Company	closed	certain	transactions	to	acquire	resource	assets	in	northern	Alberta	for	total	consideration	of	$60.9	million	in	cash,	
$24.6	million	in	equity	and	the	assumption	of	$23.6	million	of	decommissioning	obligations.	The	equity	was	valued	using	Athabasca’s	quoted	
market	price	on	the	closing	date.	In	the	third	quarter	of	2011,	Athabasca	closed	an	asset	acquisition	for	$53.6	million	in	cash	to	acquire	oil	sands	
rights	in	the	Hangingstone	area.	As	part	of	the	acquisition,	Athabasca	acquired	$0.7	million	in	decommissioning	obligations.	

As	at	December	31,	2011,	exploration	and	evaluation	assets	consisted	of	the	following:

	 	  December 31,	 December 31, January 1, 
Net book value (As at)	 	 2011 2010 2010 (1)

Mineral	properties	 	  $ 455,231	 $ 382,122 $ 314,157
Exploratory	drilling,	geological	and	geophysical		 	 	 	 222,963	  116,520  196,475
Engineering,	development,	regulatory	and	other	 	 	  108,732	  22,596  42,659
TOTAL	EXPLORATION	AND	EVALUATION	 	  $ 786,926	 $ 521,238 $ 553,291

(1)	 Included	are	assets	held	 for	sale	of	$222.1	million	which	consists	of	$107.7	million	 in	mineral	properties,	$91.7	million	 in	exploratory	drilling,	geological	and	geophysical	and		
$22.7	million	in	engineering,	development	and	regulatory	expenditures.

In	response	to	the	Company’s	approved	2012	budget,	which	provided	for	reduced	spending	over	the	Company’s	Grosmont	project,	Athabasca	
tested	the	asset	for	impairment.	The	fair	value	of	the	project	was	assessed	by	observing	recent	analog	land	sales	in	the	Grosmont	Formation	
adjacent	to	Athabasca’s	holdings.	The	results	of	the	test	indicated	that	the	Grosmont	asset’s	carrying	value	of	$58.4	million	was	not	impaired	
at	December	31,	2011	as	the	fair	value	exceeded	carrying	value	by	greater	than	10%.
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10. SEGMENTED INFORMATION
Segmented Capital Expenditures
Athabasca’s	total	capital	expenditures	by	segment	are	as	follows:

	  December 31,	 	 December 31, 
Capital expenditures (Year ended) 	  2011	 	 2010

OIL	SANDS
	 Exploration	and	evaluation		 $ 235,874	 $ 92,350
	 Acquisition	of	Excelsior	Energy	(Note	7)	 	 -	 	 10,957
	 Contributions	to	investments	 	 12,414	 	 26,298
	 Assets	held	for	sale	 	 15,922	 	 671
	 	 	 	 264,210	 	 130,276
LIGHT	OIL	 	 	 	
	 Exploration	and	evaluation	 	 351,617	 	 84,830

CORPORATE
	 Corporate	assets	and	other	 	 6,122	 	 758
TOTAL	CAPITAL	SPENDING	(1)	 $ 621,949	 $ 215,864

(1)	 Excludes	non-cash	capitalized	costs	consisting	of	capitalized	stock	based	compensation,	decommissioning	obligation	assets	and	assets	acquired	with	equity	consideration

Segmented Assets
Athabasca’s	total	assets	by	segment	are	as	follows:

	 	  December 31,	 December 31, January 1, 
Net book value (As at)	 	 2011 2010 2010

OIL	SANDS
	 Exploration	and	evaluation	 	 	 $ 690,946	 $ 436,043 $ 331,208
	 Investments	 	 	  865,694	  1,295,182  -
	 Assets	held	for	sale	 	   671,893	  -  222,083
	 	 	   2,228,533	  1,731,225  553,291
LIGHT	OIL
	 Exploration	and	evaluation	 	 	 	 95,980	  85,195  -
	 Property,	plant	and	equipment	 	 	  341,881	  -  -
	 	 	 	  437,861	  85,195  -
CORPORATE
	 Current	assets	and	deferred	charges,	excluding	assets	held	for	sale	 	 	 1,272,302	 	 1,820,875  143,182
	 Deferred	income	tax	assets	 	 	 	 -	  -  106,186
	 Property,	plant	and	equipment	and	other	 	 	  6,090	  1,382  1,517
	 	 	 	  1,278,392	  1,822,257  250,885
TOTAL	ASSETS	 	 	 $ 3,944,786	 $ 3,638,677 $ 804,176
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Segmented Operating Results
Athabasca’s	operating	results	by	segment	are	as	follows:

	 	 Oil Sands Light Oil Consolidated
Year ended December 31,	 	  2011 	 2010	 	 2011	  2010	  2011 	 2010

SEGMENT	REVENUES
	 Petroleum	and	natural	gas	sales		 	 	 $ - $	 -	 $ 4,070	 $	 743	 $ 4,070 $	 743
	 Royalties	 	 	 	 	 -	 	 -	  (595) 	 (32)	 	 (595)	 	 (32)
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 -	 	 -	 	 3,475 	 711	 	 3,475	 	 711
SEGMENT	EXPENSES	and	OTHER
	 Operating	expenses	 	 	 	 	 -	 	 -	 	 1,541	  240	 	 1,541 	 240
	 Depletion	 	 	 	 	 -	 	 -	  1,648 	 -	  1,648	 	 -
	 Equity	loss	on	investments		(Note	6)	 	  4,600	 	 3,277	 	 -	 	 -	 	 4,600 	 3,277
	 Gain	on	sale	of	assets	(Note	5)		 	 	 	 -	  (1,662,196) 	 -	 	 -	 	 -	  (1,662,196)
	 Gain	on	revaluation	of	equity	investee	(Note	6)	 	 -	  (1,155,450) 	 - 	 -	 	 -	  (1,155,450)
	 Unrealized	put	option	gain	(Note	5)	 	  (216,146) 	 - 	 -	 	 -	  (216,146)	 	 -
	 	 	 	 	  (211,546)	  (2,814,369) 	 3,189	 	 240	  (208,357)	  (2,814,129)
Segment	income	(loss)	 	 	 	 $ 211,546	 $ 2,814,369	 $ 286 $ 471	 $ 211,832	 $	2,814,840
CORPORATE
	 Net	interest	expense	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 (6,547) 	 (18,564)
	 General	and	administrative		 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	  (28,233)	  (14,847)
	 Stock-based	compensation	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 (18,597)	  (13,078)
	 Depreciation		 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	  (1,506)  (893)
	 Research	and	development	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 -	  (175)
	 Current	and	deferred	income	taxes		 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 (14,634) 	 (292,827)
Net	income	and	comprehensive	income	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 $ 142,315 $ 2,474,456

11. LONG-TERM DEBT 

	 	  December 31, December 31, January 1, 
As at	 	 2011 2010 2010

Senior	secured	notes	-	face	value	(a)	 	  $ -	 $ - $ 400,000
Long-term	non-revolving	credit	agreement	#1	(b)	 	 	  430,000	  430,000  -
Long-term	non-revolving	credit	agreement	#2	(c)	 	 	  43,884	  19,736  -
Deferred	borrowing	costs	(a)	 	 	 	 -	  -  (1,004)
	 	 	 	 $ 473,884	 $ 449,736 $ 398,996
Less:	Current	portion	of	long-term	debt	 	 	  (473,884)	  -  -
TOTAL	LONG-TERM	DEBT	 	  $ -	 $ 449,736 $ 398,996

a) Senior Secured Notes
On	July	30,	2008,	the	Company	issued	$400.0	million	of	senior	secured	notes	with	a	term	of	three	years,	maturing	July	30,	2011.	The	senior	
secured	notes	bore	interest	of	13%	paid	semi-annually	on	December	31	and	June	30.	During	the	first	quarter	of	2010	Athabasca	redeemed	its	
senior	secured	notes	with	the	proceeds	received	from	the	long-term	non-revolving	credit	agreement	#1	discussed	below.	$1.0	million	of	deferred	
borrowing	costs	were	amortized	on	the	senior	secured	notes	in	2010.

b) Long-term Non-revolving Credit Agreement #1 (PetroChina Loan #1)
During	the	first	quarter	of	2010,	Athabasca	entered	into	a	long-term	non-revolving	credit	agreement	of	$430.0	million.	The	credit	agreement	
bears	interest	which	is	paid	semi-annually	at	a	rate	equal	to	LIBOR	plus	450	basis	points.	The	loan	matures	on	the	earlier	of	June	30,	2022,	
a	change	of	control	of	the	Company	or	the	date	any	of	the	Put/Call	Options	(Note	14(c))	are	exercised.	The	credit	agreement	is	secured	by	
guarantees	from	the	Company’s	material	subsidiaries	and	a	security	interest	in	all	of	the	present	and	after-acquired	assets	of	the	Company	and	
its	material	subsidiaries.	

With	the	exercise	of	the	MacKay	River	put	option,	the	balance	outstanding	on	PetroChina	Loan	#1	is	expected	to	be	repaid	by	the	end	of	the	
first	quarter	of	2012	(see	Note	5).
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c) Long-term Non-revolving Credit Agreement #2 (PetroChina Loan #2)
For	 the	 year	 ended	 December	 31,	 2011,	 Athabasca	 drew	 $24.1	 million	 (2010	 -	 $19.7	 million)	 on	 a	 second	 long-term	 non-revolving	
credit	 agreement	 of	 up	 to	 $100.0	 million.	 The	 credit	 agreement	 bears	 interest	 which	 is	 paid	 semi-annually	 at	 a	 rate	 equal	 to	 LIBOR	 plus		
450	basis	points.	The	loan	matures	on	the	earlier	of	June	30,	2024,	a	change	of	control	of	the	Company	or	the	date	any	of	the	Put/Call	Options	
(Note	14(c))	are	exercised.	The	credit	agreement	is	secured	by	guarantees	of	Athabasca’s	wholly-owned	MacKay	River	and	Dover	entities	and	
by	a	security	interest	in	all	of	the	present	and	after-acquired	assets	of	Athabasca’s	wholly-owned	MacKay	River	and	Dover	entities.	

With	the	exercise	of	the	MacKay	River	put	option,	the	balance	outstanding	on	PetroChina	Loan	#2	is	expected	to	be	repaid	by	the	end	of	the	
first	quarter	of	2012	(see	Note	5).

d) Long-Term Non-revolving Credit Agreement #3 (PetroChina Loan #3)
In	accordance	with	the	long-term	non-revolving	credit	agreement,	the	undrawn	PetroChina	Loan	#3	facility	was	closed	as	a	result	of	the	exercise	
of	the	MacKay	River	put	option	(Note	5).

e) Revolving Senior Secured Demand Credit Facility
In	the	fourth	quarter	of	2011,	Athabasca	entered	into	a	revolving	senior	secured	demand	credit	facility	(the	“Facility”)	for	up	to	$25.0	million	
which	 can	 be	 used	 to	 fund	 short-term	 working	 capital	 activities	 or	 issue	 letters	 of	 credit.	 The	 bank	 can	 demand	 repayment	 or	 cancel	 the	
availability	of	credit	at	any	 time.	The	Facility	 is	secured	with	$25.0	million	 in	cash	deposited	 in	a	 restricted	 interest	bearing	cash	collateral	
account	(see	Note	4).	

All	borrowings	against	 the	Facility	bear	 interest,	which	 is	paid	monthly,	at	 the	prime	rate.	As	at	December	31,	2011,	Athabasca	has	 issued		
$4.1	million	in	letters	of	credit	which	are	secured	by	the	Facility.	There	have	been	no	borrowings	drawn	against	the	Facility.

12. DECOMMISSIONING OBLIGATIONS
The	total	future	costs	to	reclaim	oil	and	gas	assets	are	estimated	by	management	based	on	the	Company’s	ownership	interest	in	wells	and	
facilities,	estimated	costs	to	reclaim	and	abandon	the	wells	and	facilities,	and	the	estimated	timing	of	the	costs	to	be	incurred	in	future	periods.	
The	following	table	reconciles	the	change	in	decommissioning	obligations:	

	 	 December 31, 	 	 December 31, 
Year ended	  2011	  2010

DECOMMISSIONING	OBLIGATIONS,	BEGINNING	OF	YEAR	 $ 24,361	 $ 506
	 Liabilities	disposed	 	 -	  (506)
	 Liabilities	incurred	 	 3,016	  489
	 Liabilities	acquired	 	 1,096	  23,645
	 Liabilities	settled	 	 (125)	  -
	 Change	in	discount	rate	  4,832	  -
	 Change	in	estimate	 	 6,102	  -
	 Accretion	expense	 	 2,236	  227
DECOMMISSIONING	OBLIGATIONS,	END	OF	YEAR	 $ 41,518	 $ 24,361
Presented	as:		 	 	 	
	 Accounts	payable	and	accrued	liabilities	 $ 5,990	 $ -
	 Decommissioning	obligations	 $ 35,528	 $ 24,361

The	Company	has	calculated	the	net	present	value	of	its	decommissioning	obligations	using	an	inflation	rate	of	2%	(December	31,	2010	-	2%,	
January	1,	2010	-	2%)	and	a	credit-adjusted	risk	free	discount	rate	of	6.5%	per	annum	(December	31,	2010	-7.5%,	January	1,	2010	-	14%).		
The	 payments	 to	 settle	 these	 obligations	 are	 expected	 to	 occur	 during	 a	 period	 of	 up	 to	 25	 years.	 The	 total	 undiscounted	 amount	 of	
estimated	 cash	 flows	 required	 to	 settle	 the	 obligations	 as	 at	 December	 31,	 2011	 is	 $95.2	 million	 (December	 31,	 2010	 –	 $71.2	 million,		
January	1,	2010	-	$0.8	million).	
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13. INCOME TAXES 
Athabasca’s	deferred	income	tax	position	consists	of	the	following:

	 	 	  December 31, December 31,	 	 January 1, 
As at 	 	  2011	 2010	 	 2010

DEFERRED	INCOME	TAX	ASSETS	 	 	 	 	 	
	 Non-capital	losses	 	  $ 75,458	 $ 24,942 $ -
	 Share	issuance	costs	 	 	  14,657	  20,240  1,346
	 Debt	issuance	costs	 	 	  1,357	  5,573  7,500
	 Other	 	 	  1,153	  405  159
	 Outside	tax	basis	on	assets	held	for	sale	(Note	5)	 	 	 	 -	  -  151,100
DEFERRED	INCOME	TAX	LIABILITIES	 	 	 	 	 	
	 E&E	assets	and	PP&E	assets	in	excess	of	tax	values	 	   (69,237)	  (34,649)  (53,919)
	 Investments	in	excess	of	tax	values	 	   (104,219)	  (160,974)  -
	 Outside	tax	basis	on	assets	held	for	sale	(Note	5)	 	 	  (80,271)	  -  -
DEFERRED	INCOME	TAX	ASSET	(LIABILITY)	 	 	 $ (161,102)	 $ (144,463) $ 106,186

The	movements	of	deferred	tax	balances	are	as	follows:	

	  December 31,	 	 December 31, 
Year ended 	  2011	 	 2010

DEFERRED	INCOME	TAX	ASSETS	 	 	 	
	 Balance,	beginning	of	year	 $ 51,160	 $ 160,105
	 Deferred	tax	assets	recognized	in	net	income	 	 41,465	  (131,422)
	 Deferred	tax	assets	related	to	share	issuance	costs	recognized	in	equity	 	 -	  22,477
Balance,	end	of	year	 	 92,625	  51,160
	 	 	 	
DEFERRED	INCOME	TAX	LIABILITIES	 	 	 	
	 Balance,	beginning	of	year	 	 (195,623)  (53,919)
	 Deferred	tax	liabilities	recognized	in	net	income	 	 (56,099)	  (175,795)
	 Deferred	tax	liabilities	related	to	E&E	assets	contributed	to	investments	 	 -	  34,091
	 Flow	through	share	renouncement		 	 (2,005)	  -
Balance,	end	of	year	 	 (253,727)	  (195,623)
NET	DEFERRED	INCOME	TAX	LIABILITY	 $ (161,102)	 $ (144,463)
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The	following	table	reconciles	expected	income	tax	expense	calculated	at	the	Canadian	statutory	rate	of	26.5%	(2010	-	28%)	to	actual	income	
tax	expense:

	 	 December 31,	  December 31, 
Year ended 	  2011	  2010

INCOME	BEFORE	INCOME	TAXES	 $ 161,549	 $ 2,770,560
EXPECTED	INCOME	TAX	EXPENSE		 	 	 	
	 Income	tax	expense	at	statutory	rate	 	 42,811	 	 775,757
ADJUSTMENTS	RELATED	TO	THE	FOLLOWING:	 	 	 	
	 Non-taxable	portion	of	gain	on	sale	of	assets	 	 -	 	 (232,707)
	 Non-taxable	portion	of	gain	on	revaluation	of	equity	investees	 	 -	 	 (161,763)
	 Non-taxable	portion	of	unrealized	put	option	gain		  (28,639)	 	 -
	 Effects	of	tax	rate	changes	and	timing	of	use		  (4,278)	 	 (105,879)
	 Outside	deferred	income	taxes	  (306)	 	 14,176
	 Stock-based	compensation	 	 4,928	 	 3,662
	 Other	 	 118 	 	 (419)
INCOME	TAX	EXPENSE		 $ 14,634	 $ 292,827

As	at	December	31,	2011,	Athabasca	had	approximately	$1.35	billion	of	consolidated	tax	pools	available	for	deduction	against	future	taxable	
income,	including	$554.5	million	in	non-capital	losses	which	mostly	expire	after	2025.

14. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 
The	Company’s	consolidated	financial	assets	and	liabilities	are	comprised	of	cash	and	cash	equivalents,	restricted	cash,	short-term	investments,	
accounts	receivable,	put/call	options,	accounts	payable	and	accrued	liabilities	and	long-term	debt.

a) Fair Value 
The	 carrying	 values	 of	 Athabasca’s	 financial	 instruments	 other	 than	 the	 Dover	 Put/Call	 Options	 approximate	 their	 fair	 value	 due	 to	 their		
short-term	or	variable	interest	nature.	As	at	December	31,	2011,	no	financial	assets	or	liabilities	were	measured	at	fair	value	aside	from	cash	and	
cash	equivalents,	short-term	investments,	restricted	cash	and	the	MacKay	River	Put	Option.	The	Company	classifies	its	financial	instruments	
measured	at	fair	value	according	to	the	following	hierarchy	based	on	the	amount	of	observable	inputs	used	to	value	the	instrument.

•		 Level	1	–	Unadjusted	quoted	prices	in	active	markets	for	identical	assets	or	liabilities;

•		 Level	2	–	Inputs	other	than	quoted	prices	that	are	observable	for	the	asset	or	liability	either	directly	or	indirectly;	and

•		 Level	3	–	Inputs	that	are	not	based	on	observable	market	data.

The	Company’s	cash,	cash	equivalents,	short-term	investments	and	restricted	cash	have	been	assessed	on	the	fair	value	hierarchy	described	
above	and	have	been	classified	as	Level	1.	The	MacKay	River	put	option	is	classified	as	Level	2.	Assessment	of	the	significance	of	a	particular	
input	to	the	fair	value	measurement	requires	judgment	and	may	affect	the	placement	level	within	the	fair	value	hierarchy.	

b) Risks Associated with Financial Assets and Liabilities
Credit	Risk	

The	maximum	exposure	to	credit	risk	is	represented	by	the	carrying	amounts	of	cash,	restricted	cash,	cash	equivalents,	short-term	investments,	
accounts	receivable	and	MacKay	River	Put	Option	on	the	consolidated	balance	sheets.	Athabasca	is	also	exposed	to	credit	risk	associated	with	
a	put	option	that	allows	Athabasca	to	sell	the	remaining	40%	interest	in	the	Dover	asset.	

Cash	and	cash	equivalents,	restricted	cash	and	short-term	investments	held	by	the	Company	are	invested	with	counterparties	meeting	credit	
quality	requirements	and	issuer	and	concentration	limits	pursuant	to	an	investment	policy	that	is	periodically	reviewed	by	the	Audit	Committee.	
The	policy	emphasizes	security	of	assets	over	investment	yield.	

As	 at	 December	 31,	 2011	 and	 December	 31,	 2010,	 Athabasca’s	 cash,	 cash	 equivalents,	 restricted	 cash	 and	 short-term	 investments	 were	
held	with	five	counterparties.	At	January	1,	2010,	Athabasca’s	cash	and	cash	equivalents	were	held	with	two	counterparties.	The	Company	
holds	investments	in	bankers’	depository	notes,	term	deposits	and	GICs	with	large	reputable	Canadian	financial	institutions.	The	Company’s	
management	believes	that	credit	risk	associated	with	these	investments	is	low.	At	December	31,	2011,	no	institution	held	more	than	42%	of	
the	balances.	
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As	at	December	31,	2011,	41%	of	the	Company’s	consolidated	accounts	receivable	balance	is	related	to	accrued	interest	on	cash	equivalents	
and	short-term	investments	and	28%	is	due	from	the	Government	of	Canada	for	input	tax	credits.	This	is	compared	to	December	31,	2010,	
where	71%	of	the	balance	was	related	to	accrued	interest	with	the	remainder	comprising	of	various	counterparties.	At	January	1,	2010,	48%	of	
the	consolidated	accounts	receivable	balance	was	due	from	the	Government	of	Canada	for	input	tax	credits.	The	remaining	52%	was	held	with	
high	quality	counterparties	and	was	not	considered	past	due	based	on	the	terms	with	the	counterparties.	Management	believes	all	outstanding	
accounts	receivable	as	at	December	31,	2011	are	with	high	quality	counterparties	and	does	not	consider	any	material	amount	past	due	based	
on	the	terms	with	the	counterparties.

As	at	December	31,	2011	and	December	31,	2010,	Athabasca	had	$9.4	million	in	income	tax	receivable	owing	from	the	provincial	government	for	
tax	credits	earned	in	2010	which	were	carried	back	and	claimed	against	2009	taxable	income.	Management	believes	that	credit	risk	associated	
with	this	receivable	is	low	and	expects	the	balance	to	be	collected	in	2012.	

As	at	December	31,	2011,	Athabasca	valued	 its	exercised	MacKay	River	put	option	at	$216.2	million	(Note	5).	Athabasca	also	holds	a	put	
option	to	sell	its	40%	interest	in	the	Dover	project	for	gross	proceeds	of	$1.32	billion	which	has	not	been	recorded	on	the	consolidated	balance	
sheets	(Note	14).	The	Company’s	management	believes	that	credit	risk	associated	with	these	financial	instruments	is	low	given	PetroChina’s	
investment	grade	credit	rating.	

The	maximum	exposure	to	credit	risk	at	the	reporting	date	is:	

	 	  December 31, December 31, January 1, 
As at	 	 2011	  2010 2010

Cash	and	cash	equivalents	 	 	 $ 424,542	 $ 469,504 $ 140,992
Restricted	cash	 	 	 	 25,050  -  -
Short-term	investments	 	   799,441	  1,334,028  -
Accounts	receivable	 	 	  12,687	  7,624  1,062
Income	tax	receivable	 	 	  9,376	  9,376  -
MacKay	River	put	option	 	 	  216,146	  -  -
MAXIMUM	CREDIT	RISK		 	 	 $ 1,487,242	 $ 1,820,532 $ 142,054

Liquidity	Risk	

The	Company’s	objective	in	managing	liquidity	risk	is	to	maintain	sufficient	available	reserves	to	meet	its	liquidity	requirements	at	any	point.	
The	Company	achieves	this	by	managing	its	capital	spending	and	maintaining	sufficient	funds	for	anticipated	short-term	spending	in	cash	and	
cash	equivalent	accounts.

Athabasca’s	announced	2012	capital	and	operating	budgets	will	be	 funded	with	available	working	capital.	Beyond	2012,	 the	Company	will	
require	additional	capital	to	maintain	its	pace	of	development.	Athabasca	believes	it	will	fund	its	activities	through	some	combination	of	cash	
flow	from	operations,	the	potential	exercise	of	the	Dover	put/call	options,	a	reasonable	level	of	debt,	sale	of	assets	and	joint	exploration	and	
development	activities.	Until	required,	excess	cash	will	be	invested.	The	Company’s	outstanding	financial	liabilities	mature	within	one	year.		

Interest	Rate	Risk	

The	Company’s	floating	interest	rate	profile	at	the	reporting	date	was	as	follows:

	 	  December 31, 	 December 31,  January 1, 
As at	 	 2011 2010 2011

Cash	and	cash	equivalents	(1)	 	 	 $ 144,879	 $ 243,504 $ 140,992
Restricted	cash	 	 	  25,050	  -  -
Short-term	investments	(2)	 	 	 	 -	  -  -
Current	portion	of	long-term	debt	 	 	  (473,884)	  -  -
Long-term	debt	 	 	 	 -	  (449,736)  (398,996)
NET	INTEREST	RATE	EXPOSURE	 	  $ (303,955)	 $ (206,232) $ (258,004)

(1)	 $279.7	million,	as	at	December	31,	2011	(December	31,	2010	-	$226.0	million,	January	1	-	2010,	$0.0),	in	cash	equivalents	are	fixed	rate	financial	instruments	and	are	not	exposed	
to	changes	in	interest	rates	in	the	short-term.

(2)	 All	short-term	investments	are	fixed	rate	financial	instruments	and	are	not	exposed	to	changes	in	interest	rates	in	the	short-term.
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The	Company’s	exposure	at	December	31,	2011	to	interest	charged	on	the	outstanding	PetroChina	Loan	balances,	from	a	1%	change	in	interest	
rates,	would	be	approximately	$4.7	million	if	the	loans	were	to	remain	in	place	for	a	12	month	period	(2010	-	$4.5	million).	The	PetroChina	loans	
are	expected	to	be	repaid	by	the	end	of	the	first	quarter	of	2012.	The	Company’s	exposure	to	interest	rate	fluctuations	on	interest	earned	on	the	
floating	rate	cash	and	restricted	cash	balance	of	$169.2	million,	from	a	1%	change	in	interest	rates,	would	be	approximately	$1.7	million	for	a	12	
month	period	(2010	-	$2.4	million).	For	the	year	ended	December	31,	2011,	Athabasca’s	effective	interest	rate	on	PetroChina	Loans	#1	and	#2	
was	5.8%	(2010	-	5.2%).	

c) Put/Call Options Related to MacKay River and Dover (See Note 5) 
Detailed	below	are	Put/Call	Options	on	the	Company’s	remaining	40%	interest	in	Dover	and	MacKay	River	that	were	included	as	part	of	the	
PetroChina	Transaction	(the	“Put/Call	Options”).	Management	of	the	Company	conducted	a	review	of	the	value	of	each	Put/Call	Option	listed	
below	and	determined	that	the	net	value	of	the	Put/Call	Options	at	the	inception	of	the	contract	was	nil.	Upon	exercise	of	the	MacKay	River	
put	option	in	the	fourth	quarter	of	2011,	estimation	uncertainty	was	removed	and	the	instrument	was	measured	at	fair	value	(Note	5).	However,		
the	fair	value	of	the	Dover	put/call	option	continues	to	not	be	reliably	measurable	and	was	therefore	not	valued	by	Athabasca.

MacKay	River	Put	Option
Cretaceous	had	granted	to	the	Company	the	right,	exercisable	at	the	Company’s	option	within	30	days	following	receipt	of	MacKay	River	oil	
sands	project	approval	to	require	Cretaceous	to	acquire	the	shares	or	assets	of	AOSC	(MacKay).	The	MacKay	River	put	option	was	exercised	
in	the	fourth	quarter	of	2011	at	a	purchase	price	of	$680.0	million	(Note	5).	

MacKay	River	Call	Option
The	Company	had	granted	 to	Cretaceous	 the	 right,	exercisable	at	Cretaceous’	option,	 to	acquire	 the	shares	or	assets	of	AOSC	(MacKay).	
However,	the	MacKay	River	call	option	expired	upon	Athabasca’s	exercise	of	the	MacKay	River	put	option	(Note	5).

Dover	Put	Option
Cretaceous	has	granted	to	the	Company	the	right,	exercisable	at	the	Company’s	option	within	30	days	following	receipt	of	Dover	oil	sands	
project	approval	(as	defined	in	the	Put/Call	Option	Agreement),	to	require	Cretaceous	to	acquire	the	shares	or	assets	of	AOSC	(Dover).	As	a	
result	of	the	receipt	of	regulatory	approval	for	the	MacKay	River	oil	sands	project,	the	purchase	price	of	the	shares	or	assets	is	set	at	$1.32	billion.	

Dover	Call	Option
The	Company	has	granted	to	Cretaceous	the	right,	exercisable	at	Cretaceous’	option,	to	acquire	the	shares	or	assets	of	AOSC	(Dover)	for	a	
purchase	price	of	$1.32	billion.	With	the	exercise	of	the	MacKay	put	option	by	Athabasca,	the	Dover	call	option	is	exercisable	and	will	remain	
exercisable	until	30	days	after	the	receipt	of	Dover	oil	sands	project	regulatory	approval.

15. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT 
The	Company’s	objectives	when	managing	capital	are	to	safeguard	the	Company’s	ability	to	pursue	the	acquisition,	exploration	and	development	
of	 its	 resource	properties	or	potential	other	business	and	to	maintain	a	flexible	capital	structure	to	undertake	projects	 for	 the	benefit	of	 its	
stakeholders.	The	Company	considers	the	items	included	in	shareholders’	equity	and	long-term	debt	as	capital.	The	Company’s	oil	projects	are	
currently	in	the	development	stage	and	earn	no	significant	operating	revenue;	as	such,	the	Company	is	primarily	dependent	on	existing	working	
capital	and	external	financing	to	fund	its	activities.	

Capital	managed	by	the	Company	was	as	follows:

	 	  December 31,  December 31,  January 1, 
As at 	 	 2011 2010 2010

Senior	secured	notes	 	  $ -	 $ - $ 398,996
PetroChina	Loan	#1	 	 	  430,000	  430,000  -
PetroChina	Loan	#2	 	 	  43,884	  19,736  -
Shareholders’	equity	 	 	  3,153,894	  2,998,827  137,249
TOTAL	CAPITAL	MANAGED	 	  $ 3,627,778	 $ 3,448,563 $ 536,245

The	 Company	 manages	 the	 capital	 structure	 and	 makes	 adjustments	 in	 light	 of	 changes	 to	 economic	 conditions	 and	 risk	 characteristics		
of	 underlying	 assets.	 To	 maintain	 or	 adjust	 its	 capital	 structure,	 subject	 to	 restrictions	 in	 the	 PetroChina	 Loan	 Agreements,	 the	 Company		
may	 issue	 new	 shares,	 repurchase	 existing	 shares,	 acquire	 or	 dispose	 of	 assets,	 obtain	 or	 repay	 debt,	 or	 enter	 into	 joint	 exploration	 and	
development	arrangements.	
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To	facilitate	the	management	of	its	capital	requirements,	the	Company	prepares	annual	expenditure	budgets	that	are	updated	as	necessary	
and	approved	by	the	Board	of	Directors	(the	“Board”).	Longer	term	financial	models	are	also	utilized	to	schedule	and	forecast	anticipated	cash	
requirements.	Excess	cash	is	invested	in	accordance	with	an	investment	policy,	which	is	reviewed	periodically	by	the	Audit	Committee,	which	
is	designed	to	ensure	that	cash	is	invested	in	highly	liquid	short-term	interest-bearing	investments,	possessing	pre-approved	risk	profiles,	and	
is	available	as	required.	

There	were	no	changes	in	the	Company’s	approach	to	capital	management	during	the	12	month	period	ended	December	31,	2011	other	than	the	
draw	downs	on	PetroChina	Loan	#2,	the	repurchase	of	common	shares	(Note	16)	and	the	addition	of	a	new	credit	facility	(Note	11).

The	Company	is	subject	to	certain	non-financial	covenants	in	the	PetroChina	Loan	Agreements	and	is	in	compliance	with	all	such	covenants.	
The	PetroChina	loans	are	expected	to	be	repaid	by	the	end	of	the	first	quarter	of	2012.

16. SHARE CAPITAL
a)  Issued and Outstanding Common Shares 
The	Company’s	authorized	share	capital	consists	of	an	unlimited	number	of	common	shares	and	an	unlimited	number	of	first	and	second	
preferred	shares.	There	are	no	first	or	second	preferred	shares	currently	outstanding.	None	of	the	Company’s	share	capital	has	a	par	value.

The	following	table	summarizes	changes	to	the	Company’s	common	share	capital:

	 	  December 31, 2011	  December 31, 2010
	 	 Number	 	 Number 
	 	 of Shares Amount	 of Shares Amount

Balance	at	beginning	of	year	  398,917,941 $ 1,950,054	  213,976,372 $ 390,377
	 Issue	of	shares	on	initial	public	offering	 	 -  -	  75,000,000  1,284,985
	 Issue	of	shares	for	Excelsior	Energy	and	asset	acquisition	 	 -  -	  10,865,556  131,063
	 Repurchase	of	common	shares	 	 (1,717,310)  (21,513)  -  -
	 Exercise	of	Excelsior	Energy	replacement	warrants	(b)	  473,170  6,060  1,319,279  16,845
	 Exercise	of	purchase	warrants	(c)	 	 -  -	  97,274,250  121,593
	 Exercise	of	stock	options	and	RSUs	(Note	17	b,c)	  126,676  1,743	  173,500  1,768
	 Contingently	returnable	shares	released	(Note	17	a)	  823,509  7,018	  308,984  3,423
	 Cancellation	of	incentive	shares	(Note	17	a)	 	 (144,917)  -	  -  -
BALANCE	AT	END	OF	YEAR	  398,479,069 $ 1,943,362  398,917,941 $ 1,950,054

On	April	8,	2010,	pursuant	to	an	underwriting	agreement	and	a	prospectus,	each	dated	March	30,	2010,	the	Company	completed	its	initial	
public	offering	(the	“IPO”)	and	issued	75.0	million	common	shares	to	the	public	for	approximately	$1.28	billion,	net	of	commissions	and	other	
costs	relating	to	the	issue	aggregating	approximately	$87.5	million	and	a	deferred	tax	recovery	of	$21.9	million.

On	November	9,	2010,	the	Company	issued	9.3	million	common	shares	as	part	of	the	acquisition	of	Excelsior	Energy	(Note	7),	which	held	a	
majority	interest	in	certain	leases	in	the	Hangingstone	area.	On	December	20,	2010,	the	Company	issued	1.6	million	common	shares	for	the	
remaining	minority	interest	in	these	leases.

On	December	20,	2010	Athabasca	filed	notice	to	make	a	Normal	Course	Issuer	Bid	(“the	Bid”)	to	purchase,	from	time	to	time,	up	to	10.0	million	
common	shares	on	the	open	market.	During	August	2011,	Athabasca	purchased	1.7	million	common	shares	on	the	open	market	through	the	
Bid	at	an	average	price	of	$12.53	per	share.
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b)  Excelsior Energy Replacement Warrants
Pursuant	 to	 the	Excelsior	Energy	acquisition	(Note	7),	 the	Company	 issued	a	 total	of	3.5	million	Athabasca	purchase	warrants,	2.8	million	
with	an	exercise	price	of	$8.65	per	warrant	and	0.7	million	with	an	exercise	price	of	$9.22	per	warrant.	The	Excelsior	Energy	replacement		
warrants	are	exercisable	and	expire	on	November	9,	2012.	The	following	table	summarizes	the	changes	to	the	Company’s	Excelsior	Energy	
replacement	warrants:

Warrant	exercise	price	 $8.65 $9.22	 Total
	 	   Warrants  Amount  Warrants  Amount	  Warrants  Amount

	 Issued	in	Excelsior	Energy	acquisition	(1)	   2,821,862 $  11,504  713,493 $ 2,678  3,535,355 $  14,182
	 Warrants	exercised	 	 	  (1,094,854)  (4,463)  (224,425)  (843)  (1,319,279)  (5,306)
BALANCE,	DECEMBER	31,	2010	 	 	   1,727,008 $ 7,041  489,068 $ 1,835  2,216,076 $ 8,876
	 Warrants	exercised		 	 	   (319,324)  (1,302)  (153,846)  (577)  (473,170)  (1,879)
BALANCE,	DECEMBER	31,	2011	 	 	   1,407,684 $ 5,739  335,222 $ 1,258  1,742,906 $ 6,997

(1)	 The	Excelsior	acquisition	was	completed	on	November	9th,	2010.

c)  Purchase Warrants 
The	Company	reserved	112.0	million	common	shares	for	issuance	upon	exercise	of	certain	issued	and	outstanding	purchase	warrants,	each	
whole	purchase	warrant	exercisable	at	a	price	of	$1.25	per	share	on	or	before	five	years	from	the	date	of	issuance.	

The	following	table	summarizes	changes	to	the	Company’s	purchase	warrants:

	  December 31,  	 December 31,  
Year ended	 	 2011  2010

Balance	at	beginning	of	year	 	 -  97,274,250
	 Exercised	 	 -	  (97,274,250)
BALANCE	AT	END	OF	YEAR	 	 -	  -

No	value	was	assigned	to	these	warrants	at	the	time	of	issuance.

17. STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION 
The	Company’s	stock-based	compensation	plans	for	employees,	directors,	and	consultants	consist	of	incentive	shares	and	options	to	acquire	
incentive	shares,	stock	options	and	restricted	share	units.

a) Incentive Shares, Amended Stock Options and Nominally Priced Stock Options
In	2006	the	Company	 issued	to	Avenir	Capital	Corporation	(“Avenir”)	 incentive	shares,	 the	majority	of	which	were	available	 for	allocation	
to	 employees,	 directors,	 and	 consultants.	 This	 plan	 was	 replaced	 for	 future	 grants	 with	 the	 Restricted	 Share	 Unit	 plan;	 see	 Note	 17(c).		
The	 Company	 had	 a	 stock	 option	 plan	 approved	 in	 2006	 which	 allowed	 options	 to	 be	 granted	 to	 employees,	 directors	 and	 consultants.		
This	option	plan	was	replaced	by	a	new	option	plan	in	2009;	see	Note	17(b).

In	2009,	the	options	issued	under	the	2006	plan	were	amended	and	additional	nominally	priced	stock	options	were	granted.	The	amended	
stock	options	and	nominally	priced	stock	options	were	immediately	exercised	with	the	returned	shares	held	in	trust	subject	to	the	satisfaction	of	
length	of	service	requirements.	The	following	table	summarizes	all	common	shares	granted	and	held	in	trust	under	the	incentive	share,	amended	
stock	option	and	nominally	priced	stock	option	agreements:

	  December 31,  	 December 31,  
Year ended	 	 2011  2010

Balance	granted	and	held	in	trust	at	beginning	of	year	  5,647,586 	 7,719,331
	 Forfeited		 	 (130,250)	 	 (63,083)
	 Vested	and	released	  (3,383,636)	 	 (2,008,662)
BALANCE	GRANTED	AND	HELD	IN	TRUST	AT	END	OF	YEAR	  2,133,700	 	 5,647,586
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As	at	December	31,	2011,	a	total	of	2,133,700	common	shares	were	held	in	trust	subject	to	length	of	service	requirements.	Of	this	amount,	
1,257,087	relate	to	shares	initially	issued	to	Avenir	and	will	be	returned	to	Avenir	if	the	length	of	service	requirement	is	not	met.	During	the	
12	months	of	2011,	144,917	shares	which	had	previously	been	forfeited	to	Avenir	were	returned	to	Athabasca	and	cancelled.	The	remaining	
876,613	shares	held	in	trust	are	contingently	returnable	to	the	Company	and	will	be	cancelled	if	the	length	of	service	requirement	is	not	met.	Of	
the	3,383,636	shares	released	during	the	12	month	period,	823,509	were	shares	contingently	returnable	to	the	Company.	The	length	of	service	
requirements	for	the	shares	in	trust	will	be	met	at	various	times	to	2013.

b) Stock Options 
The	 Company	 has	 a	 stock	 option	 plan,	 approved	 in	 2009,	 which	 allows	 options	 to	 be	 granted	 to	 employees,	 directors	 and	 consultants.		
All	options	issued	by	the	Company	permit	the	holder	to	purchase	one	common	share	of	the	Company	at	the	stated	exercise	price	or	to	receive	
a	cash	payment	equal	to	the	appreciated	value	of	the	stock	option	at	the	sole	discretion	of	the	Company.	

The	stock	option	plan	is	a	rolling	plan	and	currently	limits	the	number	of	common	shares	that	may	be	issued	on	exercise	of	options	awarded	
under	the	plan	to	an	aggregate	of	10%	of	the	common	shares	outstanding	from	time	to	time,	less	the	number	of	common	shares	issuable	under	
the	Restricted	Share	Unit	plan.	Options	generally	vest	over	four	years	and	have	a	life	of	five	years.

Year ended	 December 31, 2011	 December 31, 2010
	 	  Weighted	  Weighted 
	 	 	 average	  average 
	 	 Number exercise	 Number exercise 
	 	 of options  price ($)	  of options price ($)

Outstanding	stock	options	at	beginning	of	year	  3,242,000  10.57	  705,500  10.01
	 Granted		 	 4,906,500  14.82  2,817,800  11.38
	 Forfeited	and	cancelled	  (413,149)  13.91  (107,800)  11.42
	 Exercised		  (95,626)  10.90	  (173,500)  7.84

OUTSTANDING	STOCK	OPTIONS	AT	END	OF	YEAR	  7,639,725  13.11	  3,242,000  10.57

EXERCISABLE	STOCK	OPTIONS	AT	END	OF	YEAR	 	 911,700  9.64	  126,000  7.90

The	estimated	fair	value	per	stock	option	granted	during	the	year	ended	December	31,	2011	was	$4.89	(2010	-	$4.36).	The	exercise	prices	of	
the	Company’s	outstanding	stock	options	as	at	December	31,	2011	range	from	$3.95-$17.52	as	follows:

  Options outstanding Options exercisable
	 	  Weighted Weighted  Weighted 
   average average  average 
  Number exercise years Number exercise 
Range of exercise prices ($)	 of options  price ($)  to expiry  of options price ($)

3.00-7.99	  442,000  5.97  2.8  269,500  5.96
8.00-10.99	  989,700  10.37  3.8  226,350  10.33
11.00-11.99	  1,773,725  11.43  3.9  328,625  11.40
12.00-14.99	  1,362,000  13.36  4.6  83,925  12.49
15.00-15.99	  1,813,100  15.23  4.4  3,300  15.31
16.00-18.00	  1,259,200  16.83  4.3  -  -
	 	  7,639,725  13.11  4.1  911,700  9.64

c) Restricted Share Units (RSUs)
During	the	first	quarter	of	2010,	the	Company	established	a	RSU	stock-based	compensation	plan.	Under	the	terms	of	the	RSU	plan,	the	Company	
may	grant	RSUs	to	employees,	directors,	and	consultants.	All	RSU’s	issued	by	the	Company	permit	the	holder	to	purchase	one	common	share	
of	the	Company	for	$0.10	or	to	receive	a	cash	payment	equal	to	the	fair	market	value	of	the	common	shares	less	the	exercise	price	of	the	RSU	
at	the	sole	discretion	of	the	Company.	

The	RSU	plan	is	a	rolling	plan	and	currently	limits	the	number	of	common	shares	that	may	be	issued	on	exercise	of	RSUs	awarded	under	the	
plan	to	an	aggregate	of	10%	of	the	common	shares	outstanding	from	time	to	time,	less	the	number	of	common	shares	issuable	under	the	stock	
option	plan.	The	life	and	vesting	terms	of	the	RSU	plan	are	consistent	with	the	Company’s	stock	option	plan.
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	  December 31, 	 	 December 31, 
Year ended	 	 2011	 	  2010

Outstanding	restricted	share	units	at	beginning	of	year	  708,400	 	 -
	 Granted	 	 1,741,979	 	 745,300
	 Forfeited	 	 (105,700) 	 (36,900)
	 Exercised	  (31,050) 	 -
OUTSTANDING	RESTRICTED	SHARE	UNITS	AT	END	OF	YEAR	 	 2,313,629	 	 708,400
EXERCISABLE	RESTRICTED	SHARE	UNITS	AT	END	OF	YEAR	 	 163,300	 	 17,000

The	average	estimated	fair	value	per	RSU	granted	during	the	12	month	period	ended	December	31,	2011	was	$14.73	(2010	-	$11.49).

d) Fair Value Assumptions for Stock-based Compensation 
The	Company	uses	the	Black-Scholes	pricing	model	to	calculate	the	fair	value	for	grants	under	its	stock-based	compensation	plans.	Estimated	
fair	values	during	the	12	month	period	ended	December	31,	2011	were	calculated	using	the	following	weighted	average	assumptions:

For the year ended December 31, 2011  Stock Options and RSUs

Risk-free	interest	rate	(%)	 	 	 	 1.8
Estimated	forfeiture	rate	(%)	 	 	 	 5.0
Expected	life	(years)	 	 	 	 3.7
Dividend	rate	(%)	 	 	 	 -
Volatility	(%)	 	 	 	 41.5

The	share	price	is	determined	using	the	TSX	quoted	market	price	on	the	date	of	grant.	The	weighted	average	share	price	used	on	the	stock	
option	and	RSU	grants	for	the	12	month	period	ended	December	31,	2011	was	$14.82	per	share.	Volatility	is	based	on	the	historical	trading	price	
variances	of	the	Company’s	share	price	using	market	data.

18. PER SHARE COMPUTATIONS

	 	 December 31,	 	 December 31,  
Year ended	 		 2011	 	 2010

Weighted	average	shares	outstanding	-	basic	 	 398,792,468	 	 348,586,748
	 Dilutive	effect	of	stock	options	and	RSUs	  1,542,199	 	 326,156
	 Dilutive	effect	of	contingently	returnable	shares	 	 876,613	 	 1,752,038
	 Dilutive	effect	of	purchase	and	performance	warrants	  694,017	 	 112,470
Weighted	average	shares	outstanding	-	diluted	  401,905,297	 	 350,777,412

Dilutive	securities	will	have	a	dilutive	effect	under	the	treasury	stock	method	only	when	the	average	market	price	of	the	common	shares	during	
the	period	exceeds	the	sum	of	the	exercise	price	of	the	securities	and	unamortized	stock-based	compensation.	

For	 the	 12	month	period	ended	December	31,	2011,	4,434,300	 in	anti-dilutive	stock	options	were	excluded	 from	the	calculation	of	diluted	
income	per	share.	For	the	12	month	period	ended	December	31,	2010,	2,538,700	in	anti-dilutive	securities	were	excluded	from	the	calculation	
of	diluted	income	per	share.

19. GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES
The	Company’s	general	and	administrative	expenses	consisted	of	the	following	expenditures	(activities):

	 	 December 31,	 	 December 31, 
Year ended	 	 2011	 		 2010

Salaries	and	benefits	 $ 14,285	 $ 7,484
Office	costs	 	 7,209	  3,865
Legal,	accounting,	and	consulting	 	 3,894	  2,549
Stakeholder	relations	 	 1,291	  889
Other	 	 1,554	  60
TOTAL	GENERAL	AND	ADMINISTRATIVE	EXPENSES	 $ 28,233	 $ 14,847
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20. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
The	following	table	summarizes	Athabasca’s	estimated	future	minimum	commitments	as	at	December	31,	2011	for	the	following	five	years		
and	thereafter:	

	 	 2012  2013  2014  2015  2016  Thereafter	  Total

Debt	repayment	(Note	11)	(1)	  $ 473,884 $ - $ - $ - $ - $ -	 $ 473,884
Interest	payments	(Note	11)	(1)	 	  5,698  -  -  -  -  -	  5,698
Office	leases	 	 	 3,555  3,170  3,150  9,319  9,289  97,795	  126,278
Drilling	rig	commitments	 	 	 12,875  8,960  6,360  6,360  2,650  -  37,205
Purchase	commitments	and	other		 	 13,351  535  -  -  -  -  13,886
TOTAL	COMMITMENTS	 	 $ 509,363 $ 12,665 $ 9,510 $ 15,679 $ 11,939 $ 97,795	 $ 656,951

(1)	 In	December	of	2011,	Athabasca	exercised	the	MacKay	River	put	option	(Note	5).	In	accordance	with	the	debt	agreement,	Athabasca’s	long-term	debt	is	expected	to	be	repaid	
from	the	proceeds	of	the	exercise.	The	exercise	of	the	put	option	is	expected	to	close	by	the	end	of	the	first	quarter	of	2012.

Athabasca	is	responsible	for	the	retirement	of	its	resource	assets	at	the	end	of	their	useful	lives;	see	Note	12	for	further	details.	Athabasca	has	
entered	into	indemnity	agreements	with	its	directors	and	officers	whereby	the	Company	indemnifies	the	directors	and	officers	from	all	personal	
liability	and	loss	that	may	arise	in	service	to	the	Company.

As	part	of	the	PetroChina	Transaction	(Note	5),	Dover	Operating	Corp	(“Dover	OpCo”),	was	created	to	operate	the	MacKay	River	and	Dover	
joint	ventures.	As	at	December	31,	2011,	Athabasca’s	40%	share	of	Dover	OpCo’s	estimated	future	minimum	commitments	are	$9.7	million	
consisting	mainly	of	office	leases.	

The	Company	is	currently	undergoing	tax	related	reviews.	While	the	final	outcome	of	such	reviews	cannot	be	predicted	with	certainty,	Athabasca	
believes	its	positions	as	filed	are	appropriate	based	on	available	information	and	the	Company	has	not	recognized	a	provision	for	any	potential	
reassessments.

As	at	December	31,	2011,	Athabasca	had	issued	$4.1	million	in	letters	of	credit	which	expire	in	2012.

21. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
Pursuant	 to	 an	 agreement	 with	 Dover	 OpCo,	 Athabasca	 was	 the	 temporary	 operator	 of	 the	 MacKay	 River	 and	 Dover	 joint	 ventures	 from	
February	10,	2010,	the	closing	date	of	the	PetroChina	Transaction,	to	May	31,	2010.	For	the	year	ended	December	31,	2010,	Athabasca	charged	
Dover	OpCo	$1.2	million	 for	operating	 the	MacKay	River	and	Dover	 joint	ventures	and	recorded	the	charges	as	a	 reduction	 in	general	and	
administrative	expenses.	

Athabasca	has	seconded	staff	 to	Dover	OpCo	under	 the	PetroChina	Transaction	Agreements	and	some	members	of	Athabasca’s	staff	are	
utilized	by	Dover	OpCo	under	a	shared	services	arrangement.	For	the	12	month	period	ended	December	31,	2011	Athabasca	charged	Dover	
OpCo	$8.2	million	to	recover	the	costs	of	these	seconded	and	shared	service	staff	(2010	-	$4.8	million).	These	transactions	were	in	the	normal	
course	 of	 operations	 and	 were	 measured	 at	 the	 exchange	 amount.	 The	 charges	 are	 recorded	 as	 a	 reduction	 in	 general	 and	 administrative	
expense.	As	at	December	31,	2011,	accounts	receivable	included	$0.6	million	owing	from	Dover	OpCo	for	staff	discussed	above.

During	 the	 first	 quarter	 of	 2011,	 Athabasca	 entered	 into	 an	 operating	 and	 technical	 services	 agreement	 with	 an	 energy	 company	 that	 has		
certain	directors	in	common	with	Athabasca,	which	provides	for	the	mutual	exchange	of	certain	services.	For	the	12	months	ended	December	
31,	2011,	$1.2	million	in	costs	were	incurred	by	Athabasca	on	behalf	of	the	energy	company	and	at	December	31,	2011,	no	amounts	remained	
receivable.	These	transactions	were	in	the	normal	course	of	operations	and	were	measured	at	the	exchange	amount.

A	 former	 director	 of	 the	 Company	 is	 a	 principal	 with	 an	 energy	 investment	 firm.	 During	 2010,	 Athabasca	 paid	 $5.0	 million	 to	 this	 firm	
comprising	$3.3	million	in	underwriting	fees	for	the	IPO,	$1.0	million	in	advisory	costs	relating	to	the	PetroChina	Transaction	(Note	5),	and	
$0.7	million	in	advisory	costs	relating	to	the	Excelsior	Energy	acquisition	(Note	7).	These	transactions	were	in	the	normal	course	of	operations	
and	 were	 measured	 at	 the	 exchange	 amount.	 No	 amounts	 were	 owing	 to	 the	 energy	 investment	 firm	 during	 the	 12	 month	 period	 ended		
December	31,	2011.
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Athabasca	has	determined	that	the	Company’s	key	management	personnel	consist	of	the	Company’s	directors	and	officers.	The	compensation	
and	other	benefits	paid	to	key	management	personnel	are	as	follows:

	  December 31,	  December 31, 
Executive compensation (year ended)	 	 2011	 	 2010

Short-term	employee	benefits	 $ 4,263	 $ 3,058
Share	based	payments	  5,666	 	 5,193
TOTAL	EXECUTIVE	COMPENSATION	 $ 9,929	 $ 8,251

22. SUPPLEMENTAL CASH FLOW INFORMATION
Net Change in Non-cash Working Capital
The	 following	 table	 reconciles	 the	 net	 changes	 in	 non-cash	 working	 capital	 from	 the	 balance	 sheet	 to	 the	 cash	 flow	 statement	 as	 at		
December	31,	2011:

	 	 December 31,	 	 December 31, 
Year ended	 	 2011	  2010

Change	in	accounts	payable	and	accrued	liabilities	 $	 99,088	 $ (19,941)
Change	in	accounts	receivable	  (5,063)	  (6,562)
Change	in	prepaid	expenses	and	deferred	charges	 	 (873)	  785
	 	 	 	 93,152	  (25,718)
Other	items	impacting	net	changes	in	non-cash	working	capital:	 	 	 	
	 Flow	through	shares	and	working	capital	acquired	from	Excelsior	Energy	(Note	7)	 	 -	 	 (1,893)
	 Renouncement	of	flow	through	shares	(Note	13)	 	 2,005	 	 -
	 Current	portion	of	decommissioning	obligations	(Note	12)	 	 (5,990)	 	 -
	 	 	 $ 89,167	 $ (27,611)
CURRENT	INCOME	TAXES		 	 	 	
	 Current	income	taxes	payable	 $ -	 $ (226,194)
	 Recoverable	portion	of	current	income	taxes	 	 -	  135,048
	 Current	income	taxes	receivable	 	 -	 	 (9,376)
	 	 	 $ -	 $ (100,522)
	 	 	 $ 89,167	 $ (128,133)

RELATED	TO:	 	 	 	
	 Operating	activities	 $ 14,043	 $ 707
	 Financing	activities	 	 -	 	 (135,742)
	 Investing	activities	 	 75,124	 	 6,902
NET	CHANGE	IN	NON-CASH	WORKING	CAPITAL	 $ 89,167	 $ (128,133)

Other Cash Flow Information

	 	 December 31,	 	 December 31, 
Year ended	 	 2011	  2010

Cash	taxes	paid	net	of	refunds	received	 $ -	 $ 86,144
Cash	interest	paid	 $ 26,734	 $ 30,581

23. FIRST TIME ADOPTION OF IFRS 
These	are	Athabasca’s	first	consolidated	financial	statements	prepared	 in	accordance	with	 International	Financial	Reporting	Standards.	The	
significant	 accounting	 policies	 set	 out	 in	 Note	 3	 have	 been	 applied	 in	 preparing	 the	 consolidated	 financial	 statements	 for	 the	 year	 ended	
December	31,	2011,	the	comparative	information	presented	in	these	financial	statements	for	the	year	ended	December	31,	2010,	and	in	the	
preparation	of	an	opening	IFRS	balance	sheet	at	January	1,	2010	(Athabasca’s	date	of	transition)	except	for	certain	exemptions	described	below.	

In	 preparing	 its	 IFRS	 information,	 the	 Company	 adjusted	 amounts	 reported	 in	 accordance	 with	 previous	 GAAP	 as	 described	 below.	 An	
explanation	of	how	the	transition	from	previous	GAAP	to	IFRS	has	affected	the	Company’s	consolidated	balance	sheet,	statements	of	income	
and	comprehensive	income	and	cash	flows	in	comparative	periods	is	set	out	in	the	following	tables	and	the	notes	that	accompany	the	tables.	
There	were	no	changes	to	estimates	made	on	transition	from	previous	GAAP	to	IFRS.	
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET – AS AT JANUARY 1, 2010

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	Capitalized	 	 Non-	 	 Deferred	
	 	 	 	 Previous	 	 E&E	 	 borrowing	 	 qualifying	 	 income	
($ Thousands)	 		 	 GAAP	 		 assets	(A)	 	 costs	(B)	 	 assets	(C)	 		 taxes	(D)	 	 IFRS

ASSETS	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	
CURRENT	ASSETS	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	
	 Cash	and	cash	equivalents		 	 	  $ 140,992         $ 140,992
	 Accounts	receivable	 	 	 	  1,062          1,062
	 Prepaid	expenses	and	other	 	 	 	  125          125
	 Assets	held	for	sale		 	 	 	  387,161    (13,520)  (602)  (150,956)  222,083
	 	 	 	 	   529,340  -  (13,520)  (602)  (150,956)  364,262
Deferred	charges	 	 	 	  1,003          1,003
Deferred	income	tax	asset	 	 	 	  -        106,186  106,186
Property,	plant	and	equipment		 	 	 	  363,240  (361,723)        1,517
Exploration	and	evaluation	assets			 	 	  -  361,723  (15,288)  (12,631)  (2,596)  331,208
	 	 	 	  $ 893,583  -  (28,808)  (13,233)  (47,366) $ 804,176
LIABILITIES	AND	SHAREHOLDERS’	EQUITY	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	
CURRENT	LIABILITIES	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	
	 Accounts	payable	and	accrued	liabilities		  $ 41,231         $ 41,231
	 Income	taxes	payable	 	 	 	  226,194          226,194
	 	 	 	 	 	  267,425  -  -  -  -  267,425
Long-term	debt		 	 	 	  398,996          398,996
Decommissioning	obligations		 	 	 	  506          506
Deferred	income	tax	liability	 	 	   54,602        (54,602)  -
	 	 	 	   721,529  -  -  -  (54,602)  666,927
SHAREHOLDERS’	EQUITY	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	
	 Common	shares		 	 	 	  390,377          390,377
	 Contributed	surplus		 	 	 	  47,079          47,079
	 Deficit	 	 	 	  (265,402)    (28,808)  (13,233)  7,236  (300,207)
	 	 	 	 	  172,054  -  (28,808)  (13,233)  7,236  137,249
	 	 	 	  $ 893,583  -  (28,808)  (13,233)  (47,366) $ 804,176



         76 	 ATHABASCA	OIL	SANDS	CORP.	AR	2011

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET – AS AT DECEMBER 31, 2010

	 	 	 	 	 	 	 Fair	value	
	 	 	 	 Capitalized	 Non-	 Deferred	 of	equity	
	 	 Previous	 E&E	 borrowing	 qualifying	 income	 investees	 Other	
($ Thousands)	 GAAP	 assets	(A)	 costs	(B)	 assets	(C)	 taxes	(D)	 		(E)	 items	 IFRS

ASSETS	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	
CURRENT	ASSETS	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	
	 Cash	and	cash	equivalents	  $ 469,504             $ 469,504
	 Short-term	investments		  1,334,028              1,334,028
	 Accounts	receivable	  7,624              7,624
	 Current	income	tax	receivable	  9,376              9,376
	 Current	deferred	income	tax		  3,879        (3,879)      -
	 Prepaid	expenses	and	other	  293              293
	 	  1,824,704  -  -  -  (3,879)  -  -  1,820,825
Deferred	charges	  50              50
Investments	  167,047    (13,699)  (402)  (13,388)  1,155,450  174  1,295,182
Property,	plant	and	equipment		  575,021 (573,639)            1,382
Exploration	and	evaluation	assets		 	 -  573,639  (11,693)  (12,297)  (28,695)    284  521,238
	 	 $ 2,566,822  -  (25,392)  (12,699)  (45,962)  1,155,450  458 $ 3,638,677
LIABILITIES	AND		
	 SHAREHOLDERS’	EQUITY	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	
CURRENT	LIABILITIES	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	
Accounts	payable	and		
	 accrued	liabilities		 $ 21,290             $ 21,290
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	
Long-term	debt		  449,736              449,736
Decommissioning	obligations		  24,361              24,361
Deferred	income	tax	liability	  39,315        105,148      144,463
	 	  534,702  -  -  -  105,148  -  -  639,850
SHAREHOLDERS’	EQUITY	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	
	 Common	shares		  1,947,004        3,050      1,950,054
	 Warrants		 	 8,876              8,876
	 Contributed	surplus		  61,450            1,449  62,899
	 Retained	earnings	  14,790    (25,392)  (12,699)  (154,160)  1,155,450  (991)  976,998
	 	  2,032,120  -  (25,392)  (12,699)  (151,110)  1,155,450  458  2,998,827
	 	 $ 2,566,822  -  (25,392)  (12,699)  (45,962)  1,155,450  458 $ 3,638,677
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME - YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2010

	 	 	 	Capitalized	 	 Non-	 	 Deferred	 	 Fair	value	
($ Thousands,	 Previous	 	 borrowing	 	 qualifying	 	 income	 	 of	equity	 	 Other	
Except Per Share Amounts)	 GAAP		 	 costs	(B)	 	 assets	(C)	 		 taxes	(D)	 	investees	(E)	 	 items	 	 IFRS

REVENUE	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	
Interest	income	  $ 13,988           $ 13,988
Petroleum	and	natural	gas	sales	 	  743            743
Royalties	   (32)            (32)
	 	 	 	 	 14,699  -  -  -  -  -  14,699
EXPENSES	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	
	 Operating	expenses	 	  240            240
	 General	and	administrative		 	  14,779    68        14,847
	 Stock-based	compensation		   12,140          938  13,078
	 Financing	and	interest		   21,122  11,203        227  32,552
	 Depreciation		   1,120          (227)  893
	 Research	and	development		   175            175
Total	expenses	   49,576  11,203  68  -  -  938  61,785
Gain	on	sale	of	assets		 	  1,645,172  14,619  602  1,803      1,662,196
Gain	on	revaluation		
	 equity	investee		 	  -        1,155,450    1,155,450
Income	before	income	taxes	 	 	 1,610,295  3,416  534  1,803  1,155,450  (938)   2,770,560
TAXES	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	
Current	income	tax	recovery	   (14,390)            (14,390)
Deferred	income	tax	expense		   143,286      163,931      307,217
	 	 	  128,896  -  -  163,931  -  -  292,827
Income	before	the	following	 	  1,481,399  3,416  534  (162,128)  1,155,450  (938)  2,477,733
	 Equity	loss	on	investments		 	  (3,956)      679      (3,277)
Net	income	and		
	 comprehensive	income		  $ 1,477,443  3,416  534  (161,449)  1,155,450  (938) $ 2,474,456
	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	
Basic	income	per	share		  $ 4.24           $ 7.10
Diluted	income	per	share	  $ 4.21           $ 7.05
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CASH FLOW STATEMENT – YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2010 
Athabasca’s	cash	flow	statements	under	IFRS	are	 largely	unchanged	from	previous	GAAP.	The	one	significant	change	relates	to	capitalized	
borrowing	costs.	For	the	12	months	ended	December	31,	2010,	operating	cash	flows	under	IFRS	are	$11.1	million	lower	and	investing	cash	flows	
are	higher	by	the	same	amount.	

NOTES TO IFRS TRANSITIONAL ADJUSTMENTS
A) E&E classification
Under	 previous	 GAAP,	 Athabasca	 classified	 all	 oil	 and	 gas	 costs	 as	 property,	 plant	 and	 equipment.	 Under	 IFRS,	 expenditures	 incurred	 for	
exploration	and	evaluation	activities	must	be	separately	classified	on	the	balance	sheet	in	accordance	with	IFRS	6	Exploration	and	Evaluation	
of	Mineral	Resources.	In	accordance	with	the	standard,	once	E&E	assets	are	determined	to	be	technically	feasible	and	commercially	viable,	the	
costs	are	reclassified	to	property,	plant	and	equipment.	In	2010,	all	of	Athabasca’s	oil	and	gas	assets	were	in	the	exploration	and	evaluation	stage.	

B) Capitalized borrowing costs
Under	previous	GAAP,	Athabasca	capitalized	borrowing	costs	 to	 its	oil	 sands	development	projects.	Under	 IFRS,	borrowing	costs	must	be	
capitalized	 if	 they	relate	 to	qualifying	assets	which	are	defined	as	assets	 that	necessarily	 take	a	substantial	period	of	 time	to	get	 ready	 for	
their	intended	use.	IAS	23	permits	capitalization	of	borrowing	costs	as	part	of	the	cost	of	an	asset	only	when	it	is	probable	that	they	will	result	
in	future	economic	benefits	to	the	entity.	During	2010,	all	of	Athabasca’s	oil	and	gas	assets	were	in	the	exploration	and	evaluation	stage	of	
development	which	resulted	in	the	Company’s	assets	not	meeting	the	criteria	of	a	qualifying	asset.	Consequently,	capitalized	borrowing	costs	
were	expensed	in	the	period	incurred	as	opposed	to	being	capitalized.	

C) Non-qualifying assets
Athabasca	previously	capitalized	all	oil	and	gas	expenditures	under	the	previous	GAAP	full	cost	guidance,	including	the	costs	incurred	prior	
to	obtaining	land	rights.	Under	IFRS,	such	expenditures	incurred	prior	to	obtaining	licenses	are	expensed.	Upon	transition	to	IFRS	Athabasca	
removed	certain	costs,	such	as	geological	and	geophysical	expenditures,	which	were	incurred	on	assets	for	which	land	rights	had	not	yet	been	
obtained.	Also	upon	transition	to	IFRS,	the	Company	de-recognized	certain	assets	that	were	sheltered	from	impairment	under	the	previous	
GAAP	full	cost	pool	but	did	not	meet	recognition	criteria	under	IFRS.	

D) Deferred income taxes
Adjustments	were	made	to	Athabasca’s	previous	GAAP	deferred	tax	amounts	for	the	following	reasons:

i)	 The	 capitalized	 borrowing	 costs	 (B),	 non-qualifying	 assets	 (C)	 and	 fair	 value	 of	 equity	 investee	 adjustments	 (E)	 have	 corresponding		
tax	effects.

ii)	 Under	IFRS,	a	deferred	tax	liability	is	not	recognized	on	a	temporary	difference	that	arises	from	the	initial	recognition	of	an	asset	when	the	
initial	transaction	is	not	a	business	combination	and	does	not	affect	accounting	or	tax	profit.	Athabasca	recognized	deferred	taxes	under	
previous	GAAP	on	capitalized	stock	based	compensation	as	well	as	asset	acquisitions	where	the	accounting	basis	differed	from	the	tax	
basis.	These	deferred	taxes	were	reversed	under	IFRS.	

	 The	Excelsior	acquisition	was	accounted	for	as	an	asset	acquisition	and	thus	the	$18.1	million	deferred	income	tax	liability	recognized	under	
previous	GAAP	was	reversed	under	 IFRS	with	a	corresponding	decrease	to	exploration	and	evaluation	assets.	The	minority	 interest	 in	
Hangingstone	that	Athabasca	acquired	for	common	share	consideration	in	the	fourth	quarter	of	2010	resulted	in	an	$8.2	million	deferred	
tax	liability	under	previous	GAAP	that	was	reversed	under	IFRS.

iii)	 When	there	is	a	change	in	the	expected	reversal	tax	rate	of	a	temporary	difference	under	IFRS,	the	resulting	change	is	recognized	in	profit	
or	loss	except	for	items	previously	recognized	outside	of	profit	or	loss.	Previous	GAAP	recognizes	the	change	in	profit	or	loss	regardless	of	
its	origin.	Athabasca	had	a	change	in	expected	reversal	tax	rate	in	the	fourth	quarter	of	2010	and	approximately	$3.1	million	of	the	deferred	
income	tax	recovery	recognized	under	previous	GAAP	was	recognized	directly	in	equity	under	IFRS.

iv)	 Under	IFRS,	deferred	tax	amounts	are	not	classified	as	current.	Under	previous	GAAP,	a	deferred	tax	amount	is	presented	as	current	if		
(i)	 it	 relates	to	a	temporary	difference	from	a	current	asset	or	current	 liability	or	(ii)	 it	 relates	to	a	temporary	difference	that	does	not	
relate	 to	 an	 asset	 or	 liability	 and	 is	 expected	 to	 reverse	 within	 a	 year.	 Athabasca	 had	 a	 $3.9	 million	 current	 deferred	 tax	 asset	 under	
previous	GAAP	at	December	31,	2010.	Athabasca	had	a	$149.2	million	current	deferred	tax	asset	included	in	assets	held	for	sale	as	at		
December	31,	2009	under	previous	GAAP.
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E) Fair value adjustment for MacKay River and Dover
Under	previous	GAAP,	at	the	close	of	the	PetroChina	Transaction,	Athabasca	recognized	its	initial	investment	in	Dover	and	MacKay	River	at	
historic	cost.	Under	IFRS,	the	remaining	interest	in	equity	investments	is	re-measured	to	fair	value	when	there	is	a	loss	of	control.	This	results	in	
an	IFRS	adjustment	to	increase	the	carrying	value	of	the	equity	investments	from	cost	to	fair	value	on	February	10,	2010.

IFRS 1 ELECTIONS
IFRS	1	First-time	Adoption	of	International	Financial	Reporting	Standards	generally	requires	the	financial	records	to	be	restated	as	if	an	entity	had	
always	applied	IFRS.	However,	certain	exemptions	are	available	from	this	general	requirement.	The	Company	utilized	the	business	combinations	
and	 share-based	 payment	 exemptions	 on	 transition	 to	 IFRS.	 The	 business	 combinations	 exemption	 allowed	 the	 Company	 to	 only	 apply		
IFRS	3	Business	Combinations	 to	business	combinations	 that	occurred	subsequent	 to	January	1,	2010.	The	share-based	payment	exemption	
allowed	 Athabasca	 to	 only	 apply	 IFRS	 2	 Share-based	 Payment	 to	 share-based	 payments	 which	 vest	 or	 are	 granted	 subsequent	 to		
January	1,	2010.

Athabasca	did	not	utilize	the	oil	and	gas	assets	deemed	cost	exemption.	 Instead,	the	Company	retroactively	applied	IFRS	6	Exploration	and	
Evaluation	of	Mineral	Resources,	IAS	16	Property,	Plant	and	Equipment,	IFRS	23	Borrowing	Costs	and	IAS	38	Intangible	Assets	to	the	previous	GAAP	
full	cost	pool.	
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